

TURKISH JOURNAL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

Year: 2024 | Volume: 22 | Issue:1 | e-ISSN: 1304-1088

Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.





©Copyright 2023 by the Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr)

Publication Ethics

Turkish Journal of Public Health is a member of the <u>Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE)</u> and accepts the principles of publication ethics and evaluates all submitted manuscripts in this context. Readers and authors can access these rules and case examples at the following links:

Turkish Journal of Public Health

Volume: 22, Issue: 1, 2024

Owner: Prof. Dr. Bülent KILIÇ

Adress: Korkutreis Mahallesl, İlkız Sk. No:17 D:2, 06430 Çankaya/Ankara

E-mail: yucel.demiral@gmail.com

Release Date: April 26, 2024

Indexes: TR Dizin, EBSCO, ProQuest, Turkiye Atıf Dizini, ULAKBIM, DOAJ, SCOPUS

e-ISSN: 1304-1088

Turkish Journal of Public Health is published three times a year. The publication language of the journal is English. Article submission address: https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/journal/814/submission/step/manuscript/new

JOURNAL BOARDS

Owner of the Journal

Prof. Dr. Bülent KILIC

Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkiye

The Manager

Prof. Dr. Ferruh Niyazi AYOĞLU Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit Üniversity, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Zonguldak, Türkiye

Editor in Chief

Prof. Dr. Yücel DEMİRAL Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkiye

Section Editors

Prof. Dr. Pinar DÜNDAR Manisa Celal Bayar University Faculty of Medicine Public Health Department, Manisa, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Işıl ERGİN Ege University School of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkive

Prof. Dr. Nilay ETİLER University of Nevada, Reno(UNR), School of Public Health

Prof. Dr. Hande HARMANCI World Health Organization

Prof. Dr. Caferi Tayyar ŞAŞMAZ

Mersin University School of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Mersin, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Özge KARADAĞ

Columbia University, Center For Sustainable Development, Earth Institute, USA

Prof. Dr. Nazım Ercüment BEYHUN

Karadeniz Technical University Medical Faculty, Department of Public Health

Prof. Dr. Filiz ABACIGİL Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Aydın, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Figen DEMİR

Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, İstanbul, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sebahat Dilek TORUN Bahçeşehir University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, İstanbul, Türkiye

Prof. Dr. Sevgi CANBAZ İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, İstanbul, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sibel KIRAN

Hacettepe University, Institute of Public Health, Department of Occupational Health and Safety, Ankara, Türkiye

Doc. Dr. Niveen Abu-RMEILEHT

Inst. of Community and Public Health, Birzeit Univercity West Bank, Palestine

Julia CRITCHLEY

University Of London, USA

Nelta EDWARDS

University of Alaska Anchorage, Department of Public Health, USA

Prof. Dr. Peter PHILLIMORE University Of Newcastle, Department of Social Policy, UK

Prof. Dr. Fouad FOUAD American Beirut Universi Department of Public Health, Lebanon

Prof. Dr. Shahaduz ZAMAN University of Suss, Department of Public Health, UK

Aims and Scope

The owner of the journal is the Turkish Public Health Specialists Association. Turkish Journal of Public Health is a peer-reviewed, English-only research journal published online three times a year, serving a wide audience in the field of public health and community medicine at national and international levels. Turk J Public Health aims to provide an environment for the rapid communication of developments and new information in this field. We welcome articles on public health theory and practice.

The editors anticipates receiving manuscripts from the following areas of public health, Health policy and management, Biostatistics, Epidemiology, Environmental health, Health economics, Demography, Social, sciences for health, Health education, Health promotion, Community nutrition, Infectious diseases, Disaster management, Injuries, Women's health, Reproductive health, Child health, Chronic diseases, Occupational health, Global health, Inequalities. Turkish Journal of Public Health is a member of Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE). Turk J Public Health is covered following national international indexing services: DOAJ, EBSCO, ProQuest, Turkiye Atif Dizini, ULAKBIM, Google Scholar and SCOPUS.

Open Access Policy

Turkish Journal of Public Health is an online and an open access journal. All the manuscripts are fully accessible via a link at their relevant pages. Turkish Journal of Public Health do not ask any kind of author fees. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

Peer-Review Policy

Turk J Public Health aims to publish the top-quality articles related to the theoretical and practical application of public health sciences. A qualified peer review process to achieve this goal is very crucial for Turk J Public Health. Objectivity, accuracy, and fairness are basic principles during the peer review and publishing stages for Turk J Public Health. The trust of all readers, authors, researchers, referees, public health experts, physicians, funding bodies that support the research and public health managers are very important to us. All of the manuscripts have been sent to at least two reviewers and reviewers are blind to authors identities. Authors are also blind to reviewers identities. (Double Blind Peer-Review)

Instructions for Authors

Instructions for <u>authors page</u> of the journal is available in the journal content. **Disclaimer**

The statements and opinions expressed contained in the articles of the The Turkish Journal of Public Health are solely those of the individual authors and contributors not of the Turkish Society of Public Health Specialists or Cetus Publishing.

Publisher

Cetus Publishing Address : Balıkesir Teknokent Çağış Mah. Çağış B.M.Sk. No:340/16 İç Kapı No:17 Altıeylül/Balıkesir Phone : +90 532 605 56 85 E-mail : info@cetuspub.com

Turkish Journal of Public Health

VOLUME: 22

CONTENTS

ISSUE: 1

Original Article

- 1-12 **Gender perception as the driving force for violence against women in Türkiye** *Havva Gezgin Yazıcı, Latife Utaş Akhan, Makbule Batmaz*
- 13-22 **Evaluation of differences in maternal and newborn health coverage across urban and rural areas: A pooled analysis of 88 countries** *Gökçen Çeliker*
- 23-34 **Peer bullying in adolescents and related factors** *Isik Top, Belgin Unal*
- 35-48 Surgical mask usage effects: a self-questionnaire study of 7.014 responders during the COVID-19 pandemic

Özlem Soyer Er, Meryem Yavuz Van Giersbergen

- 49-58The evaluation of the correlation between some variables of the countries and COVID-19
incidence of cases and deaths in different variant periods
Deniz Erdal , Burcu Ecem Uguz, Caferi Tayyar Sasmaz
- 59-71 **Turkish validity and reliability of the lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale** *Aysun Güzel, Sabriye Uçan Yamaç, Sevgi Turan, Sarp Üner*
- 72-86 **Evaluation of self-competency of family physicians and family health workers in providing health services to syrian children: an example from Ankara, Türkiye** *Damla Özyürek, Hilal Özcebe*
- 87-101 **Sleep quality and related factors in individuals aged 20 and over applying to primary health care centers** Zeynep Ceyda Buran, Beyhan Cengiz Ozyurt
- 102-111 Rising bribes: accessing public health services in Northern Cyprus during COVID-19

Short Report

Omer Gokcekus

112-119 **Gender-role attitudes of university students: a cross-sectional study from Türkiye** Leyla Tekdemir, Elçin Balcı, Arda Borlu, Hasan Durmuş

Technical Note

120-124 **Future perspectives for strengthening the tobacco industry fight indicators** *Tuğçe Mehlika Şanver, Dilek Aslan*

From the Editor

Advances in Large Language Models (LMM) such as GPT and the integration of artificial intelligence (AI) have initiated a transformative era for scientific research and publication. There is a rapid and increasing use of AI applications in scientific research, publishing, and authorship, as in all fields. A recent survey involving 1600 researchers indicates that the use of AI tools is expected to grow significantly in the next decade and will become "very important" and even "essential". With their unique capacity to understand, analyze, and interpret human-like texts, these tools present significant opportunities and challenges for the scientific community. Despite the numerous advantages associated with LMMs, three benefits stand out as transformative for the field of scientific research. First, the efficiency and speed offered by these tools, through automating routine tasks such as literature reviews and manuscript formatting. Secondly, LMMs enhance the accessibility of information by summarizing and synthesizing vast amounts of scientific literature, which not only democratizes knowledge but also has the potential to speed up the pace of scientific innovation. Lastly, these models promote enhanced collaboration among scientists by providing advanced tools for shared writing and editing, effectively bridging gaps across geographical, language and disciplinary boundaries. In addition to these benefits, there are also some concerns and uncertainties. These are primarily since the underlying reasons for the information and results obtained by AI are not clear, and its systems are not transparent. Researchers are also concerned about the harm that could be caused by AI spreading misinformation. Another factor raised by the above-mentioned survey respondents commented on is the dominant part corporations are playing in the development of AI. With this regards, use of AI in drafting and generating scientific content raises concerns about authorship and intellectual property. Defining contributions and ownership becomes complex when AI tools play a significant role in the creative process. And the last, but not least, is about the ethical implications related to privacy, especially concerning data used and the risk of misuse of AI tools in fabricating or manipulating data and results in scientific publications. In this context, as public health professionals, researchers, authors, referees and editors, there is a need to improve the standards as well as the usage opportunities of AI in our field. At this stage, international guidelines constitute an important resource. Among these, COPE recommends the following determination regarding the use of AI in scientific publication. "Authors who use AI tools in the writing of a manuscript, production of images or graphical elements of the paper, or in the collection and analysis of data, must be transparent in disclosing in the Materials and Methods (or similar section) of the paper how the AI tool was used, and which tool was used. Authors are fully responsible for the content of their manuscript, even those parts produced by an AI tool, and are thus liable for any breach of publication ethics". We need a lot of study and discussion regarding the use of AI and LMM from a Public Health perspective.

In the first issue of 2024, we present nine original research articles, a short report, and a technical note for your enjoyment. We would like to express our sincere gratitude to the authors and referees who contributed to this issue and wish you pleasant reading.

References

1. Noorden RV and Perkel JM. Nature. [online] 2023. Available at: https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-023-02980-0. Accessed April 2024. 2. COPE position statement. [online] 2023. Available at: https://publicationethics.org/cope-position-statements/ai-author. Accessed April 2024.

Yucel Demiral Editor in Chief **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

Gender perception as the driving force for violence against women in Türkiye

Havva Gezgin Yazıcı¹, Latife Utaş Akhan², Makbule Batmaz³

¹Assist. Prof., Kütahya Health Sciences University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Mental Health Nursing Department, Kütahya, Türkiye

²Assoc. Prof., Bandırma On Yedi Eylül University, Mental Health Nursing Department, Balıkesir, Türkiye ³Assist. Prof., Haliç University, Nursing Department, Istanbul, Türkiye

Received: 07.08.2022, Accepted: 03.04.2024

Abstract

Objective: The purpose of this study is to determine relationship the gender perception with attitudes toward violence against women in Türkiye.

Methods: This descriptive study was conducted online with 795 individuals from Türkiye between 08.02.2022 – 14.04.2022. The data was collected with the "Sociodemographic Descriptive Information Form," "Perception of Gender Scale," and "ISKEBE Violence Against Women Attitude Scale," created using Google Forms. For the data analysis, the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences(SPSS) version 22 was used. In addition to descriptive statistics such as frequency, mean and standard deviation, t-test, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and post hoc (Tukey, LSD) tests, and linear regression were used for analysing the data.

Results: The average age of the respondents was 30.0 ± 11.4 . It was detected that 70.4% (n=560) of the respondents are female, 62.4% (n=496) are single, 75.7% (n=602) have a middle income. The participants' average point on the Perception of Gender Scale was 104.7 ± 17.1 ; and the average point on the Violence Against Women Attitude Scale was 49.3 ± 22.2 . The total change in the level of the total score of the attitude toward violence against women is explained by the sum of gender perception at a rate of 37.8% (R2=0.378).

Conclusion: Many social and cultural characteristics of participants are associated with both the perception of gender and violence against women, despite there not being a reasonable correlation between the perception of gender and violence against women.

Keywords: Gender, Perception of Gender, Violence Against Women

Correspondence: Assist. Prof., Havva Gezgin Yazıcı, Kütahya Health Sciences University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Mental Health Nursing Department, Kütahya, Türkiye. **E-mail:** havva.gezginyazici@ksbu.edu.tr, **Phone:**+90 537 017 61 87

Cite This Article: Yazıcı HG, Akhan LU, Batmaz M. Gender perception as the driving force for violence against women in Turkey. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 1-12

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

Gender is a concept that explains the values and judgments about how women and men are perceived by the society, how they are evaluated, and the behaviours expected from them.¹ The concept of gender expresses socially determined personal characteristics, roles, and responsibilities of women and men². Gender inequality is an underlying determinant of violence against women³ and a global problem.⁴

Gender inequality, causing by the unequal power dynamics between men and women within the social structure, stands as the primary root of violence against women.³ Turkish society, like most societies in the world, has a patriarchal structure that is a cultural system giving more power, authority, and socioeconomic privileges to the men. This situation causes men to be regarded as more powerful and respected compared to women ⁵.

World Health Organization (WHO) defines violence against women as a public health problem. Regarding the WHO data, one in three women in the world experiences physical and/ or sexual violence in their lifetime, mostly by an intimate partner ⁶. Violence against women is defined as any attitude and behaviour that causes or is likely to cause physical, sexual, psychological, or economic harm or suffering to women⁷.

Violence against women, which aims to oppress women, should be considered a social problem based on gender issue and should be addressed first and foremost. According to the data of the Ministry of Family and Social Services, 336 women in 2019, 267 women in 2020, and 95 women in the first four months of 2021 were killed due to gender-based violence. Moreover, the national survey on domestic violence in Turkiye presents the high prevalence of violence that the rate of physical violence was reported as 35.5% in lifetime and 8.2% in the last 12 months.⁸ A study which was conducted in 28 members of European Union shows that approximately 80% of women state that violence against women is common in their country ⁹. A study conducted in Italy states that 27% of women have been exposed to physical and/or sexual violence ³.

Turkiye has raised awareness of the issue and both policymakers and non-governmental organizations have proposed various action plans to prevent violence against women. Creating and implementing programs and policies to change gender norms, promote gender equality, and empower women is a critical step toward preventing violence against women¹⁰.

In light of this information, it is anticipated that this study, which was conducted to determine gender perceptions and attitudes toward violence against women in Turkish society, as well as the relationship between them and the factors influencing them, will serve as a guide in raising awareness and encouraging the prevention of violence against women.

METHODS

Participants and Data Collection Method

This descriptive study was conducted online in Turkiye between 08.02.2022 – 14.04.2022. The population of study formed the individuals who are the residents of Turkiye. Power analysis was performed to determine the number of people to be included in the study. Sample size was calculated with the

G*Power 3.1 program. According to the multiple regression analysis determined by Cohen (1988), the effect size was taken as 0.15 as medium. To exceed the 95% value in determining the power of the study; At the 5% significance level and 0.15 effect size, 107 people need to be reached (df=2; F=3.086)¹¹. The snowball method was used to collect data in the study conducted with individuals aged 18 and over (those who could read and understand Turkish and agreed to fill out the form were included. The data was collected with the "Sociodemographic Descriptive Information Form," "ISKEBE Violence Against Women Attitude Scale," and "Perception of Gender Scale," created by using Google Forms. The link for the questionnaire was sent to participants via e-mail and social media. The questionnaire was also encouraged to share in networks of the participants. Upon receiving and clicking the link for the research, the participants were automatically directed to a page containing information about the research and informed consent. After approving to participate in the questionnaire, sociodemographic data were filled in, followed by the scales that the participants were required to answer.

Data Collection Tools

Sociodemographic Descriptive Information Form: It is an information form consisting of 10 questions prepared by the researcher in accordance with the literature and containing the sociodemographic characteristics of individuals (age, gender, marital status, number of children, family type, income status) and their witnessing and exposure to violence ^{3,4,5}.

Perception of Gender Scale: Altinova and Duyan (2013) developed and tested the *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)*

validity and reliability of this scale, and they designed it specifically for adults. The scale assesses individuals' attitudes toward how they perceive the gender roles in various fields. The scale has 25 items in total and the Cronbach's alpha coefficient was calculated as 0.872. The scale's items were prepared in the format of five-point Likert scale, with 10 positive items and 15 negative items. In the scale, participants are asked to rate each item as "strongly agree (5), agree (4), undecided (3), disagree (2), strongly disagree (1)". The total score is calculated by reversing the 2nd, 4th, 6th, 9th, 10th, 12th, 15th, 16th, 17th, 18th, 19th, 20th, 21st and 25th items. The scale yields scores ranging from 25 to 125, with high scores indicating a positive perception of gender ¹². Cronbach's alpha coefficient of this study was calculated as 0.912.

ISKEBE Violence Against Women Attitude Scale: The scale, developed by Kanbay in 2016, is in the format of a five-point Likert scale and consists of two factors and 30 items¹³. The scale has two subscales as "Attitude towards the body" and "Attitude towards the identity". They are categorized as Attitude towards the body (Sexual and physical violence): 16 items (3, 4, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 20, 22, 25, 26, 28, and 30) and Attitude towards the identity (psychological and economic violence): 14 items (1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 11, 13, 18, 19, 21, 23, 24, 27, and 29). The 5th and 24th items are scored in reverse. The scale's total score is calculated by adding the scores from the two factors. The scale has five answer options as follows: 1-strongly agree, 2-agree, 3-undecided, 4-disagree, 5-strongly disagree. Each question is scored between 1 and 5. High scores indicate that the participant opposes violence against women, while low scores indicate that the participant does not oppose violence. The

first factor can be scored with a minimum of 16 points and a maximum of 80 points. The second factor can be scored with a minimum of 14 points and a maximum of 70 points. The minimum score that can be obtained from the overall scale is 30 and the maximum score is 150. As the scale score increases, so does the positive attitude toward women. Kanbay determined the Cronbach Alpha value of the scale as 0.86. Cronbach's alpha coefficient of this study was calculated as 0.956.

Statistical Analysis

The research data was evaluated with Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) 22.0 software. In the evaluation of numerical data, arithmetic mean, standard deviation values; frequency distributions and percentages were used to summarize categorical data. Kurtosis and Skewness values were examined to determine the normality of the variables, and all variables were normally distributed. Correlation and linear regression analyses were used to investigate the relationship between the dimensions determining the scale levels of the participants. Correlation coefficients (r) for absolute values of r, 0-0.19 is regarded as very weak, 0.2-0.39 as weak, 0.40-0.59 as moderate, 0.6-0.79 as strong and 0.8-1 as very strong correlation¹⁴.

T-test, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), and post-hoc (Tukey, LSD) analyses were used to examine the differences in scale levels based on descriptive features. For the analyses, p-value cut-off of 0.05 was used to determine significance.

RESULTS

The average age of the participants is 30.04±11.38 years. Of the participants, 70.4% (n=560) are female, 37.6% (n=299) are married, 81.8% (n=650) lives in a nuclear family, 75.7% (n=602) have a middle income, 37.0% (n=294) are students, 13.6% (n=108) are housewives, 16.6% (n=132) are workers/ civil servants/self-employed, 49.7% (n=395) lives in the city (Table 1). The participants' point average on the perception of gender scale is 104.7±17.1 the point average on the violence against women attitude scale is 49.3±22.1 "Attitude towards the body" has a point average of 20.5±10.9 and "Attitude towards the identity" has a point average of 28.8±13.8.

The total score of the perception of gender scale differs significantly by age (p<0.05) and the violence against women attitude scale (p=0.018). The participants' scores for attitudes toward identity differ significantly by age (p<0.05). Gender perception total score (p=0.017) and attitude towards identity scores (p=0.014) differ significantly according to income status (Table 1). Participants' gender perception scale total scores (p<0.05), violence against women attitude scale total scores (p<0.05) and attitude towards identity scores differ significantly according to educational status (p<0.05) (Table 2).

Table 1. Differences in scale scores based on descriptive demographic characteristics										
Characteristics		Perception of Gender Total	Violence Against Women Attitude Total	Attitude Toward the Body	Attitude Toward the Identity					
	n	%	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD				
Gender										
Female	560	70.4	108.2±14.7	45.5±20.4	19.1±9.6	26.3±12.9				
Male	235	29.6	96.4±19.3	58.5±23.6	23.6±13.0	34.9±13.9				
t test			9.3	-7.8	-5.3	-8.3				
p value			<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01				
Marital Status										
Married	299	37.6	99.1±18.3	53.6±21.7	21.1±10.1	32.4±14.3				
Single	496	62.4	108.1±15.3	46.7±22.1	20.1±11.4	26.7±12.9				
t test			-7.4	4.3	1.3	5.9				
p value			<0.01	<<0.01	0.181	<<0.01				
Number of Children										
No Child	516	64.9	108.1±15.3	46.6±21.8	19.9±11.1	26.8±13.1				
1 Child	73	9.2	104.4±16.1	49.9±22.9	20.4±11.2	29.5±14.2				
2 Children	131	16.5	97.9±18.5	53.4±18.6	20.8±8.7	32.7±12.8				
3 and More Children	75	9.4	93.9±18.8	59.9±25.1	24.1±12.1	35.8±15.7				
F test			25.9	10.0	3.3	14.4				
p value			<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01				
PostHoc			1>3. 2>3. 1>4. 2>4 (p<0.05)	3>1. 4>1. 4>2. 4>3 (p<0.05)	4>1.4>2.4>3 (p<0.05)	3>1.4>1.4>2 (p<0.05)				
Family Type			<u> </u>	<u> </u>	(p<0.03)	(h.02)				
Nuclear Family	650	81.8	105.0±16.9	49.1±22.5	20.4±11.3	28.7±13.8				
Extended Family	121	15.2	102.9±18.0	51.1±20.8	21.2±9.7	29.9±13.3				
Broken Family	24	3.0	104.7±17.6	46.7±20.0	19.0±6.6	27.7±14.6				
F test			0.73	0.56	0.47	0.46				
p value			0.48	0.56	0.62	0.62				

Table 2. Differences in s	cale scoi	res based	on descriptive soci	o-economic and p	lace characteris	tics
Demographics			Perception of Gender Total	Violence Against Women Attitude Total	Attitude Toward the Body	Attitude Toward the Identity
	n	%	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD
Income Status	n	%				
High	103	13.0	107.2±15.3	45.5±20.4	19.7±10.6	25.8±12.3
Middle	602	75.7	104.9±16.7	49.4±22.1	20.4±10.8	28.9±13.7
Low	90	11.3	100.4±20.0	52.9±23.9	21.4±11.7	31.5±14.9
F test			4.1	2.7	0.6	4.2
p value			0.01	0.06	0.54	0.01
PostHoc			1>3. 2>3 (p<0.05)			2>1.3>1 (p<0.05)
Education						
Primary School	74	9.3	97.5±17.6	57.9±23.9	22.8±11.9	35.1±14.5
Middle School	39	4.9	91.8±19.8	58.4±21.9	23.1±12.3	35.3±12.8
Highschool	124	15.6	99.8±19.4	53.9±21.7	21.1±9.1	32.8±15.0
Under Graduate	506	63.6	107.3±15.4	47.1±21.9	19.9±11.2	27.1±13.1
Graduate	52	6.5	110.9±13.5	40.6±15.6	18.4±8.6	22.2±9.5
F test			17.3	9.5	2.3	14.5
p value			<0.01	<0.01	0.05	<0.01
PostHoc			4>1. 5>1. 3>2. 4>2. 5>2. 4>3. 5>3 (p<0.05)	1>4. 2>4. 3>4. 1>5. 2>5. 3>5. 4>5 (p<0.05)		1>4. 2>4. 3>4 1>5. 2>5. 3>5 4>5 (p<0.05)
Occupation	n	%				
Student	294	37.0	109.5±14.6	46.03±22.12	20.0±11.6	26.0±12.7
Housewife	108	13.6	97.7±17.2	56.56±22.58	21.5±11.1	35.0±14.2
Worker/Officer/ Freelancer	132	16.6	97.8±19.9	55.85±23.34	22.4±11.6	33.5±14.6
Health Worker	100	12.6	106.5±16.1	44.75±18.35	18.7±8.3	26.0±12.4
Educator (academician/teacher)	48	6.0	109.9±13.1	42.22±19.32	19.2±10.5	23.0±10.3
Retired	22	2.8	102.4±17.5	51.63±17.01	20.9±8.6	30.7±12.0
Other	91	11.4	103.6±16.7	50.0±22.2	20.4±10.4	29.6±14.2
F test			12.5	6.8	1.4	11.3
p value			<0.01	<0.01	0.19	<0.01
PostHoc			1>2. 4>2. 5>2. 7>2. 1>3. 4>3.5>3. 7>3. 1>7. 5>7 (p<0.05)	2>1. 3>1. 2>4. 3>4.2>5. 3>5. 7>5. 2>7. 3>7 (p<0.05)		2>1. 3>1. 7>1 2>4.3>4. 2>5 3>5. 6>5. 7>5. 2>7. 3>7 (p<0.05)

Table 2. (contuniued) Differences in scale scores based on descriptive socio-economic and place characteristics									
Longest Lived Place	n	%							
Province	395	49.7	105.7±16.3	47.3±20.7	19.8±10.1	27.6±12.9			
District	249	31.3	105.5±15.7	49.8±22.9	20.8±11.8	29.1±13.8			
Village/town/rural	151	19.0	100.7±20.4	53.6±23.8	21.8±11.5	31.8±15.5			
F test			5.2	4.6	2.0	5.4			
p value			< 0. 01	0.01	0.12	<0.01			
PostHoc			1>3. 2>3 (p<0.05)	3>1 (p<0.05)		3>1 (p<0.05)			
Longest Lived Region	n	%							
Aegean	225	28.3	103.6±17.8	49.4±21.4	20.1±10.0	29.3±13.8			
Marmara	210	26.4	107.4±14.8	44.7±15.9	18.2±6.4	26.5±11.7			
Black Sea	36	4.5	106.7±17.8	55.1±31.9	25.5±19.4	29.5±14.9			
Mediterranean	127	16.0	105.4±16.1	47.4±20.5	20.6±10.2	26.8±12.3			
Central Anatolia	100	12.6	103.0±17.0	49.8±20.9	19.6±8.5	30.3±14.9			
South Eastern Anatolia	70	8.8	100.4±20.2	61.2±31.1	25.8±17.4	35.4±16.7			
Eastern Anatolia	27	3.4	104.5±19.3	52.3±26.5	22.6±13.9	29.7±14.9			
F test			2.1	5.7	6.1	4.5			
p value			0.05	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01			
PostHoc				6>1 1>2. 3>2 6>2. 6>4 6>5 (p<0.05)	3>1 6>1 3>2 4>2. 6>2 7>2 3>4 6>4. 3>5 6>5 (p<0.05)	6>1 1>2 5>2 6>2 6>3. 6>4 6>5 (p<0.05)			

Correlation analysis was used to examine the relationships between the dimensions that determine participants' perception of gender and their level of violence against women attitude. Negative r=-0.615 (p<0.001) correlation was found between violence against women total and gender perception total. The findings of the analysis are shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Correlation analysis of perception of gender and violence against women attitude scores									
		Perception of	f Violence Against Attitude T		Attitude Toward				
		Gender Total	Women Attitude Total	the Body	the Identity				
Perception of	r	1.000							
Gender Total	р	< 0.001							
Violence Against	r	-0.615**	1.000						
Women Attitude	р	< 0.001	< 0.001						
Total									
Attitude Toward the	r	-0.346**	0.869**	1.000					
Body	р	< 0.001	<0.001	<0.001					
Attitude Toward the	r	-0.715**	0.920**	0.605**	1.000				
Identity	р	< 0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				

*<0.05; **<0.01; Pearson Correlation Analysis

regression analysis performed The to determine the relationship between the total perception of gender scale and the violence against women attitude scale was found to be significant (F=482.770; p<0.05). The total change in the level of the total score of the attitude toward violence against women is explained by the sum of gender perception at a rate of 37.8% (R²=0.378). Perception of gender total score decreases the level of violence against women total score (ß=-0.799) (Table 4).

The regression analysis performed to determine the relationship between the total of perception of gender scale and attitude toward the body was found to be significant (F=108.059; p<0.05). The total change in the level of the total score of the attitude toward the body is explained by the sum of gender perception at a rate of 11.9% (R²=0.119). Perception of gender total score decreases the level of the attitude toward the body (ß=-0.222) (Table 4).

Table 4. The Effect of Perception of Gender on Violence Against Women Attitude										
Dependent Variable	Independent Variable	ß	t	р	Model (p)	R ²				
Violence Against Women	Invariant	132.981	34.468	< 0.001						
Attitude Total	Perception of Gender Total	-0.799	-21.972	<0.001	<0.001	0.378				
	Invariant	43.702	19.296	< 0.001	_					
Attitude Toward the Body	Perception of Gender Total	-0.222	-10.395	<0.001	<0.001	0.119				
Attitude Toward the Identity	Invariant	89.279	42.045	< 0.001	_					
	Perception of Gender Total	-0.577	-28.834	<0.001	<0.001	0.511				

DISCUSSION

Gender perception emerges as a driving force behind violence against women. Due to the patriarchal social structure, one of the most important reasons for violence against women is the existence of women in society outside of the roles expected of them. This study, which was conducted to determine gender perception and attitudes toward violence against women in Turkish society, as well as the relationship between them and the factors affecting them, shows that the participants' gender perception is positive. In a similarly conducted study, participants' perceptions of gender were found to be positive ¹⁵. In a study conducted with university students, approximately three-quarters of the students

stated that there is an inequality between genders in Turkish society and that this inequality results from the structure of Turkish society ¹⁶.

In this study, educational and income status were found to influence people's perceptions of gender. The reason for the difference is that the total gender perception scores of those with good income status are higher than the total gender perception scores of those with low income status. In addition, the gender perception total scores of those with a university education level are higher than the scores of those with a primary school education level. According to a study, education level and income status are closely related to perceptions of gender roles ¹⁷. Individuals' perception of gender equality improves as their educational and income levels rise, and this is especially true in lowincome societies where gender perception is negative. Increasing the education level brings a contemporary perspective to individuals regarding the gender roles and becomes a determinant of gender equality. The educational consequences of gender inequalities are among the ongoing problems in all societies, to varying degrees and forms¹⁸. Education conveys gender-themed messages due to its functions, such as transferring culture and information to individuals, providing them with the necessary presuppositions to join the workforce, and so on. For this reason, schools, regardless of level, carry stereotypes and limitations about girls and boys, women and men. In a study conducted with individuals living in Turkiye, it is stated that factors such as gender, region of residence, education level, and employment status are among the determinants of perspectives on gender roles ¹⁷. In a study on gender discrimination and violence against women in Lebanon, it was discovered that the participants' education level predicted their attitudes toward gender inequality ¹⁹.

In this study, while the gender perception score was lower in men than in women, the score against violence against women was found to be higher. In a study conducted with university students, it was stated that women's gender perception average scores were higher than men²⁰. It is an expected finding that men's gender perception score is low in this study, and their opposition to violence against women was expected to be low. However, it seems that men are against violence against women. It is thought that public awareness and increased legal sanctions on this issue are *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)* effective due to the awareness studies carried out for the society about violence.

The cultural characteristics of societies the most fundamental factors are in gender perception. Generational cultural transmission is what keeps violence going down the generations. Violence is practiced differently in different cultures. It is important to understand the causes of violence and cultural differences when dealing with violence against women. The fact that cultural values are difficult to change means that the approach to violence against women and practices aimed at its prevention are critical, and violence must be addressed by all segments of society. Educating society about gender-based violence will be an important step toward a positive perception of gender in developing societies where patriarchal systems shape women's' experiences and choices in family relationships ²¹.

When the total score averages of the participants' violence against women attitude scale are examined, it is seen that the positive attitude towards women has increased. In addition, when their ISKEBE subscale scores are compared, it is observed that the average of attitudes toward identity, which includes psychological and economic violence, is higher than the average of attitudes toward the body, which includes physical and sexual violence. This situation demonstrates that while participants view psychological and economic violence (attitudes toward identity) as more unacceptable, they view physical and sexual violence (attitudes toward the body) as more acceptable. In the report prepared by the Ministry of Family and Social Policies (2014), it is stated that 36% of the women in Turkiye have been subjected to physical violence, and

12% have been subjected to sexual violence8. It has been detected that 44% of married women in Turkiye have experienced at least one form of emotional violence and abuse at some point in their lives ²². According to the data from the 2011 Brazilian Women's Yearbook, 43.1% of women have been subjected to violence in their own homes, and among all women who have been attacked inside or outside the home, 25.9% of the perpetrators are their husbands or ex-husbands ²³. In a study conducted by Montgomery et al. in the United States, the prevalence of psychological, physical and sexual violence against women was found to be 31%, 19% and 7%. respectively 24 . In a study conducted with Libyan immigrants, it is stated that gender and education influence violence against women, and men typically do not see violence against women as a serious social problem, instead viewing it as a personal and family matter ²⁵. Violence against women harms women physically and psychologically; it prevents women from improving their social status; and it causes a significant number of women to be disadvantaged in terms of economic, social, educational, health and other rights. It is impossible to cultivate a sense of equality in a society, where women are subjected to violence.

There was a strong negative relationship between the total attitude towards violence against women and the total perception of gender. Affecting men's practice of physical violence against women in a study examining the factors, it is stated that gender attitude has an effect on physical violence against women²⁶. In a study, it was stated that there was a strong negative relationship between the attitude of violence against women and the perception of gender¹. It can be said that the perception of gender should change in *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)* a positive way in order to decrease violence against women.

The regression analysis performed to determine the relationship between the total of perception of gender scale and violence against women attitude scale was found to be significant The total change in the level of total score of violence against women attitude is explained by the sum of gender perception at a rate of 37,8% Perception of gender total score decreases the level of violence against women total score. In this study, gender perception is the predictor of both the body and the identity of the violence against women attitude.

Limitations of the Study

The current findings are based on a crosssectional data. This would imply that the extent to which the causal and temporal relationship between the dependent variable and predictors can be determined is severely limited. Secondly, the survey does not represent the entire of population in Turkiye. From this standpoint, the generalizability of the findings reported in this study is limited. Finally, it should be noted that this study evaluates Turkish society's attitudes rather than their behavioural intentions and actual behaviours.

CONCLUSION

The study revealed that the social and cultural characteristics of participants are associated with both the perception of gender and violence against women, despite there not being a reasonable correlation between the perception of gender and violence against women. There are substantial projects in various platforms around the world to reduce and prevent violence against women. Violence against women is a globally problem. However, there is a need for more than one program that targets all segments of society to reduce and prevent violence against women. Governments must do their part to ensure that people live in a society that values gender equality. It is important to conduct ongoing awareness-raising activities as an important approach to addressing domestic violence issues affecting women. Planning and implementing comprehensive and continuous education that includes all people from all segments of society with the goal of positively influencing attitudes toward women will be an important step toward achieving a change in perception.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Financial Support: The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Ethical Declaration: In order to conduct the study. Ethics committee approval (dated 07.02.2022 and decision number 2022/23) from Non-Invasive Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the relevant university and written informed consent was obtained from the individuals participating in the study via online forms.

Author Contribution: HGY. LUA. MB: conception and design of the paper. HGY. LUA. MB: data collection. Analysis and interpretation HGY: draft manuscript HGY. LUA. MB: critical revision of the article, HGY. LUA. MB: final approval of the version intended for publication.

Thanks: We thank the participants who participated in the study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dursun A. Kadına yönelik şiddet: ergenlerin toplumsal cinsiyet algılarının yordayıcılığı.Türkiye Bütüncül Psikoterapi Dergisi. 2020; 3(6). 33-44.
- Sögüt S,CangölE, Özsezer G. Determination of genderperceptions of nursing and midwifery students. International Journal of Health Services Researchand Policy.2021; 6(1). 117-127. doi:10.33457/ijhsrp.854266.
- Esposito C,Di Napoli I,Esposito C, Carnevale S, Arcidiacono C. Violenceagainstwomen: A not in myBackYard (NIMBY) Phenomenon. ViolenceandGender. 2020; 7(4). 150-157.
- 4. Powell A, Webster K. Culturesof genderedviolence: an integrativereview of measures of attitudinal support for violence against women. Australian& New ZealandJournal of Criminology. 2018; 51(1). 40-57.
- Bükecik E, Özkan B. Kadına yönelik şiddet: toplumsal cinsiyet eşitsizliğinin kadın sağlığına etkisi. İzmir Katip Çelebi Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Dergisi. 2018; 3 (2). 33-37.
- 6. https://www.who.int/health-topics/violenceagainst-women#tab=tab_1.Date of access : 11.01.2022.
- Abd Aziz N, Idris S, Ishak M, Abd Wahid N, Abu Yazid Z. Factors affecting domestic violence against women: a conceptual model and research propositions. International Journal for Studies on Children, Women, Elderly And Disabled. 2018; 4(1), 191-198
- Sosyal Politikalar Bakanlığı Kadın Statüsü Genel Müdürlüğü, A. & Nüfus Etütleri Enstitüsü, H. (2014). Türkiye'de Kadına Yönelik Aile İçi Şiddet Araştırması. Aile ve Sosyal Politikalar Bakanlığı Kadın Statüsü Genel Müdürlüğü.
- Vázquez D,Aizpurua E, Copp J, Ricarte JJ. Perceptions of violenceagainstwomen in europe: assessingindividual- andcountry-levelFactors. EuropeanJournal of Criminology. 2021;18(4):566-584. doi:10.1177/1477370819859462.
- Kurtuldu, ÖR. Toplumsal cinsiyet eşitsizliği ve kadina karşi aile içi şiddetle mücadele kampanyalari; sabanci vakfi "iş dünyasi aile içi şiddete karşi" projesi analizi. Marmara Üniversitesi Kadın ve Toplumsal Cinsiyet Araştırmaları Dergisi.2018;2(2), 97-110.
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. (2nd Ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum
- 12. Altınova HH, Duyan V. Toplumsal cinsiyet algısı ölçeğinin geçerlik güvenirlik çalışması. Toplum ve Sosyal Hizmet. 2013; 24(2):9-22.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

Yazıcı HG, Akhan LU, Batmaz M.

- Kanbay Y, Aslan O,Isik E, Tektas P. Development study on ISKEBE violence against women attitude scale (IskebeAttitudeScale)/ISKEBE kadına yönelik siddet tutum ölçeği (Iskebe Tutum Ölçeği) geliştirme çalışması. Anadolu Psikiyatri Dergisi. 2017; 18(5): 453-60.
- 14. https://www.bmj.com/about-bmj/resourcesreaders/publications/statistics-square-one/11correlation-and-regression
- Alabaş R,Akyüz Hİ, Kamer ST. Üniversite öğrencilerinin toplumsal cinsiyet algılarının belirlenmesi. Mustafa Kemal Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi. 2019;16 (44). 429-448.
- Daşlı Y. Öğrencilerin toplumsal cinsiyet rollerine ilişkin tutumların belirlenmesi üzerine bir alan araştırması. Van Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi. 2019;16 (1). 364-385.
- Savaş G. Türkiye'de yaşayan bireylerin toplumsal cinsiyet eşit(siz)liği algısı - gender (ın) equalityperception of ındividualslivingin Turkey. Akdeniz Kadın Çalışmaları ve Toplumsal Cinsiyet Dergisi.2018; 1 (2). 101-121.
- 18. Özveren AD, Dama N. Türkiye'de toplumsal cinsiyet eşitsizliğine dair mevcut durum algısı. Çalışma İlişkileri Dergisi.2022;13(1),107-122.
- Usta J,Farver JM, Hamieh CS. Effectsof socialization on gender discrimination and violence against women in Lebanon. Violenceagainst Women.2016; 22(4). 415-431.

- 20. Esen E, Soylu Y, Siyez D M, & Demirgürz G. Üniversite öğrencilerinde toplumsal cinsiyet algısının toplumsal cinsiyet rolü ve cinsiyet değişkenlerine göre incelenmesi. E-International Journal of Educational Research, 2017; 8 (1).
- 21. Fakunmoju SB, Bammeke FO, Oyekanmi FA, Temilola S, George B. Psychometricproperties of beliefs about relationship violence against women and genders tereotypesscale. Journal of Psychology in Africa. 2016;26(3). 246-258.
- Çalışkan H, Çevik Eİ. Kadına yönelik şiddetin belirleyicileri: Türkiye Örneği. Balkan Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi. 2018; 7(14). 218-233.
- Silva EBD, Padoin SMDM, Vianna LAC. Sağlıkprofesyonellerinin algısında kadına yönelik şiddet ve bakım uygulamaları. 2015;Texto &Contexto-Enfermagem. 24. 229-237.
- 24. Montgomery BE,Rompalo A,Hughes J,Wang J,Haley D,Soto-Torres L, et al. Violence against women in selectedareas of the United States. AmericanJournal of PublicHealth. 2015;105(10). 2156-2166.
- 25. El Abani S, Pourmehdi M. Genderandeducationaldifferences in perception of domestic violence against women among libyanmigrants in manchester. Journal of InterpersonalViolence. 2021; 36(5-6). 2074-2096.
- 26. Akkuş S, Yıldırım Ş. Erkeklerin kadına yönelik fiziksel şiddet uygulamasına etki eden faktörlerin incelenmesi. Gaziantep University Journal of Social Sciences, 2018;17(4), 1368-13

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Evaluation of differences in maternal and newborn health coverage across urban and rural areas: A pooled analysis of 88 countries



¹Research Assistant, Ankara University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Health Management, Ankara, Türkiye

Received: 21.02.2023, Accepted: 16.03.2024

Abstract

Objective: This study aims to determine whether the variables that reveal countries' maternal and newborn health coverage differ between rural and urban areas.

Methods: The sample of the study consists of 88 countries. The data were obtained from the "Maternal and Newborn Health Coverage Database 2022" published by UNICEF and analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics. The T-test, Mann–Whitney U test and factorial ANOVA were used to analyze the data.

Results: The percentage of women who attended at least four prenatal appointments was found to be higher among women living in urban areas (81.1%) than among women living in rural areas (72.3%) (p=0.008). More cesarean sections are performed in urban (14.6%) than in rural areas (7.6%) (p=0.001). Women living in urban areas (94.3%) give birth in a health institution more frequently than women living in rural areas (81.3%) (p=0.001). The percentage of births attended by skilled health personnel was found to be higher for women living in urban areas (81.1%) than for women living in rural areas (72.3%) (p=0.001). The percentage of mothers (80.6%) who received postnatal care within 2 days of giving birth was also higher in urban areas than in rural areas (70.2%) (p=0.001). There is an interaction effect of urban-rural area and income group on the antenatal care 1+visit variable (p=0.001), institutional deliveries variable (p=0.023), and skilled birth attendant variable (p=0.002).

Conclusion: This research reveals that women and newborns living in rural areas are disadvantaged compared with those in urban areas with regard to antenatal, delivery, and postnatal care. It is recommended that steps are taken to reduce socioeconomic inequalities in rural areas, subsidize maternity services in hospitals, and develop a referral system among health institutions in rural areas.

Keywords: Access to Health Care, Delivery, Disparities, Antenatal Care, Postnatal Care

Correspondence: Research Assistant, Gökçen Çeliker, Ankara University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Health Management, Ankara, Türkiye. **E-mail:** gozler@ankara.edu.tr, **Phone**: +90 (312) 381 23 50

Cite This Article: Çeliker G. Evaluation of differences in maternal and newborn health coverage across urban and rural areas: A pooled analysis of 88 countries. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 13-14.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*



Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/.

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NO ND International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

In the United Nations Sustainable Development Objectives, the target of objective 3.2 is "By 2030, end preventable deaths of newborns and children under 5 years of age, with all countries aiming to reduce neonatal mortality and under 5 mortality."1 It is important to draw attention to the difficulties faced by patients and health facilities in rural areas and to reduce maternal diseases and deaths in rural areas. These challenges include both clinical factors (lack of labor and low patient volume) and social determinants of health (transportation, housing, poverty, food safety, racism, and violence).² Obstacles to the use of services in rural areas can be listed as geographical distance, cost, lack of service, and insufficient personnel.³

The literature supports the concept that hospital care positively affects the health outcomes of infants. Some studies have shown that survival rates have increased for infants born in hospitals with appropriate resources.⁴ It has been argued that infant and newborn deaths are closely linked to newborn care after birth, pregnancy care, delivery, place of birth, and quality of care.⁵ Differences in infant and newborn deaths continue to depend on sociodemographic characteristics, such as race and ethnic origin and geographical location.

One of the driving forces of these differences is the differing access to delivery by risk. Appropriate services, services for the mother, the birth of the baby in a health institution, and serving the baby immediately after delivery can be listed as services with appropriate technology and staff.⁶

Many studies have investigated whether living in urban and rural areas is important *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)* in terms of mothers' deaths or access to health services. It has been argued that there is a large gap in terms of people's income and health status between urban and rural areas and that this gap explains the regional differences in the health status and survival rates of children between urban and rural areas.⁷ In a study conducted in 54 countries, it was found that the coverage of births attended by skilled health personnel was the most unfair variable among the countries. The most fair intervention was determined as the early start of breastfeeding.8 A study examining geographical and rural-urban differences in maternal mortality in China found that the risk of dying is higher in less developed regions due to a higher preventive maternal mortality rate and pregnancy.9 In a US study, if sociodemographic and clinical conditions were checked, it was found that the possibility of maternal disease and death was 9 percent higher in rural than in urban areas.² A study conducted in Brazil found that rural women, regardless of their socioeconomic and pregnancy conditions, have a higher risk of giving birth to babies with a very low birth weight and detectable disabilities at birth than women living in urban areas of the same region.10

Understanding the coverage of maternal and neonatal health services between rural and urban populations is important for assessing the health needs of populations and addressing health disparities. This research can help policymakers to understand and take steps to close the urban–rural difference and to develop strategies to improve access to such health care. The aim of this study is to establish whether the variables that reveal the maternal and newborn health coverage in countries differ between rural and urban

areas.

METHODS

This research adopts a cross-sectional study design, which is a type of observational study design. The researcher evaluates both outcomes and exposures in the population, searching for potential associations in crosssectional studies.¹¹

The sample of the study consists of 88 countries that do not have missing values in the maternal and newborn health coverage data examined within the scope of the

research (Additional File 1). The research was conducted on secondary data. UNICEF is a United Nations agency working in more than 190 countries and territories to protect the rights of all children, helping them to survive, develop, and fulfill their potential from early childhood to adolescence.¹² The data for the study were obtained from the "Maternal and Newborn Health Coverage Database 2022" published by UNICEF.¹³ The data sources were national health surveys and national statistics published by official institutions of each country. Explanations of the variables used in the study are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Variables Used in the Research								
Categories	Variables	Explanation						
Antenatal	Antenatal care 1+ visits	The percentage of women attended at least once during pregnancy by any provider.						
Antenatal	Antenatal care 4+ visits	The percentage of women attended at least four times during pregnancy by any provider.						
Delivery	C-section rate	The percentage of deliveries by C-section						
Delivery	Institutional deliveries	The percentage of deliveries in a health facility.						
Delivery	Skilled birth attendant	The percentage of deliveries attended by skilled health personnel.						
Postnatal Newborn	Postnatal care for newborns	The percentage of newborns who received postnatal care within 2 days after birth.						
Postnatal Mother	Postnatal care for mothers	The percentage of women who received postnatal care within 2 days after birth.						
Source: UNICEF Maternal and Newborn I	Health Coverage Database 2022							

urce: UNICEF Maternal and Newborn Health Coverage Database 2022

Table 2 The Veer of the Veriables

The dataset used contains the most up-to date data for the countries. Therefore, data that do not belong to the same year across countries were employed (Table 2).

Table 2. The Year of the Variables	
Variable	Year
Antenatal care 1+ visits	2012-2021
Antenatal care 4+ visits	2012-2021
Postnatal care for newborns	2010-2021
Postnatal care for mothers	2012-2021
C-section rate	2010-2021
Institutional deliveries	2012-2021
Skilled birth attendant	2012-2021

2010: Burundi, Bhutan 2012: Belarus, Barbadus, Gabon, Mexico, Ukraine 2013: Namibia, Yemen 2014: Egypti Cambodia, Sudan, El Salvador, Eswatini, VietNam 2015: Burkina Faso, Congo Guaetemala, Panama, Solomon Islands, Chad 2016: Angola, Armenia, Belize, Côte d'Ivoire, Myanmar, Paraguay, Timor-Leste 2017: Haiti, Indonesia, India, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Maldives, Niger, Philippines, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Togo, Tajikistan, Tanzania 2018: Afghanistan, Albania, Congo, Costa Rica, Guinea, Iraq, Jordan, Krgyzstan, Lesotho, Madagascar, Mali, Montenegro, Mongolia, Nigeria, Tunisia, Türkiye, Uganda 2019: Bangladesh, Central African Republic, Cuba, Dominician Republic, Algeria, Ethiopia, Ghana, Guinea-Bissau, Honduras, Kiribati, North Macedonia, Nepal, Pakistan, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Somalia, Sao Tome and Principe, Turkmenistan, Tonga, Zambia, Zimbabwe 2020: Gambia, Guyana, Kenya, Liberia, Malawi, State of Palestine, Kosowo, Rwanda, Tuvalu, Samoa 2021: India, Niger

Within the scope of the study, 88 countries out of 186 countries, which were not missing data for the variables examined, were included. The data were analyzed with IBM SPSS Statistics (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 26.0. Armonk, United States). The normal distribution assumption was tested with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov, skewness, and kurtosis values. In the analysis of the data, the significance test (t-test) of the difference between the two means and the Mann-Whitney U test were used. Factorial ANOVA was used to test the interaction effect of countries' income groups and countries' rural-urban data. The significance level was set as p<0.05. The research data are reported using the mean and median values, standard deviation, and interquartile range of prevalence measures.

For this research, the income group of 88 countries was obtained from the World Bank's website for 2022. The World Bank categorizes global economies into four income groups, namely low, lower-middle, upper-middle, and high income. The categorizations rely on the gross national income (GNI) per capita from the preceding year.¹⁴

The question to be answered by this research was determined as follows:

Do the variables of antenatal care, delivery, and postnatal care coverage differ between rural and urban regions?

RESULTS

The distribution of prenatal, postnatal care, and delivery coverage in urban and rural regions of the examined countries is presented in Table 3.

Table 3. Antenatal, Postnatal and Delivery Coverage Variables by Urban and Rural Areas											
		Ru	Urł	p-value							
	X ±Sd	Med	IQR*	X ±Sd	Med	IQR					
Antenatal											
Antenatal care 1+ visits	88.4±14	94.55	13.9	94.5±6.9	96.5	5.7	0.003ª				
Antenatal care 4+ visits	67.3±21.6	72.3	36	76.4±16	81.1	23	0.008ª				
]	Postnata	ıl								
Postnatal care for newborns	66.21±30.6	66.2	30	74.9±26.3	74.9	24	0.015^{b}				
Postnatal care for mothers	70.25±24.7	70.2	28	80.6±17.3	80.6	21.9	0.001 ^b				
		Delivery	/								
C-section rate	13.5±12.9	7.6	19.2	19.9±14.3	14.6	20.7	0.001ª				
Institutional deliveries	75.1±24.4	81.3	37.9	89.4±13.5	94.3	11.6	0.001ª				
Skilled birth attendant	77.7±22.9	86.4	36.7	92.11±9.9	96	9.6	0.001ª				

^{*}IQR: Interquartile range

^ap value was obtained by the Mann Whitney U test. ^bp value was obtained using an independent two-sample t-test.

It was determined that there are significant differences between antenatal, delivery and postnatal coverage in urban and rural areas. Women and infants benefit from services at higher antenatal, delivery and postnatal in urban areas than in rural areas. In urban areas, women receive more services from health *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)* personnel before and after birth. Additionally, the average of women giving birth in health institutions is significantly higher in urban areas than in rural areas (p=0.001). C-section rates are also significantly higher in urban areas (p=0.001). These differences were determined to be statistically significant.

Table 4.	Factorial ANOVA	A Test Results for	r Antenatal,	Postnatal	and Delivery	Coverage	Variables of
Countrie	s by Urban-Rural a	and Income Grou	ps				

Countries by Orban-Rural and Income Group								
	df	Mean Square	р	η2				
	natal care 1+visit							
Urban-Rural	5	1043	0.001	0.086				
Income groups	5	1043	0.001	0.140				
Urban-Rural*Income groups	5	1043	0.001	0.036				
Error	170	105.6	F	R ² =0.202				
Antenatal care 4+visit								
Urban-Rural	1	3190	0.001	0.076				
Income groups	2	11863	0.001	0.378				
Urban-Rural*Income groups	2	279	0.298	0.014				
Error	170	229	F	R ² =0.400				
Postnat	tal care for mothe	ers						
Urban-Rural	1	4588	0.001	0.071				
Income groups	2	8834	0.001	0.226				
Urban-Rural*Income groups	2	691	0.146	0.022				
Error	170	355	F	R ² =0.262				
Postnata	al care for newbo	rns						
Urban-Rural	1	3195	0.035	0.026				
Income groups	2	10212	0.001	0.145				
Urban-Rural*Income groups	2	447	0.534	0.007				
Error	170	710	F	R ² =0.145				
Instit	utional deliverie	5	·					
Urban-Rural	1	8542	0.001	0.146				
Income groups	2	7670	0.001	0.234				
Urban-Rural*Income groups	2	1132	0.023	0.043				
Error	170	294	F	R ² =0.327				
(C-section rate							
Urban-Rural	1	1663	0.001	0.075				
Income groups	2	5901	0.001	0.365				
Urban-Rural*Income groups	2	12	0.905	0.001				
Error	170	121	ŀ	R ² =0.381				
Skille	d birth attendan	t						
Urban-Rural	1	8602	0.001	0.183				
Income groups	2	6153	0.001	0.242				
Urban-Rural*Income groups	2	1527	0.002	0.073				
Error	168	229		R ² =0.368				
en value was obtained by the Eactorial ANOVA								

^ap value was obtained by the Factorial ANOVA.

Countries' antenatal, delivery and postnatal coverage variables differ according to income groups. There is an interaction effect of urban-rural area and income group on the antenatal care 1+visit variable (p=0.001), institutional deliveries

variable (p=0.023), and skilled birth attendant variable (p=0.002). The effect size of income groups in antenatal care visit and C-section rate variables is larger than other variables. It was determined that the income group variable had a large effect size on the antenatal care 4+visit (η 2= 0.378) and C-section (η 2= 0.365).

DISCUSSION

This research reports regional disparities between urban and rural areas in maternal and neonatal health coverage using maternal and neonatal health coverage data from 88 countries. In this study, it was found that the percentage of women who were attended at least once during pregnancy by skilled health personnel was higher in urban than in rural areas. The percentage of women who attended at least four antenatal services was found to be higher in urban areas than in rural areas. In addition, it was observed that the interaction effect of urban-rural area and income group on the skilled birth attendant variable. Partridge et al. (2012) stated that the risk of prematurity, stillbirth, early and late neonatal death, and infant death increases as antenatal care decreases.¹⁵ A study conducted in China found that there is a disparity between rural and urban areas in terms of antenatal care, health facilities for birth, and health professional services at birth. It reported that mothers from high wealth index households were more likely to live in urban areas, use maternal health services, and have higher education and greater media exposure than mothers living in rural areas.⁹ Margaret et al. (2013) suggested that health care workers in urban areas demonstrated better knowledge and practice than their rural counterparts. According to research, urban areas generally have better equipment, materials, and training than rural areas. The availability of specialized and highertenured personnel is greater in urban areas.¹⁶ A study performed in Northern Ghana found the main factors explaining the relatively high skilled birth coverage in urban areas to be higher frequency of attendance at antenatal care (ANC), proximity to a health facility (physical access), and a larger proportion of women achieving higher levels of education.¹⁷

A study conducted in Iran suggested that low cost,

lack of health insurance, and socio-cultural and familial reasons cause mothers to hesitate to give birth at home and seek professional emergency care for birth complications.¹⁸ In this study, the percentage of newborns and mothers who had postnatal contact with a health provider within 2 days of delivery was found to be statistically significantly higher in urban areas than in rural areas. It has been noted that babies who die within the first 28 days after birth suffer from a lack of quality service at birth or a lack of quality service and treatment immediately after birth and in the first days of life.¹⁹ The density of human resources for health was found to affect indicators such as the maternal mortality rate, infant mortality rate, and under-five mortality rate.²⁰ It has been stated that there are policies that encourage health workers from poor countries to migrate to developed countries.²¹ Besides, it has been argued that geographic accessibility to health facilities is an obstacle to the use of maternal and neonatal health (MNH) services.²² In a study conducted in Malawi, pregnancy complications, women's lower education levels, difficulties accessing the available health facilities, and low exposure to media were significantly associated with a delay in women's use of postpartum care services within 24 hours of birth in rural Malawi.²³

In this study, it was determined that women living in urban areas gave birth in a health institution more frequently than women living in rural areas. There are interaction effects between urban and rural areas and income groups on important variables such as prenatal care, institutional birth, and skilled birth attendant. It has been stated that, due to the poor socioeconomic status of rural women, most of them cannot afford to travel to places where they can obtain help from health professionals while giving birth. Although births are mostly free in rural health institutions, the facts that these health facilities are not within easy reach of rural women and that most women cannot afford the transportation cost may cause them to choose to give birth at home.²⁴ Understanding the barriers to rural women's access to maternity services will be an important step.

In this study, it was found that the c-section rate is higher among urban women than among rural women. In different studies on access to cesarean sections, being able to receive cesarean section services has been particularly associated with income. Ushie et al. (2019) found that belonging to the poorest quintile and not receiving formal education were associated with a lower probability of having a cesarean delivery.²⁵ Leone et al. (2008) analyzed the institutional, socioeconomic, and societal factors affecting cesarean sections in six countries and concluded that women from higher socioeconomic backgrounds with better access to antenatal services were more likely to have a cesarean section.26 The lowest cesarean rates were found in the more distant part of the hospital service area in Rwanda.27 A study conducted in Indonesia found that the rate of cesarean sections in urban areas was almost double that in rural areas in 2017. This ratio was almost three times higher in the richest quintile than in the poorest quintile.²⁸ The probability of having a cesarean section was found to be higher in urban areas of Mozambique and Pakistan.²⁹⁻³⁰ Achieving equity in healthcare will require the service to be available to those who need it rather than just those who can pay.

According to the research findings, women living in urban areas give birth in a health institution more frequently than women living in rural areas. Hernández-Vásquez et al. (2021), in their metaanalysis, found that the women in the richest quintile had the lowest percentage of home births, while the poorest had the highest percentage of home births. They reported that it was more common for uneducated women to give birth at home in general and that, in almost all countries, rural women generally had a higher home birth rate than those in urban areas.³¹ In addition, most neonatal deaths occur at home.²⁴

Limitations

This research is limited to 88 countries with urban- and rural-specific data in the UNICEF Maternal and Newborn Health Coverage Database 2022. Although the most up-to date data were used, not all of the analyzed data belong to the same year. Different results might be obtained for countries that were not included in the analysis. For this reason, the income characteristics of the countries that were not included in the analysis were evaluated (countries with complete data: low income=24; lower-middle income=38; uppermiddle and high income=26; countries with incomplete data: low income=6; lower-middle income=18; upper-middle income=31; high income=46). When the countries with extracted data were excluded from the analysis, a more balanced distribution was achieved by combining the upper-middle and high-income groups.

Strengths

The strength of this research is that it analyzes the coverage of maternal and child health in rural and urban areas as well as taking into account the income group to which the countries belong.

CONCLUSION

This research reveals that women and newborns living in rural areas are disadvantaged compared with those living in urban areas with regard to antenatal, delivery, and postnatal care. There is a significant difference between rural and urban areas in terms of deliveries and receiving care from health professionals. It appears that more efforts are needed to make these services accessible. Interaction effect of urban-rural area and income group was found on the variable of antenatal care, delivery and skilled birth attendant. This means that the highincome group in an urban area tend to benefit more from prenatal care services, while this may differ for the low-income group in a

rural area. This suggests that, in addition to inequality in urban and rural areas, being socioeconomically disadvantaged increases this inequality.

These differences in urban and rural areas conflict with the sustainable development goals that seek to reduce health inequalities. Although there is not much difference between women living in rural and urban areas in terms of receiving care from skilled health personnel at least once during pregnancy, the difference widens as the frequency of receiving care increases. Unfortunately, in both rural and urban areas, it is possible that skilled health personnel do not attend births. It may be beneficial to make interventions for health workforce retention in rural areas.

This study recommends raising awareness through campaigns on maternal health, especially for women of childbearing age who live in rural areas, to determine self-awareness of the complications of pregnancy, to develop health information-seeking behaviors and skills, and to achieve these through accessible channels. Steps can be taken to reduce the socioeconomic inequalities between rural and urban areas. It can be beneficial to increase the skills of health professionals during birth, to set minimum targets for access to antenatal and postnatal care, to subsidize maternity services in hospitals, and to develop a referral system among health institutions in rural areas.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Concflicts of Interest: There are no conflict of interest.

Financial Support: This study has received no financial support.

Ethical Declaration: It does not require ethics committee approval.

Author Contrubition: Concept: GÇ, Design: GÇ, Supervising: GÇ, Financing and equipment: GÇ, Data collection and entry: GÇ, Analysis and interpretation: GÇ, Literature search: GÇ, Writing: GÇ, Critical review: GÇ.

REFERENCES

- 1. United Nations. Goal 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages. [online]. Available at: https://www.un.org/ sustainabledevelopment/health/. Accessed February 20, 2023.
- 2. Kozhimannil KB, Interrante JD, Henning-Smith C, et al. Rural-urban differences in severe maternal morbidity and mortality in the US, 2007–15. Health Affairs 2019;38(12):2077-2085.
- 3. Matthews Z, Channon A, Neal S, et al. Examining the "urban advantage" in maternal health care in developing countries. PLoS Med 2010;7(9):e1000327.
- 4. McCormick MC, Shapiro S, Starfield BH. The regionalization of perinatal services. Summary of the evaluation of a national demonstration program. JAMA 1985;253(6):799–804.
- 5. Yi B, Wu L, Liu H, et al. Rural-urban differences of neonatal mortality in a poorly developed province of China. BMC Public Health 2011;11,1-6.
- 6. Lorch SA, Rogowski J, Profit J, et al. Access to risk-appropriate hospital care and disparities in neonatal outcomes in racial/ethnic groups and rural-urban populations. In Seminars in perinatology 2021;14(4):151409.
- Yanping W, Lei M, Li D, et al. A study on rural-urban differences in neonatal mortality rate in China, 1996–2006. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 2010;64(10):935-936.
- 8. Barros AJ, Ronsmans C, Axelson H, et al. Equity in maternal, newborn, and child health interventions in Countdown to 2015: a retrospective review of survey data from 54 countries. The Lancet 2012;379(9822):1225-1233.
- 9. Liang J, Dai L, Zhu J, et al. Preventable maternal mortality: geographic/rural-urban differences and associated factors from the population-based maternal mortality surveillance system in China. BMC Public Health 2011;11,1-9.
- 10. Rezende Chrisman J, Mattos IE, Koifman RJ, et al. Prevalence of very low birthweight, malformation, and low Apgar score among newborns in Brazil

according to maternal urban or rural residence at birth. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2016;42(5):496-504.

- 11. Setia MS, Methodology Series Module 3: Crosssectional Studies. Indian J Dermatol. 2016 May-Jun;61(3):261-4. doi: 10.4103/0019-5154.182410. PMID: 27293245; PMCID: PMC4885177.
- 12. UNICEF. About UNICEF. [online] Available at: https://www.unicef.org/about-unicef. Accessed February 20, 2023.
- 13. UNICEF. Maternal and Newborn Health Coverage. [online] Available at: https://data.unicef.org/ resources/dataset/maternal-newborn-health/. Accessed February 14, 2023.
- 14. Hamadeh N, Van Pompaey C, Metreau E. et al. New World Bank country classifications by income level: 2022-2023 [online]. Available at: https:// blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/new-world-bankcountry-classifications-income-level-2022-2023. Accessed August 1, 2023.
- 15. Partridge S, Balayla J, Holcroft CA, et al. Inadequate prenatal care utilization and risks of infant mortality and poor birth outcome: a retrospective analysis of 28,729,765 US deliveries over 8 years. Am J Perinatol 2012;29(10):787-794.
- 16. Margaret E, Nkechinyere C, Adeyanju O, et al. Emergency obstetric care: Urban versus rural comparison of health workers' knowledge, attitude and practice in river state, Nigeria-implications for maternal health care in rivers state. Clinical Medicine and Diagnostics;2013:3(2).
- 17. Saaka M, Akuamoah-Boateng J. Prevalence and determinants of rural-urban utilization of skilled delivery services in Northern Ghana. Scientifica 2020.
- 18. Ghazi Tabatabaie M, Moudi Z, Vedadhir A. Home birth and barriers to referring women with obstetric complications to hospitals: a mixedmethods study in Zahedan, southeastern Iran. Reprod Health 2012;9:1-10.
- World Health Organization. Newborns: Improving survival and well-being. Newborns: Improving survival and well-being. [online]. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/newborns-reducing-mortality. Accessed February 20, 2023.
- 20. Anand S, Bärnighausen T. Human resources and health outcomes: cross-country econometric study. The Lancet 2004;364(9445):1603-1609.
- 21. Paul VK. The current state of newborn health in low income countries and the way forward. In Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine 2006;11(1):7-14. WB Saunders.

- 22. Ruktanonchai CW, Ruktanonchai NW, Nove A, Lopes S, et al. Equality in maternal and newborn health: modelling geographic disparities in utilisation of care in five East African countries. PLoS One 2016;11(8):e0162006.
- 23. Machira K, Palamulen M. Rural–urban differences in the use of postnatal care services in Malawi. Journal of Egyptian Public Health Association 2017;92(1):1-10.
- 24. Samuel O, Zewotir T, North D. Decomposing the urban-rural inequalities in the utilisation of maternal health care services: evidence from 27 selected countries in Sub-Saharan Africa. Reprod Health 2021;18(1):1-12.
- 25. Ushie BA, Udoh EE, Ajayi AI. Examining inequalities in access to delivery by caesarean section in Nigeria. PLoS One 2019;14(8):e0221778.
- 26. Leone T, Padmadas SS, Matthews Z. Community factors affecting rising caesarean section rates in developing countries: an analysis of six countries. Soc Sci Med 2008;67(8):1236-1246.
- 27. Sudhof L, Amoroso C, Barebwanuwe P, et al. Local use of geographic information systems to improve data utilisation and health services: mapping caesarean section coverage in rural Rwanda. Tropical Medicine & International Health 2013;18(1):18-26.
- 28. Wyatt S, Silitonga PII, Febriani E, et al. Socioeconomic, geographic and health system factors associated with rising C-section rate in Indonesia: a cross-sectional study using the Indonesian demographic and health surveys from 1998 to 2017. BMJ open 2021;11(5): e045592.
- 29. Long Q, Kempas T, Madede T, et al. Caesarean section rates in Mozambique. BMC pregnancy and childbirth 2015;15(1):1-9.
- 30. Mumtaz S, Bahk J, Khang YH. Rising trends and inequalities in cesarean section rates in Pakistan: Evidence from Pakistan Demographic and Health Surveys, 1990-2013. PloS one 2017;12(10):e0186563.
- 31. Hernández-Vásquez A, Chacón-Torrico H, Bendezu-Quispe G. Prevalence of home birth among 880,345 women in 67 low-and middle-income countries: a meta-analysis of demographic and health surveys. SSM Popul Health 2021;16:100955.

Nu.	Countries	Nu.	Countries
1	Afghanistan	45	Mexico
2	Angola	46	North Macedonia
3	Albania	47	Mali
4	Armenia	48	Myanmar
5	Burundi	49	Montenegro
6	Benin	50	Mongolia
7	Burkina Faso	51	Malawi
8	Bangladesh	52	Namibia
9	Belarus	53	Niger
10	Belize	54	Nigeria
11	Barbados	55	Nepal
12	Bhutan	56	Pakistan
13	Central African Republic	57	Panama
14	Côte d'Ivoire	58	Philippines
15	Democratic Republic of the Congo	59	Democratic People's Republic of Korea
16	Congo	60	Paraguay
17	Costa Rica	61	State of Palestine
18	Cuba	62	Kosovo
19	Dominican Republic	63	Rwanda
20	Algeria	64	Sudan
21	Egypt	65	Senegal
22	Ethiopia	66	Solomon Islands
23	Gabon	67	Sierra Leone
24	Ghana	68	El Salvador
25	Guinea	69	Somalia
26	Gambia	70	Sao Tome and Principe
27	Guinea-Bissau	71	Eswatini
28	Guatemala	72	Chad
29	Guyana	73	Тодо
30	Honduras	74	Tajikistan
31	Haiti	75	Turkmenistan
32	Indonesia	76	Timor-Leste
33	India	77	Tonga
34	Iraq	78	Tunisia
35	Jordan	79	Türkiye
36	Kenya	80	Tuvalu
37	Kyrgyzstan	81	United Republic of Tanzania
38	Cambodia	82	Uganda
39	Kiribati	83	Ukraine
40	Lao People's Democratic Republic	84	Viet Nam
41	Liberia	85	Samoa
42	Lesotho	86	Yemen
43	Madagascar	87	Zambia
44	Maldives	88	Zimbabwe

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Peer bullying in adolescents and related factors





¹MD, Marmaris District Directorate of Health, Department of Public Health, Marmaris, Mugla, Türkiye ²Prof. Dr., Dokuz Eylul University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkiye

Received: 28.03.2023, Accepted: 27.03.2024

Abstract

Objective: This study aims to determine the frequency of peer bullying and being exposed to bullying in adolescents and the factors associated with these behaviors.

Methods: This cross-sectional study was carried out in a high school between February 2016 and November 2017. The study population was 203students. The 2013-2014 version of the questionnaire form (HBSCQ) used in the Health Behavior in School-aged Children study of the World Health Organization was used as the measurement tool. Chi-square, Fisher's Exact Test, Mann-Whitney U test were used in univariate analyses. Logistic regression analysis was used to show the effect of social support to bullying.

Results: The frequency of being exposed to peer bullying was 19.8%, and performing bullying was 23.7%. Being exposed to peer bullying was observed with a higher rate in those who migrated from another city (p=0.031). The average peer support score (p=0.001), family support score (p=0.039), and family communication score (p=0.028) were significantly lower in those who were exposed to bullying. The behavior of bullying was observed with a significantly higher rate in those with fewer siblings (p=0.028), had negative opinions about the school (p=0.024) and involved in a physical fight (p=0.001). According to the logistic regression analysis results, family support score was found to be protective against exposure to bullying. The protective effect of family communication and peer support scores continued to be significant after the adjustment.

Conclusion: The results of this study highlight the efficiency of social support in addressing and mitigating the effects of bullying among adolescents. School health programs should involve collaboration between teachers, administrators, parents, and students to create a unified approach to tackling bullying.

Keywords: Adolescent, Peer Bullying, School Health, Social Support

Correspondence: MD, Isik Top, Marmaris District Directorate of Health, Department of Public Health, Marmaris, Mugla, Türkiye. **E-mail:** isikt0@gmail.com, **Phone**: +90 505 145 76 40 **Cite This Article:** Top I, Unal B. Peer bullying in adolescents and related factors. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 23-34.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

Bullying is one of the common violent behaviors among school children. According to the data of the WHO Global Status Report on Preventing Violence Against Children in 2020, one in every three students in the age group of 11-15 is exposed to bullying.¹ Olweus proposed the most commonly used definition of bullying. According to this definition, bullying is referred to as situations in which an individual is exposed to repetitive negative actions by one or more people and cannot defend themselves due to the physical and psychological power imbalance.² Bullying can occur in the school environment, social environment, or on the internet. It may cause physical, psychological, and social harm and it may also have adverse effects on education.³ The main types of bullying are; physical, verbal, relational, and property damage.³ Physical bullying is bullying with acts of violence such as hitting, kicking, punching, spitting, and pushing. In verbal bullying, there are acts such as mocking, nicknaming, delivering offensive written notes, hand gestures, swearing, sexual discourse, and threatening. In the type of bullying that targets the young person's relationships, there are behaviors such as isolating the person from their friends, preventing them from establishing relationships with others, spreading false and harmful statements, making derogatory comments, spreading embarrassing images without the permission of the person. The type of bullying by damaging property includes stealing, damaging, seizing, refusing to return one's property, and deleting personal electronic information.³ Children exposed to bullying face a wide variety of risks, including psychiatric problems such

as depression, anxiety, suicide attempts, social weakness, school failure, dropout, low school attendance, substance abuse, and other violent behaviors. Most of these effects are acute; however, some may persist into late adolescence or even adulthood. Physical fighting and bullying are also associated with other risky behaviors such as smoking, alcohol abuse, and getting involved in crime.⁴ This study aims to determine the frequency of peer bullying and exposure in adolescents and the factors associated with these behaviors.

METHODS

This cross-sectional study was carried out in İzmir Güzelbahçe İMKB Vocational and Technical Anatolian High School between February 2016 and November 2017. Sample size was not calculated. All the ninth and tenth-grade students who attended the school in November 2016 were included in the study. The study group was 251 ninth and tenth-grade students enrolled in this high school in the 2016-2017 academic year. Eleven and twelfth-grades were excluded from the assessment because they were trained in workshops outside of the school or were out of the school due to their internships. The 2013-2014 version of the questionnaire form (HBSCQ) used in the Health Behavior in School-aged Children study of the World Health Organization was used as the measurement tool. The specific population targeted for sampling is young people attending school aged 11-15 years in the HBSC study. There are 74 questions under 14 subtitles in the HBSC questionnaire.⁵ The subheadings used in this study; demographic characteristics, risky behaviors, violence and injury, family relations, peer relations, health and well-being, school life, and social inequalities. The study protocol was used for all measurements.⁵ The students filled the questionnaire themselves in their classrooms. The dependent variables are exposure to peer bullying, performing peer bullying; whereas independent variables are gender, the age, parental education status, parental employment status, income perception, family welfare score (0-3 point low, 4-5 points average, 6-7 points high family welfare as the HBSC study protocol), family structure, the number of people living in the family, the number of siblings, the place of residence, immigration from one city to another, subjective health index, tobacco use, physical fight, school life-related variables (opinions about school, the pressure created by the coursework, opinions about school success), and variables related to social support (peer support, family support, communication with family). The variables were investigated using visual (histograms, probability plots) and analytical methods (Kolmogorov-Smirnov) to determine whether or not they are normally distributed. Descriptive findings were presented using percentage distributions for categorical variables; medians (1.-3. quartiles) for non-normally distributed variables and mean ± standard deviation (minmax) for normally distributed continuous variables. Chi-square, Fisher's Exact Test, Mann-Whitney U test were used in univariate analyses and logistic regression analysis was used in multivariate analyses. In the logistic regression analysis, how the dependent variables are affected by social support scores is presented both with the unadjusted model and adjusted for sociodemographic variables. The significance level was accepted as p < 0.05. Ethics committee approval was obtained from Dokuz Eylul University Clinical Research

Ethics Committee on 05.05.2016 with the decision number of 2016/08-07. Informed consent was obtained from both parents and participants. To apply the questionnaires to the students, institutional permission was obtained from the Provincial Directorate of National Education of the Governorship of İzmir, on 28.09.2016 with the permission number 12018877-604.01.02-E.10432745.

RESULTS

203 students participated in the study (response rate: 80.9%). The average age was 15.5 ± 0.8 (14-17), 86.9% of the students were males and 13.1% were females. The class distribution was as following: 54.5% were ninth-graders and 45.5% were tenth-graders. 65.2% of the mothers and 64.4% of the fathers had secondary school level or lower education level. 68.5% of mothers and 6.3% of fathers either did not working at all or were worked in daily jobs with irregular incomes. It was determined that 6.0% of the students evaluated their economic situation as very bad/bad. 11.9% of the students did not have a private room belonged to them, 17.4% did not have a laptop/computer, 41.3% did not have a family-owned car, etc., and 19.0% did not have a dishwasher in the household. 22.5% of the students stated that they did not have a vacation over the past year. The average family welfare score, which was calculated using these variables in determining the family's economic status, was 4.7 ± 1.7 (0-7). Accordingly, 23.6% of the students had low family welfare. While 93.8% of the students had a nuclear family structure consisting of mothers, fathers and siblings, 6.2% had an extended family structure. The median total number of persons living in the family was 4.0 (4-5). The median number of siblings,

excluding the students themselves, was 1.0 (1-2).The distribution of students according to their place of residence was as follows:

21.8% of students lived in rural areas while 19.9% had moved from another city in the last five years.

When examining some health complaints that the students stated that they had experienced in the last six months, 25.5% had back pain, 23.6% had headaches, 22.0% had difficulties while falling asleep, 14.9% had stomach pain, 13.8% suffered from dizziness once a week or more frequently. 33.4% of the students reported feeling sad, while 48.3% felt angry once a week or more. The average subjective health index score calculated according to the frequency of these complaints was 28.9 ± 5.7 (12.0-35.0).

29.5% of the students in the research samples had a negative opinion of the school. The proportion of the students who felt more or less pressured by courses and assignments was 83.4%. 46.5% of the students responded medium/low when asked to rate their success at school compared to their classmates.

14.6% of the students used tobacco and tobacco products at least once every day. The average age of students' first exposure to tobacco products such as cigarettes and hookahs was 13.0 ± 1.8 (7-17). The frequency of students getting involved in a physical fight in the last 1 year was found to be 58.9%.

17.9% of the students stated that it was difficult/very difficult to talk to their mothers, and 26.9% stated that it was difficult/very difficult to talk to their fathers. Approximately 80% of the students stated a positive opinion about their communication with their families. The average family communication score

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

calculated using those propositions was 4.3 ± 0.8 (1-5). Approximately 80% of the students expressed a positive opinion regarding the propositions about the support they received from their families. The mean family support score calculated using these items was 4.3 ± 0.9 (1-5). Approximately 70% of the students stated positive opinions regarding the propositions about their friends. The mean peer support score calculated using these items was 4.1 ± 0.9 (1-5).

The frequency of being exposed to peer bullying at least once in the last two months was 19.8%, and the frequency of performing bullying was 23.7%. Characteristics of the study group by bullying was presented in Table1. In the past five years, 32.4% of those who migrated from another city to their current settlement and 16.7% of the locals stated that they were exposed to peer bullying at least once in the last two months. The difference between immigrants and natives was statistically significant (p=0.031). Gender, age, parental education status, parental employment status, number of siblings, number of family members, place of residence, income perception, family welfare score did not affect exposure to bullying (Table 1).

28.9% of those with one sibling or less and 15.1% of those with two or more siblings had bullied a peer in the previous two months. The prevalence of bullying behavior was significantly higher among those with fewer siblings (p=0.028). Performing bullying was observed more often in those with a family of four or less than those with a larger family (p=0.004). Gender, age, parental education status, parental employment status, place of residence, immigration, income perception, family welfare score did not affect bullying (Table 1). **Table 1.** Being exposed to bullying and performing bullying according to the sociodemographic characteristics

Characteristics	B	eing Ex	posed	l to Bu	lying	Performing Bullying				
		les	1	No	р		Yes	N	0	р
	n	%	n	%		n	%	n	%	
Gender			_							
Male	35	21.0	132	79.0	0.374*	43	24.3	134	75.7	0.788*
Female	2	10.0	18	90.0		4	19.0	17	81.0	
Education level of mother										
Middle school and below	17	14.8	98	85.2	0.066	29	23.4	95	76.6	0.852
High school and above	18	25.7	52	74.3		16	22.2	56	77.8	
Education level of father										
Middle school and below	25	21.6	91	78.4	0.656	27	21.8	97	78.2	0.573
High school and above	12	18.8	52	81.3		17	25.4	50	74.6	-
Employment status of mot	her									
Working	14	24.6	43	75.4	0.325	15	25.4	44	74.6	0.627
Not working	23	18.3	103	81.7		30	22.2	105	77.8	
Employment status of fathe	er							I		
Working	34	20.6	131	79.4	1.000*	39	22.4	135	77.6	1.000*
Not working	2	15.4	11	84.6		3	23.1	10	76.9	•
Number of siblings										
At most 1	26	22.6	89	77.4	0.179	35	28.9	86	71.1	0.028
2 and above	10	14.5	59	85.5		11	15.1	62	84.9	
Number of the people in th	e fami	ily						1		
At most 4	24	21.6	87	78.4	0.327	36	30.8	81	69.2	0.004
5 and above	11	15.7	59	84.3		9	12.50	63	87.5	•
The present place of reside	ence									
Urban	31	21.7	112	78.3	0.321	34	22.5	117	77.5	0.297
Rural	6	14.6	35	85.4		13	30.2	30	69.8	•
Migration										
Yes	12	32.4	25	67.6	0.031	12	30.8	27	69.2	0.249
No	25	16.7	125	83.3		35	22.0	124	78.0	•
Perception of income										
Very good-Good-Average	32	18.5	141	81.5	0.701*	42	22.8	142	77.2	0.481*
Bad-Very bad	3	25.6	9	27.0)		4	33.3	8	66.7	
Family welfare score										
High	7	21.2	26	78.8	0.937	9	25.0	27	75.0	0.985
Average	22	20.4	86	79.6		27	23.9	86	76.1	•
Low	8	18.2	36	81.8		11	23.4	36	76.6	•

*Fisher's Exact Test

No significant relationship was found between views about school, the pressure of coursework, perception of school success, everyday tobacco use, and involvement in physical fighting in the last year and being bullied (Table 2).

Those who had negative opinions about the school performed more bullying than those

who did not have negative opinions about the school (p = 0.024). Those involved in a physical fight in the last year performed more bullying than those who did not involve in a physical fight in the last year (p=0.001). No significant relationship was found between the pressure of coursework, perception of school achievement, daily tobacco use and bullying (Table 2).

Table 2. Being exposed to bullying and performing bullying according to views about school life, tobacco use and physical fighting.

use and physical lighting.										
Characteristics	Being Exposed to Bullying				ng	Performing Bullying				
	Yes		No		р	Yes		No		р
	n	%	n	%		n	%	n	%	
Views about the school										
I like/dislike a lot	23	17.0	112	83.0	0.112	27	19.4	112	80.6	0.024
I do not like it very much/at all	14	27.5	37	72.5		20	34.5	38	65.5	
Pressure of coursework										
None/Light/Some	27	20.0	108	80.0	1.000	29	20.4	113	79.6	0.059
Heavy	10	20.0	40	80.0	-	18	33.3	36	66.7	
Perception of school success										
Very good-good	17	17.2	82	82.8	0.337	21	20.2	83	79.8	0.285
Average	14	20.0	56	80.0		19	25.3	56	74.7	
Low	5	33.3	10	66.7	_	6	37.5	10	62.5	
Everyday tobacco use										
Yes	6	21.4	22	78.6	0.763	11	37.9	18	62.1	0.059
No	30	19.0	128	81.0		36	21.7	130	8.3	·
Physical fighting										
Yes	26	24.3	81	75.7	0.095	37	33.3	74	66.7	0.001
No	11	14.3	66	85.7		10	12.7	69	87.3	

The average peer support score, family support score, and family communication score were significantly lower in those who were exposed to bullying (p=0.001, p=0.039, p=0.028, respectively). No significant relationship was found between subjective health index and exposure to bullying (Table 3).

No significant relationship was found between subjective health index, peer support score, family support score, family communication score and bullying in the last two months (Table 3).

performing burying (Median (1. 3. quartnes).										
	Being Exposed to	Bullying	<i>p</i> *	Performing Bully	<i>p</i> *					
	Yes	No		Yes	No					
	Median	Median	-	Median	Median	-				
	(13. quartiles)	(13. quartiles)		(13. quartiles)	(13. quartiles)					
Subjective health index	28.0 (27.0-31.0)	31.0 (25.0–34.5)	0.064	29.0 (25.0-32.0)	31 (25.8-34.0)	0.133				
Peer support score	4.0 (3.0-4.3)	4.3 (3.8-5.0)	0.001	4.3 (3.8-5.0)	4.0 (3.6-4.8)	0.567				
Family support score	4.5 (3.4-4.9)	4.8 (4.0-5.0)	0.039	4.5 (3.7-5.0)	4.8 (4.0-5.0)	0.593				
Family communication	4.3 (3.3-4.8)	4.8 (4.0-5.0)	0.028	4.5 (3.8-5.0)	4.5 (4.0-5.0)	0.693				
score										

Table 3. Subjective health index and social support scores according to exposure to bullying and performing bullving (Median (1.-3. quartiles).

* Mann-Whitney U test

The logistic regression analysis results, which show the effect of peer support score, family support score, and family communication score by correcting the effect of sociodemographic variables, are presented in Table 4.

Family support score was found to be protective against exposure to bullying after being adjusted for sociodemographic variables (OR: 0.60, 95% CI: 0.363-0.974). The protective effect of family communication and peer support scores continued to be significant after the adjustment (Table 4).

Family communication score, family support score, peer support score did not significantly affect performing bullying in the last two months, neither in corrected nor in unadjusted models as demonstrated in Table 4.

Table 4. Association between social support scores and being exposed to bullying and performing bullying, OR, 95% CI									
Characteristics	Being Exposed to Bullying				Performing Bullying				
	Crude OR	Р	Adj. OR*	р	Crude OR	р	Adj. OR*	р	
	(95 %CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)		
Family	0.66	0.047	0.44	0.004	0.93	0.738	0.94	0.935	
Communication Score	(0.432-0.994)		(0.246-0.771)		(0.627-1.392)		(0.534-1.638)		
Family Support	0.77	0.151	0.60	0.039	0.90	0.563	0.90	0.677	
Score	(0.532-1.102)		(0.363-0.974)		(0.640-1.275)		(0.547-1.479)		
Peer Support Score	0.54	0.002	0.50	0.003	1.20	0.355	0.71	0.201	
	(0.363-0.789)		(0.314-0.787)		(0.814-1.777)		(0.174-2.882)		

* Adjusted according to age, gender, parental education status, employment status of parents, number of siblings, number of people living in the family, place of residence, migration, family welfare score.

DISCUSSION

In this study, 19.8% of the students have been exposed to bullying in the last two months. According to HSBC Türkiye's results in 2006, 65.2% of students stated they were bullied in the last two months.⁶ In a study conducted with middle school students in Izmir, exposure to bullying was 42.3%.⁷ In the present study, exposure to bullying is very low compared to other studies. This may be because the study group was older than other studies and the study was conducted in only one school.

In 42 countries where the HBSC protocol in 2013-2014 was followed, the frequency

of being exposed to bullying in the last two months specific to the age of 15was found to be 23%. There were significant differences (49% -6%) between countries regarding the frequency of being exposed to bullying. The countries with the highest rate of being bullied were Lithuania (49%), Latvia (41%), Belgium (40%). The countries with the lowest rate of being bullied were Italy (8%), Iceland (8%), and Armenia (6%).⁸ In the 2017-2018 follow-up of the same study, the frequency of being bullied at least two times in the last two months was 8%, and it was stated that there was no significant change compared to the follow-up conducted four years ago.⁹ According to the 2019 results of the Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS) in the USA, 19.5% of high school students had been exposed to peer bullying in the last twelve months. There was no significant change in that frequency in the last ten years.¹⁰ Our study has similar findings to the studies in Europe and the ones in the USA.

In this study, those who immigrated from another city to their place of residence in the last five years were exposed to more bullying. The relationship between migration and health behaviors in ninth to twelfth graders was observed in five regions in the USA's YRBS cohort. No relationship was found between migrating to a place in the last six years and being bullied. In one of the five regions, migrating to a place more than six years ago increased the exposure to bullying 1.7 (1.2-2.6) times.¹¹ This finding may be due to cultural differences between countries. Detailed information such as where the immigrant students came from and the reason of their migration was not questioned in that study. Therefore, it was not possible to fully explain the relationship between migration Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

and bullying.

No relationship was found between other sociodemographic variables and exposure to bullying. Although there are studies in the literature with similar findings to the present study where there is no difference in terms of gender^{7, 12, 13}, there are also studies that report more exposure to bullying in men^{14, 15, 16}, besides the studies that report more exposure to bullying in women.¹⁷ In the international HBSC 2013-2014 study, in line with our study, no gender difference was found in most countries.⁸ In the literature, the rate of exposure to bullying usually decreases with age.^{6, 8, 18} Similar to our study, in a study conducted in Izmir, no significant relationship was found between age and exposure to bullying.¹² In the studies of Açıkgöz and Basaran, no significant relationship was found between exposure to bullying and parental educational status, which is similar to our study.^{16, 17} In the study of Mercan and Sarı, no significant relationship was found between being bullied and the father's educational status while the rate of being bullied was found higher in those with mothers who had a high level of education.¹² In some studies, exposure to bullying was observed more frequently in students with parents who had a lower level of education.^{7, 18} In the literature, generally, there was no difference in terms of income, in line with this study.^{7, 12, 17, 18} However, in Açıkgöz's study, those with low income were exposed to bullying lower than those with higher income.¹⁶ This study is similar to the literature regarding the employment status of parents, family structure, and the number of people living at home.^{12, 17} Although there was no significant relationship with the number of siblings in the present study, there are studies that suggest a higher rate of being bullied in
students with no siblings¹⁶ and those with a higher number of siblings.¹⁷ Since the study was conducted in a single school and the study group was homogenous, it may not have been able to reveal the relationship between bullying end sociodemographic variables.

School-related variables did not affect exposure to bullying in this study. Studies conducted in Izmir and Sakarya support our findings.^{7, 16} In the Research with East London Adolescents: Community Health Survey (RELACHS) study conducted with 2790 adolescents aged between 11-14 in England, it was stated that being successful in school was protective against bullying.¹⁹ The difference in the measurement method may have caused this difference.

When the variables related to social support were examined, family communication, family support, and peer support scores were found to be protective against exposure to bullying when corrected according to sociodemographic variables in multivariate analysis. There are various results in the literature on this subject. In a school study conducted with 13,633 tenth-grade students in Norway, where the relationship between social support and exposure to bullying was examined, high family support was found to be protective against bullying while peer support did not significantly affect exposure to bullying.²⁰ In the Izmir study, similar to our study, exposure to bullying was found 1.8 times more in those with low peer support.⁷ Again, in Ünal's study, exposure to bullying was reported as high in people who had unhealthy communication within the family.²¹ According to the results of the RELACHS research, high peer support was protective against being bullied. No significant relationship was found between family support and being bullied.¹⁹ In line with all these findings, it can be concluded that social support affects bullying behavior in adolescents in various ways. This effect may have different dimensions in different research groups.

In this study, the frequency of bullying is 23.7%. In the HBSC Türkiye study, the frequency of the bullying was found to be 40.7%.⁶ Accordingly, it can be affirmed that the rate of bullying in our sample is lower than Türkiye's overall rate. In a study conducted with middle school students in Izmir, the frequency of bullying was 20.3%, similar to our study.⁷

According to the results of International HBSC 2013-2014, the frequency of bullying was 26%. There were also significant differences between countries in terms of the frequency of bullying. The countries with the highest rates of bullying were Latvia (55%), Lithuania (52%), and Ukraine (45%). The countries with the lowest rates of bullying were Iceland (11%), Armenia (10%), and Sweden (8%).²⁷ In the HBSC 2017-2018 follow-up, the rates of bullying were reported to be at similar levels with the previous follow-up.⁹

In some studies, the act of bullying was more common in males than females.^{6, 8, 14, 15, 16, 21} Similar to our study, there was no difference in gender, as reported in Çelenk and Başaran.^{13, ¹⁷ Some studies suggested that bullying gradually decreased with age.^{6, 8} However, the studies of Mercan and Ünal were similar to the present study.^{12, 21} In the Izmir study, it was reported that bullying was more frequent among people whose mothers had low educational status.⁷ In Başaran's study, it was found that bullying was higher among those who had working mothers.¹⁷ In Açıkgöz's study, it was stated that those with higher} income exhibited more bullying behavior.¹⁶ Such differences were not observed in our study. Although bullying was observed more in those with a low number of siblings in the present study, there were studies in which bullying was observed more in individuals with a higher number of siblings.¹⁶ Unlike this study, in Başaran's study, the number of people in the family did not affect bullying.¹⁷ These differences may be since the study was conducted in only one school with a limited sample size.

Bullying was found more frequently among those who had negative views about the school. In another study conducted in Izmir, opinions about the school did not affect bullying.⁷ Results regarding the school success were similar to those in the literature.^{16, 21} Social support-related variables did not significantly affect bullying in this study. However, in the literature, there were studies in which bullying was more common in individuals with unhealthy family communication.²¹ These differences may be due to the differences in the methodology.

The strengths of this study lie in its examination of bullying behavior .Bullying is a fundamental problem in improving school health and adolescent health. The present study evaluates the impact of social support problems on bullying behavior, which is not frequently addressed in Türkiye. An apparent limitation of the study is that it was conducted in a single high school, a vocational high school. As a result of the education, examination, and the high school placement system in Türkiye, sociodemographically disadvantaged students generally receive education in vocational high schools. This situation makes it difficult to generalize the results to all high school youth. Additionally, perceptions of risky behaviors may be measured higher or lower than they actually are in a homogeneous and at the same time disadvantaged study group. This homogeneous study group may have caused limitations in showing the relationships between dependent variables and independent variables. Filling the questionnaire at school may have caused students anxiety when answering some questions. For this reason, different answers may have been given to some questions. In order to control this, it was explained to all participants that their identity information and all answers would be completely confidential, would not be shared with the school administration and that the data would be used only for research purposes. Since the bullying behavior was evaluated by asking for the past two months, some questions may be answered with less accuracy due to memory constraints. The results of the present study have shown that social support is effective in dealing with bullying and reducing bullying. The results of the present study can serve as a basis for further research and for the attempts to reduce bullying behavior in adolescents.

CONCLUSION

The findings of this research highlight the efficiency of social support in addressing and mitigating bullying, providing a foundation for future studies and interventions aimed at reducing bullying among adolescents. School health programs should involve collaboration between teachers, administrators, parents, and students to create a unified approach to tackling bullying.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Conflict of Interest: On behalf of all authors, I, as the corresponding author, accept and declare that; we have no affiliations with or involvement in any organization or entity with any financial interest or non-financial interest in the subject matter or materials discussed in this manuscript.

Financial Support: No financial support was used by authors during this study.

Declaration: Ethical Ethics committee approval was obtained from Dokuz Eylül University Clinical Research Ethics Committee on 05.05.2016 with the decision number of 2016/08-07.

Author contribution: Concept: IT, Design: IT, BU, Supervising: BU, Financing and equipment: IT, BU, Data collection and entry: IT, Analysis and interpretation: IT, BU, Literature search: IT, Writing: IT, Critical review: BU.

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. Global status report on 1. preventing violence against children 2020 [Online]. Available at: https://www.who.int/teams/socialdeterminants-of-health/violence-prevention/ global-status-report-on-violence-againstchildren-2020. Accessed December 2,2020.
- 2. Olweus, D. Understanding children's worlds. Bullying at school: What we know and what we can do. Oxford Blackwell Publishing, 1993.
- 3. Gladden RM, Vivolo-Kantor AM, Hamburger ME, Lumpkin CD. Bullying Surveillance Among Youths: Uniform Definitions for Public Health and Recommended Data Elements, Version 1.0. Atlanta, GA. In: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and U.S. Department of Education [Online]. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/ violenceprevention/pdf/bullying-definitionsfinal-a.pdf. Accessed January 2,2020.
- WHO Regional Office for Europa. Bullying 4 And Physical Fights Among Adolescents Fact sheet, 15 March 2016 [Online]. Available at: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_ file/0005/303485/HBSC-No.7_factsheet_Bullying.

5. Currie C, Inchley J, Molcho M. et al. Health Behavior in School-aged Children (HBSC) Study Protocol: Methodology and Backgroubd, Mandatory items for the 2013/14 survey. In: St Andrews: CAHRU [Online]. Available at: https://hbsc.org/ publications/survey-protocols/. Accessed July 26, 2017.

pdf?ua=1. Accessed December 7, 2017.

- 6. Ercan O, Alikaşifoğlu M, Erginöz E. et al. Okul Çağı Cocuklarının Sağlık Davranışı Araştırması Türkiye 2006 Raporu. İstanbul: Galenos Yayınevi, 2009.
- 7. Sipahi HT. İzmir İli Bornova İlcesinde İlköğretim 6. Ve 7. Sınıf Öğrencilerinde Akran Zorbalığı, Etkileyen Ve Eşlik Eden Faktörler. Ph.D. Thesis in Public Health. İzmir, 2008
- 8. Incley J, Currie D, Young T. et al. Growing up unequal: gender and socioeconomic differences in young people's health and well-being. Health Behaviour In School-Aged Children (HBSC) Study: International Report From The 2013/2014 Survey Health Policy For Children And Adolescents. In: WHO Regional Office for Europe Publications [Online]. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/326320. Accessed July 26, 2017.
- 9. Inchley J, Currie D, Budisavljevic S. et al. Spotlight on adolescent health and well-being. Findings From The 2017/2018 Health Behaviour In School-Aged Children (HBSC) Survey In Europe And Canada International Report. In: Publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe [Online]. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332104. Accessed December 2, 2020
- 10. Basile KC, Clayton HB, DeGue S. et al. Interpersonal Violence Victimization Among High School Students, Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance -United States, 2019. MMWR Suppl 2020; 69(1);28-37.
- 11. Jones SE, Pezzi C, Rodriguez-Lainz A, Whittle L. Health Risk Behaviors by Length of Time in the United States among High School Students in Five Sites. Journal of immigrant and minority health / Center for Minority Public Health. 2016;18(1):150-160.
- 12. Mercan H, Yıldırım SH. Peer Bullying and Relationship Between Sociodemographic Characteristics of High School Students. Florence Nightingale Journal of Nursing 2018; 26(1), 21-29.
- 13. Adalar TEC, Yıldızlar O. Investigation of high school students from bullying and victimization. Journal of Health and Life Science 2019;1(2):24-31.
- 14. Ayas T, Pişkin M. Lise Öğrencileri Arasındaki Zorbalık Olaylarının Cinsiyet, Sınıf Düzeyi ve Okul Türü Bakımından İncelenmesi. İlköğretim Online 2011; 10(2), 550-568.

- 15. Gökkaya F, Sütcü ST. An Investigation of the Prevalence of Peer Bullying Among Middle School Students. Hacettepe University Journal of Education 2018; 35(1), 40-54.
- 16. Açıkgöz T. Bullying and Attitude Towards Secondary School Students: Sample of Kartepe District. M.Sc. Thesis. March, 2017.
- 17. Başaran AG, Polat HH. The Prevalance of Bullying Among High School Students in Rize Province and Affecting Factors. Sağlık ve Toplum 2017;27(2).
- 18. Adolesan Dönemde Fiziksel Ve Cinsel Büyüme Ve Gelişme Ve Psikososyal Gelişme. THSK Bulaşıcı olmayan Hastalıklar Daire Başkanlığı Eğitici eğitimi kitapları [Online]. Available at: http://yeni.thsk. gov.tr/depo/thsk/bulasici-olmayan-by/Kadin_ Ve_Ureme_Sagligi_db/Dokumanlar/Kitaplar/ egitimci-kitaplari/Genclere-Yonelik-Ureme-Sagligi-Hizmetleri/Adolesan-Donemde-Fizikselve-Cinsel-Buyume-ve-Gelisme-ve-Psikososyal-Gelisme.pdf. Accessed October 1, 2017.
- Rothon C, Head J, Klineberg E, Stansfeld S. Can social support protect bullied adolescents from adverse outcomes? A prospective study on the effects of bullying on the educational achievement and mental health of adolescents at secondary schools in East London. Journal of Adolescence. 2011;34(3):579-588.
- 20. Strom IF, Thoresen S, Wentzel-Larsen T, Sagatun A, Dyb G. A Prospective Study of the Potential Moderating Role of Social Support in Preventing Marginalization Among Individuals Exposed to Bullying and Abuse in Junior High School. Journal of Youth and Adolescence 2014;43(10):1642-1657.
- 21. Unal N. Investigation of Family Functionality Detected by Adolescents with Peer Bullying. M.Sc. Thesis. Ankara, 2019.

,

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Surgical mask usage effects: a self-questionnaire study of 7.014 responders during the COVID-19 pandemic

ip Özlem Soyer Er¹, b Meryem Yavuz Van Giersbergen²

¹Assist. Prof. Dr., Afyonkarahisar Health Sciences University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Surgical Nursing Department, Afyonkarahisar, Türkiye

²Prof. Dr., Ege University, Nursing Faculty, Surgical Nursing Department, İzmir, Türkiye

Received: 24.08.2023, Accepted: 03.04.2024

Abstract

Objective: WHO has advised to conduct research the adverse consequences of surgical mask use in the community. This study aimed to determine the effects of surgical mask use during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: This descriptive study was conducted with 7014 respondents from 81 provinces of Turkey between August and November 2021. In the collection of data, a form on socio demographic characteristics, knowledge level questionnaire on surgical mask use, surgical mask usage characteristics questionnaire, and questionnaire on symptoms related to surgical mask use were used. In the analysis of the data, number, percentage, mean, standard deviation, Chi-square, and logistic regression analysis were used.

Results: The mean age of the respondents was 33.1 ± 12.5 years, 54.8% of whom were women. 42.4% of the respondents stated that they felt protected by the mask and 69.7% of them stated that they had problems with the use of masks. The mean score of the respondents' knowledge questionnaire regarding the use of surgical masks was found to be 5.33 ± 1.88 . The mean symptom score of the respondents after the use of surgical masks was 2.57 ± 2.67 . During mask use, respiratory symptoms were seen most commonly, by 72.9% of the respondents. There was a significant relationship between male gender, chronic disease, not washing hands after contact with masks, removing masks in public enviroment, having spare masks, and symptoms after surgical mask use (p<0.05).

Conclusion: Hand contact with the mask, and not washing the hands afterwards, removing the surgical mask were modifiable factors that increase the risk.

Keywords: Mask, COVID-19, Personal Protective Equipment

Correspondence: Assist. Prof., Özlem Soyer Er, Afyonkarahisar Health Sciences University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Surgical Nursing Department, Afyonkarahisar, Türkiye. **E-mail:** ozlemm_soyer@hotmail. com, **Phone:**+90 553 485 38 71

Cite This Article: Er ÖS, Giersbergen MY. Surgical mask usage effects: a self-questionnaire study of 7.014 responders during the COVID-19 pandemic. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 35-48.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) was an infectious disease caused by a newly discovered coronavirus, and it was first seen in the world in Wuhan, China in December 2019,¹ and for the first time in Turkey on March 10.² COVID-19 was a global social crisis,³ and the WHO classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic on March 11, 2020, due to its highly contagious nature.⁴

SARS-CoV-2 virus transmission is known occur through respiratory droplets to and contact. Coughing, sneezing, talking, breathing and touching cause the virus to spread.⁵ WHO recommends that methods of protection against coronavirus include maintaining physical distance, avoiding crowds and close contact, washing hands frequently with alcohol-based hand sanitizer or soap and water, and covering the mouth and nose with bent elbow or handkerchief when coughing or sneezing as methods of protection from coronavirus. In addition, a mask should be worn properly in settings with inadequate ventilation and impossibility of physical distance.⁴ It has been reported that the use of masks in the community during past epidemics prevented transmission during the course of infectious diseases such as influenza.^{5,6} It has been stated that the use of masks should be considered as an additional preventive strategy during the COVID-19 pandemic.7

The use of surgical masks has been identified by the WHO as one of the preventive measures to limit the spread of COVID-19 pandemic.⁸ The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) has also stated that mask use is a critical public health tool.⁹ With the declaration of COVID-19 as a pandemic,

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

the use of masks became mandatory, and by the end of June 2020, approximately 90% of the world's population had to comply with mask use laws.⁵ In Turkey, the use of masks became mandatory by province in May 2020 and a mask requirement was introduced when going out in 25 provinces. The mask requirement was lifted after 629 days, with the exception of hospitals.^{8,10,11}

The most important advantage of using masks in infectious diseases such as COVID-19 is that when used correctly, it prevents the spread of viruses and reduces the risk of transmission.¹² The use of masks has positive effects as well as negative effects. Negative effects of mask use in the community include increased potential risks such as touching the eyes with contaminated hands after touching the face mask, the possibility of self-contamination by the user, experiencing problems such as headaches and/or difficulty breathing, skin lesions, irritation or worsening of acne, difficulty communicating, discomfort with the mask, and a false sense of security.8 Prolonged mask use has been associated with complaints of dizziness, as well as increased perceived exertion and perceived shortness of breath. Other problems such as acne, nasal bridge scarring, facial itching, redness/ irritation, dry eye and discomfort associated with increased facial temperatures have also been reported with mask use.¹³⁻²⁰ It is thought that mask use may have psychological as well as physiological effects.²¹ While WHO recommends the use of masks in the general population, it advises decision-makers to take a risk-based approach. In the risk-based approach, one of the issues to be addressed is to assess the feasibility of using masks. In other words, it is the determination of the negative effects of mask use on people.⁸

This study was aimed to determine the characteristics and effects of surgical mask use during the COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on humans who are not healthcare professionals.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

This study was a descriptive study designed to determine the characteristics and effects of surgical mask use during the COVID-19 pandemic in Turkey.

This study was conducted between August 12 and November 18, 2021. The study was conducted face-to-face in 81 provinces of Turkey after obtaining the necessary ethical permission to conduct the study. The sample of the study included people over the age of 18 who were not health care professionals, who were not mentally and visually impaired, and who volunteered to participate in the research. To reach the sample, a stratified sampling method was used according to geographical regions to cover all provinces in order to reflect the use of masks in Turkey. In 2019, 83,154,997 people lived in our country. 1,061,635 of them were health care professionals. 22,876,798 of them were children under the age of 18.²² It was known that there were approximately 788,941 mentally and visually impaired citizens in our country.²³ If health care professionals, children, and the mentally handicapped population were excluded, the total population of the research was 58,427,623 people. The value we predict for the incidence of problems related to the use of masks is 20%. Calculating according to the formula²⁴ used in cases where the size of population was known, if we accept the sampling error as 1.0% and the statistical significance level as 5%, it was necessary to conduct this study with at least 6146 people. 6150 adults were planned to be included because some data might be lost. A total of 7474 people were interviewed. It was found that 460 questionnaires were stopped before completion and there were missing data. The sample consisted of 7014 people. The participation rate in the study was 93.8%.

Data Collection

The data of this study were collected faceto-face between August 12 and November 18, 2021. The study was conducted out simultaneously in all provinces of Turkey. For this purpose, services were purchased to conduct the surveys. The collected data were entered into the online system on a weekly basis. Therefore, when all available data were entered, more data were obtained. After eliminating the missing data in the data, the analysis was done with the available data. It took about 8-11 minutes to complete the questionnaire. In the study, a form on socio demographic characteristics, a questionnaire on knowledge of surgical mask use, a questionnaire on characteristics of surgical mask use, and a questionnaire on symptoms related to surgical mask use were used as data collection tools.

Instruments

In the data collection of the research; in accordance with the Sociodemographic Characteristics Form²¹ and "Knowledge Level Questionnaire on Surgical Mask Use", "Surgical Mask Usage Characteristics Questionnaire" and "Questionnaire on Symptoms Related to Surgical Mask Use", which were developed by the researchers in accordance with the literature, were used. After the questionnaire

forms were developed, they were submitted to the expert review. The content validity of the questionnaire was ensured. Cronbach's alpha value was calculated and presented for each questionnaire to assess reliablity.

SociodemographicCharacteristicsForm;There were a total of 9 questions about respondents' sociodemographic characteristics including age, gender, educational status, place of residence, employment, and chronic disease status.

Knowledge Level Questionnaire on Surgical Mask Use was developed by researchers in accordance with the literature.²¹ In the questionnaire form, there were a total of 7 questions including the characteristics of a good surgical mask, the protective properties of the surgical mask, the times and situations when the surgical mask should be put on and taken off, the ways to obtain a surgical mask, methods to avoid the problems associated with the surgical mask, and knowing how to dispose of the surgical mask after use. Respondents answered the questions as I know, partially know, or I don't know. The I know the option was scored 1 point, the partially option was scored 0.5 point, and the I don't know option was scored 0 point. The total score obtained from the questionnaire varies between 0 and 7 points. The Cronbach alpha value of the questionnaire for this study was found to be 0.881.

The Surgical Mask Usage Characteristics Questionnaire was developed by researchers in accordance with the literature.²¹ The questionnaire contained 13 questions regarding the characteristics of the respondents' use of surgical masks, the process of obtaining the mask, the characteristics of mask use, applications for problem solving,

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

hygiene rules, and mask disposal methods. The Cronbach alpha value of the questionnaire for this study was found to be 0.702.

A Questionnaire on Symptoms Related Surgical Mask Use was developed to by researchers in accordance with the literature.²¹ The questionnaire contained a total of 30 questions, including 29 different symptoms that may be experienced due to the use of masks in accordance with the literature, 30 closed-ended questions, and one open-ended question about the practices they have used to solve the problems they have experienced. Respondents answer to closedended questions as having problems or not having problems. The I have problems option was scored as 1 point, and the I do not have problems option was scored as 0 points. The symptom score was obtained as a sum of the symptom responses. The total score obtained from the questionnaire varied between 0 and 29 points. The Cronbach alpha value of the questionnaire for this study was found to be 0.744.

Data Analysis

SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) for Windows 21.0 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) was used to analyze the data obtained from the research. Sociodemographic characteristics, knowledge levels, and symptoms of the respondents were described with numbers, percentages, means, and standard deviations. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test was used to determine whether the data followed a normal distribution. An independent two-sample t-test was used. The level of knowledge about the mask was grouped by cluster analysis according to the occurrence of symptoms. Logistic regression was used to predict the relationship between mask use symptoms and mask wearing characteristics. Respondents were divided into two groups for logistic regression analysis: "those with 2 or less symptoms" and " those with 3 or more symptoms". Respondents who were younger than 33 years, female, postgraduate, living in a village, not working, had no a chronic disease, had a high level of mask knowledge, usually wore a mask, wore four or more masks, changed a mask often, wore a mask for 1-6 hours, did not touch the mask with their hands, did not remove the mask in a public environment, believed that the mask was protective, and always kept a spare mask were included in the logistic regression analysis as dummy variables. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant for all results. (p<0.05).

RESULTS

Sociodemographic Characteristics

The distribution of the respondents participating in the study by provinces in Turkey was shown Figure 1. The highest participation in the study was from Kahramanmaraş province with a rate of 28.0%, and the lowest participation was from Kırıkkale and Kilis provinces with at a rate of 0.1. In terms of population density, the participation rates in almost all provinces were close to each other (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Distribution of Respondents by Province

The mean age of the respondents was 33.1±12.5 years, of which 54.8% were female. 35.4% of the respondents had a bachelor's degree. 69.2% of the respondents lived in the province. 52.8% of the respondents were employed. 18.8% of the respondents had at least one chronic disease. The sociodemographic information of the respondents was shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Distribution of respondents'				
sociodemographic characte		0/		
	n	%		
Age (Mean±SD)	33.1±2	12.5		
Gender				
Female	3842	54.8		
Male	3172	45.2		
Education				
Literate	108	1.5		
Primary school	659	9.4		
Middle school	824	11.7		
High school	1699	24.2		
Associate degree	759	10.8		
Bachelor's	2482	35.4		
degree				
Postgraduate	483	7.0		
Residence				
City	4855	69.2		
District	1682	24.0		
Village	477	6.8		
Working				
Yes	3702	52.8		
No	3312	47.2		
Chronic Disease				
Yes	1321	18.8		
No	5693	81.2		

Level of Knowledge About the Mask

55.9% of the respondents stated that they knew the characteristics of a good surgical mask and 62.7% knew the protective properties of the surgical mask. 78.8% of the respondents knew when to wear on

and remove the surgical mask. 79.4% of the respondents knew where to buy the surgical mask, 55.1% knew how to avoid problems caused by a surgical mask and 52% knew how to dispose of the surgical mask (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Distribution of respondents' answers to the questions about knowledge about surgical mask use

The mean score of the respondents' knowledge level questionnaire on the use of masks was 5.33 ± 1.88 . The rate of respondents with a knowledge level of 4.5 points or less (low) on the use of masks was 28.9%, the rate of respondents between 4.6-5.5 points (moderate) was 16.1%, and the rate of respondents with more than 5.5 points (high) was 54.9% (Table 2).

Table 2. Distribution of the knowledge level ofthe respondents regarding the use of surgicalmasks

Knowledge Level	n	%
0 – 4.5 points-Low	2028	28.9
4.6 ve 5.5 points - Middle	1132	16.1
5.6 – 7.0 points- High	3854	54.9
Total Points (Mean±SD)	oints (Mean±SD) 5.33 ± 1.88	

Information on the Use of Surgical Masks

81.4% of the respondents reported that they provided the surgical masks themselves and 34.1% reported that they wore double masks. 51.3% of the respondents reported that they sometimes changed their masks, and 49.4% reported that they used a mask between 1-6 hours. 80.5% of the respondents reported

touching the mask with their hands and 37.8% reported washing their hands after touching the mask with their hands. 55.8% of the respondents stated that they took the mask off when they were in public and 56.7% stated that they took the mask of while eating. 48.9% of the respondents stated that they disposed of the mask by throwing it in an outside trash can after use. 42.4% of the respondents stated that they felt protected by the mask. It was understood that 83.8% of the respondents chose by considering the protection level of the mask. It was noted that 48.0% of the respondents always carry a spare mask with them (Table 3).

Table 3. Distrik	oution of characterist	ics rega	arding
the use of surgi	cal masks		
		n	%
Mask Supply			
Myself		5709	81.4
Workp	lace	836	11.9
Friend	/Relatives	443	6.3
Other		26	0.4
Stacked Mask	Wearing		
Yes		2510	35.8
	Two Masks	659	34.0
	Three Masks	117	1.7
	Four and over Mas- ks	4	0.1
No		4504	64.2
Mask Change H	Frequency		
None		511	7.3
Someti	mes	3599	51.3
Often		2375	33.9
Usually	/	529	7.5
Time to Use a	Mask		
1-6 ho	urs	3465	49.4
7-12 h	iours	1925	27.4
13-18	hours	886	12.6
19-24	hours	462	6.6
More t	han 24 Hours	276	4.0
Hand contact v	with the mask		
Yes		5645	80.5

Table 3. (countinued) Distribution of		
characteristics regarding the use of sur		asks
No	1086	15.5
Sometimes	283	4.0
Washing hands after touching the mask		
Yes	2647	37.8
No	1502	21.4
Sometimes	2865	40.8
Removing the mask in a public en ment	viron-	
Yes	3915	55.8
No	3099	44.2
Reason for removing the mask in Public *		
Eating/Receiving Catering	3975	56.7
Taking Photo/Video	1555	22.2
A face-to-face operation	1514	21.6
Driving	1148	16.4
Coughing/Sneezing	793	11.3
Talking on the Phone	560	8.0
Making Presentation	537	7.7
Exercising	541	7.7
Dispose of the mask after use		
No trash outside	3432	49.0
Any trash in the house	3031	43.2
Spool in one place	424	6.0
Waste Bin/Separate Trash	119	1.7
Other	8	0.1
Feeling Protected with a Mask		
Yes	2976	42.4
No	1035	14.8
Partially	3003	42.8
Features Considered in the Mask *		
Protection	5878	83.8
Number of Ply	3640	51.9
Produced Material	2332	33.2
Price	1927	27.5
Color/Pattern	1589	22.7
Shape	1380	19.7
Availability of Reserve Masks		
Always	3368	48.0
Sometimes	3020	43.1
Never	626	8.9
* More than one option has been t	icked.	

Problems Related to Mask Use

The mean symptom score of the respondents after the using surgical masks was 2.57±2.67. While 55.0% (n=3856) of the respondents had two or lower symptoms due to mask use, 45.5% (n=3158) had three or more symptoms. Among the respondents who reported having problems, 72.9% had shortness of breath/ difficulty in breathing, 36.6% felt bad/ discomfort/restlessness/stress/sense of being in a closed environment, 32.0% had itchy face/nose, 27.5% had ear pain, 24.3% had difficulty smelling, 23.7% were unable to understand their emotions from facial expressions/confusion, 21.3% had fever/ sweating, 19.0% had ear sores, 16.3% had acne (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Distribution of Problems Related to the Use of Surgical Masks

Factors Affecting of Mask-Related Symptoms

According to the model constructed according to the symptom score categories related to the use of surgical masks during the COVID-19 pandemic period, there was a

significant association between was male, had a secondary school, high school, and associate degree graduate, had a chronic disease, had a moderate level of knowledge, changed the mask sometimes and often, not washing hands after contact, removing a mask in public, not having a spare mask, and the use of masks and the occurence of symptoms (p<0.05). Female had approximately 0.8 (OR: 0.805; 95%CI: 0.671-0.967, p<0.05) times more symptoms men. According to postgraduate than education status, the risk of mask related symptoms was 0.5 (OR: 0.591; 95%CI: 0.378-0.924, p<0.05) times lower for middle school, 0.6 times lower for high school (OR: 0.661; 95%CI: 0.477-0.917, p<0.05), and 0.5 times lower for associate degree (OR: 0.582; 95%CI: 0.406-0.833, p<0.05). The risk was 1.5 (OR: 1.575 95%CI: 1.214-2.044, p<0.05) times higher in the group with chronic disease than in those without chronic disease, and 0.6 (OR: 0.622; 95%CI: 0.463-0.837, p<0.05) times

lower in those with medium knowledge than in those with high knowledge. The risk was approximately 2 (OR: 1.904; 95%CI: 1.423-2.548, p<0.05) times higher in the group that changed their mask sometimes, the risk was approximately 1.3 (OR: 1.337; 95%CI: 1.025-1.745, p<0.05) times higher in the group that changed it often. The risk increased approximately 2 (OR: 1.938; 95%CI: 1.461-2.569, p < 0.05) times in the group that did not wash their hands compared to the group that washed their hands after touching the mask. The risk increased 1.2 (OR: 0.239; 95%CI: 1.031-1.490, p<0.05) times in the group that did not remove their mask in public, and 2.5 (OR: 2.483; 95%CI: 1.465-4.209, p<0.05) times in the group that sometimes removed their mask in public. It was seen that the risk decreased by 0.5 (OR: 0.522; 95%CI: 0.312-0.872, p<0.05) times in the group that did not have a spare mask compared to the group that did (Table 4).

Variables	В	S.E.	Wald	р	Exp (B)/OR, (%95, CI)
Age					
<33*					
≥33	0.027	0.138	0.039	0.844	1.027 (0.784-1.346)
Gender					
Female*					
Male	-0.216	0.093	5.379	0.020	0.805 (0.671-0.967)
Education					
Literate	-0.295	0.579	0.258	0.611	0.745 (0.239-2.319)
Primary school	-0.176	0.283	0.386	0.535	0.839 (0.481-1.461)
Middle school	-0.526	0.228	5.326	0.021	0.591 (0.378-0.924)
High school	-0.414	0.167	6.161	0.013	0.661 (0.477-0.917)
Associate degree	-0.542	0.183	8.727	0.003	0.582 (0.406-0.833)
Bachelor's degree	-0.181	0.150	1.446	0.229	0.835 (0.621-1.121)
Postgraduate*					
Residence					
Village*					
District	0.435	0.247	3.110	0.078	1.545 (0.953-2.504)
City	0.370	0.238	2.426	0.119	1.448 (0.909-2.308)
Working					
Yes	-0.058	0.103	0.323	0.570	0.943 (0.771-1.154)

No*					
Chronic Disease					
Yes	0.455	0.133	11.692	0.001	1.575 (1.214-2.044)
No*	2.100		_ 1.0/8		
Mask Knowledge Level					
Low	-0.089	0.146	0.376	0.540	0.914 (0.687-1.217)
Middle	-0.474	0.151	9.876	0.002	0.622 (0.463-0.837)
High*					
Stacked Mask Wearing					
Yes*		_			
No	-0.168	0.546	0.095	0.758	0.845 (0.290-2.465)
Number of masks					
Two masks	-0.823	1.188	0.480	0.489	0.439 (0.043-4.508)
Three masks	-1.419	1.203	1.391	0.238	0.242 (0.023-2.557)
Four and over masks*					
Mask Change Frequency					
None	-0.084	0.267	0.100	0.752	0.919 (0.545-1.551)
Sometimes	0.644	0.149	18.814	<0.001	1.904 (1.423-2.548)
Often	0.291	0.136	4.591	0.032	1.337 (1.025-1.745)
Usually*					
Time to Use a Mask					
1-6 hours*					
7-12 hours	-0.155	0.111	1.960	0.161	0.856 (0.689-1.064)
13-18 hours	-0.009	0.168	0.003	0.957	0.991 (0.713-1.378)
19-24 hours	-0.280	0.312	0.809	0.368	0.755 (0.410-1.392)
More than 24 Hours	-0.139	0.463	0.090	0.765	0.871 (0.351-2.157)
Hand contact with the mask					
Yes	0.194	0.124	2.475	0.116	1.215 (0.953-1.548)
Sometimes	0.372	0.199	3.496	0.062	1.450 (0.982-2.142)
No*					
Washing hands after touching the	mask				
Yes*					
Sometimes	0.244	0.103	5.571	0.018	1.276 (1.042-1.562)
No	0.662	0.144	21.114	<0.001	1.938 (1.461-2.569)
Removing the mask in a public en					
Yes	0.215	0.094	5.206	0.023	1.239 (1.031-1.490)
Sometimes	0.909	0.269	11.406	0.001	2.483 (1.465-4.209)
No*					
Feeling Protected with a Mask					
Yes*					
Sometimes	0.137	0.093	2.167	0.141	1.147 (0.956-1.377)
No	0.063	0.150	0.176	0.675	1.065 (0.794-1.428)
Availability of Reserve Masks					
Always*					
Sometimes	-0.068	0.098	0.478	0.489	0.934 (0.771-1.133)
Never	-0.651	0.262	6.156	0.013	0.522 (0.312-0.872)

* Reference category/group of the test

DISCUSSION

With the COVID-19 pandemic, the use of surgical masks has been rendered widespread, both as a personal precaution and due to legal obligations, in order to reduce the spread of the pandemic. Çalışmanın yürütüldüğü tarihler arasında maske takma zorunluluğu bulunmaktaydı.^{8,} The use of COVID-19 vaccines in Turkey started on January 13, 2021 and 152,734,177 people were vaccinated as of March 3, 2023.²⁵

Level of Knowledge About the Mask

In the study, it was found that more than half of the respondents had a high level of knowledge about the use of masks. In the studies, respondents stated that they were informed that the use of masks is protective against COVID-19.^{26,27} In a study examining the level of knowledge of students, most of the respondents stated the correct way to use masks and that masks act as a barrier. 32.4% of the participants stated that surgical masks can be used for 8 hours, and 92.2% of the participants stated that cloth masks are as effective as surgical masks in protecting against the COVID-19 pandemic.²⁸ In another study, respondents stated that they knew the areas where masks should be worn (closed and public places, public transportation).²⁷ It is thought that the high level of knowledge in this study may be due to the individual answers of the respondents.

Problems Related to Mask Use and Mask Use Behaviours

In the study, it was determined that the most common symptom after mask use in patients was shortness of breath/difficulty in breathing. In one study, after wearing a mask, about half of the respondents reported

an increase in difficulty breathing/coughing while wearing a mask.²⁹ In another study, it was stated that the most common problem encountered by respondents during mask use was breathing difficulties.²⁸ While some studies reported negligible physiological effects of increased CO_2 concentration on dead space volume,^{13,17} other studies have shown a statistically significant decrease in blood O_2 concentration with increased heart and respiratory rate and a feeling of discomfort.^{30,31} In another study, while the use of a mask during exercise decreased peripheral oxygen saturation, no difference was found in hemodynamic parameters.³² The high incidence of respiratory symptoms during mask use in this study was similar to other studies.

The second highest symptom in this studv was feeling bad/ discomfort/ restlessness/ stress/ sense of being in a closed environment. In a qualitative study conducted with undergraduate students in Turkey, metaphorical perceptions about the use of masks were frequently identified as "protective shield, prison, and shortness of breath". In addition, in this study in which the psychological effects of mask use were investigated, the positive sub-theme was determined as "trust", while the negative subthemes were determined as "breathlessness, restlessness, discomfort, communication problems, depersonalization, anxiety, addiction, hopelessness".³³ These symptoms may have emerged due to the obligation to use masks and the perception of the uncertainty and stress caused by the pandemic process as a loss of control.

Again in this study, the inability to understand one's emotions from the facial expression and the symptoms of confusion are among the first five symptoms. In one study, the use of surgical masks reduced emotion recognition accuracy in both young and old respondents. It showed that it also reduced respondents' overall confidence in their emotional judgments, but not their performance awareness.³⁴ Considering the area covered by the mask, the closure of facial expressions and gestures that reflect emotions can make it difficult for people to understand their emotions.

Long-term use of the face mask can lead to moisture loss in the stratum corneum of the skin's epidermis, changes in the appearance of the skin, and serious skin problems.³⁵ In a study, acne (39.9%), facial rash (18.4%), and itching (15.6%) were determined as the most common symptoms due to mask use. In addition, the surgical mask was found to be more risky in terms of skin side effects than the fabric mask. It has been shown that wearing and reusing a mask for at least 4 hours each day increases the risk of skin side effects compared to daily mask replacement.³⁶ Another study reported itching on the skin at a rate of approximately 20% after 1 week of mask use. Those with atopic predisposition and facial dermatitis (acne, atopic dermatitis) or seborrheic dermatitis are at higher risk.³⁷ It has been stated that after wearing a mask for a long time, skin characteristics change significantly and acne develops after routinely wearing a mask for at least five hours a day. Other factors that increase the risk of developing acne are female gender, gastrointestinal problems, using moisturizing facial products, having oily or sensitive skin, use of oral contraceptives, stress, acne history, and hot weather.³⁸ The most common complaint of healthcare professionals was

increased sweating (55.6%), followed by acne (34.3%) and oily skin (34.3%). A significant correlation was found between skin changes and mask use time (>6 hours/day), increased number and type of mask used (N 95).39 Dermatological symptoms were detected in 48.6% of healthcare workers after mask use, and red papules (33.8%), and itching (27.2%) were frequently observed. Wearing a mask for more than four hours a day increased the risk.⁴⁰ Surgical mask use caused skin changes in 41.7% of the population, and acne and pustules were frequently observed. It has been determined that the most common location of these is the cheeks. While acne vulgaris affected 8.7% of the total population before mask use, 46.2% was affected after mask use. Skin changes were significantly associated with skin type and mask-wearing time.⁴¹ In this study, it was stated that the symptoms related to the skin were the lowest symptoms observed. The use of surgical masks can be a reducing factor, especially in the occurrence of symptoms related to the skin. In particular, the use of apparatus as the most frequently used protective measure by the respondents may also have contributed to the decrease in the incidence of symptoms.

Factors Affecting of Mask-Related Symptoms

Respondents experience an average of at least 3 symptoms after mask-use. In this study, being female, having a chronic disease, having a low level of mask knowledge, changing the mask sometimes and often, not washing hands after contact with the mask, and removing the mask in public were determined as factors that increase the occurrence of symptoms. In addition, having an education level of secondary school, high school or college, having a moderate level of mask knowledge,

and never carrying a spare mask with you were risk factors that reduced the occurrence of symptoms. One study stated that there were no case reports or laboratory evidence to suggest that touching the mask could cause infection. Mask use creates fear that the public will neglect other measures such as physical distancing and hand hygiene because of an exaggerated or false sense of security.⁵ Mask use is positively associated with other preventive measures, including hand hygiene, physical distancing,⁸ and contact reduction.⁴² This false sense of protection may result in ignoring other essential measures such as hand hygiene and physical distancing, resulting in touching the face and eyes through the mask.⁸ In this study, not washing hands after hand contact with the mask increases the risk. For this reason, it is thought that washing hands after mask use can be said as an attempt to prevent symptoms related to mask use and should not be ignored in this sense.

Limitations

This study had some limitations. Due to the descriptive design of the study, no effect of change over time on symptoms related to mask use could be observed. Although there were respondents from all provinces in determining the symptoms and related factors related to mask use, generalizations cannot be made since they were not considered according to population density. Measurement tools were created by researchers in line with the literature. Therefore, its validity and reliability must be tested. However, Cronbach's alpha values calculated from the data obtained were above 0.70. The statements of the responders were taken as basis in determining the symptoms. No physical examination was performed. This may cause some symptoms

to be hidden.

CONCLUSION

This study was determined that the respondents had a high level of knowledge about the use of surgical masks. It was determined that the respondents wore surgicalmasks one on top of the other for protection, and the majority of the respondents used a surgical mask for at least 6 hours, touched the surgical mask by hand, and removed it when in a public environment. While respiratory problems were frequently experienced, it was determined that at least 3 symptoms were observed in the respondents after the use of surgical masks. It was determined that hand contact not washing hands afterward, removing surgical masks in public enviroment were modifiable factors that increase the risk.

In pandemic situations such as COVID-19, after the mask application that is mandatory for all people, the severity of the symptoms can be determined and precautions specific to the symptoms can be taken. Symptoms associated with mask use may affect people's habits of wearing or not wearing a mask. Qualitative studies can be conducted to determine this situation. Depending on the findings, the importance of hand hygiene should be emphasized in order to reduce symptoms related to mask use in pandemic situations, prevent spread and increase comfort, and people should be made aware of mask with them. If it is necessary to remove masks in public areas, special areas can be created.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to thank everyone who participated in the study.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no

conflicts of interest concerning the authorship and/or publication of this article.

Financial Support: This study was supported by Afyonkarahisar Health Sciences University Scientific Research Projects Commission under grant number (21.GENEL.008).

Ethical **Declaration**: То conduct the study, permission was obtained from the Non-Interventional Ethics Committee of Afyonkarahisar Health Sciences University (dated 05.02.2021, no. 2021/88). Permission was obtained from the T.R. Ministry of Health to conduct the study during the COVID-19 pandemic (12.02.2021). Permission was obtained from the department chair to conduct the research (dated 04.01.2021, no. E-17155648-605.01-264). Detailed information about the study for the respondents was included in the data collection form. If the respondents filled out the form, the study permit was accepted as received.

Author Contributions: Concept: ÖSE, MYvG; Design: ÖSE, MYvG; Data collection and entry: ÖSE; Analysis and interpretation: ÖSE, MYvG; Literature: ÖSE, MYvG; Writing: ÖSE, MYvG; Critical review: ÖSE, MYvG.

REFERENCES

- 1. WHO- Mask use in the context of COVID-19. [Internet]. Available at: https://www.who.int/ publications-detail-redirect/advice-on-the-useof-masks-in-the-community-during-home-careand-in-healthcare-settings-in-the-context-of-thenovel-coronavirus-(2019-ncov)-outbreak Accessed September 155,2022
- T.R. Ministry of Health, 2022. Bakan Koca, Koronavirüse İlişkin Son Durumu Değerlendirdi. T.C. Saglik Bakanligi. [Internet]. Avaible at: https://www.saglik.gov.tr/TR,65032/bakan-kocakoronaviruse-iliskin-son-durumu-degerlendirdi. html Accessed September 15,2022
- 3. Zheng R, Zhou Y, Fu Y, et al. Prevalence and associated factors of depression and anxiety among nurses during the outbreak of COVID-19 in China: A cross-sectional study. Int J Nurs Stud. 2021;114(2021):1–

8.

- 4. WHO. WHO- Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) advice for the public: When and how to use masks [Internet]. Available at: https://www.who.int/ emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/ advice-for-public/when-and-how-to-use-masks Accessed October 25,2022
- 5. Howard J, Huang A, Li Z, et al. An evidence review of face masks against COVID-19. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2021;118(4):1–12.
- 6. MacIntyre CR, Dwyer D, Seale H, et al. The first randomized, controlled clinical trial of mask use in households to prevent respiratory virus transmission. Int J Infect Dis. 2008;12(Supplement 1): e328.
- Teng JLL, Fok KMN, Lin KPK, et al. Substantial decline in invasive pneumococcal disease during coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic in Hong Kong. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2022;74(2):335–8.
- 8. WHO. WHO- Mask use in the context of COVID-19 [Internet]. Available at: https://www.who.int/ publications-detail-redirect/advice-on-the-useof-masks-in-the-community-during-home-careand-in-healthcare-settings-in-the-context-of-thenovel-coronavirus-(2019-ncov)-outbreak Accessed October 25,2022
- CDC. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Masks and Respirators [Internet]. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/ prevent-getting-sick/masks.html Accessed October 25,2022
- 10. Anadolu Ajansı. Türkiye genelinde 25 ilde maske takma zorunluluğu getirildi [Internet]. Available at: https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/koronavirus/turkiye genelinde-25-ilde-maske-takma-zorunlulugugetirildi/1847514 Accessed October 25,2022
- 11. Dünya Gazetesi. https://www.dunya.com/ gundem/629-gun-sonra-maskesiz-sosyal-hayathaberi-659302. Dünya Gazetesi; 629 gün sonra maskesiz sosyal hayat. Available at: https://www. dunya.com/gundem/629-gun-sonra-maskesizsosyal-hayat-haberi-659302 Accessed October 25,2022
- 12. Clapham HE, Cook AR. Face masks help control transmission of COVID-19. The Lancet Digital Health. 2021;3(3):e136-e137.
- 13. Rebmann T, Carrico R, Wang J. Physiologic and other effects and compliance with long-term respirator use among medical intensive care unit nurses. Am J Infect Control. 2013;41(12):1218–23.
- 14. Tan KT, Greaves MW. N95 acne. Int J Dermatol. 2004;43(7):522–3.
- 15. Hu K, Fan J, Li X, Gou X, Li X, Zhou X. The adverse skin reactions of health care workers using personal protective equipment for COVID-19. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020;99(24):1–5.
- 16. Al Badri FM. Surgical mask contact dermatitis and epidemiology of contact dermatitis in

healthcare workers. Curr Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017;30(3):183–8.

- 17. Roberge RJ, Kim JH, Coca A. Protective facemask impact on human thermoregulation: An overview. Ann Occup Hyg. 2012;56(1):102–12.
- 18. Scarano A, Inchingolo F, Lorusso F. Facial skin temperature and discomfort when wearing protective face masks: Thermal infrared imaging evaluation and hands moving the mask. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(13): E4624.
- 19. Ehsan RB, Tehreem F, Ata F, Kanwal N, Jabbar M, Alyas MA. Assessment of frequency and severity of mask-induced dry eye in university students during COVID-19. Clinical Medicine Research. 2022;11(5):120-125.
- 20. Ku JL, Sun MH, Yen YC, Chi CC. Mask-related adverse skin reactions and risk factors: A literature review. Dermatologica Sinica. 2023;41(3):153-159.
- 21. Scheid JL, Lupien SP, Ford GS, West SL. Commentary: Physiological and Psychological Impact of Face Mask Usage during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(18):1–12.
- 22. TÜİK. TÜİK-Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu Adrese Dayalı Nüfus Kayıt Sistemi Sonuçları [Internet]. Available at: https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Adrese-Dayali-Nufus-Kayit-Sistemi-Sonuclari-2019-33705 Accessed October 25,2022
- 23. T.C. Aile, Çalışma ve Sosyal Hizmetler Bakanlığı. Engelli ve Yaşlı İstatistik Bülteni [Internet]. Available at: https://www.aile.gov.tr/media/42250/ istatistik-bulteni-2020-mart.pdf Accessed October 25,2022
- 24. Kiliç S. Örnek büyüklüğü, güç kavramları ve örnek büyüklüğü hesaplaması. J Mood Disord. 2012;2(3):140–2.
- T.R. Ministry of Health, 2023. COVID-19 Bilgilendirme Platformu. [Internet]. Avaible at: https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/ Accessed March 03,2023
- 26. Sikakulya FK, Ssebuufu R, Mambo SB, et al. Use of face masks to limit the spread of the COVID-19 among western Ugandans: Knowledge, attitude and practices. PLoS One. 2021;16(3):e0248706.
- 27. Nagarajan R, Rubeshkumar P, Jagadeesan M, et al. (2022). Knowledge, attitude, and practice towards face mask use among residents of Greater Chennai Corporation, India, March 2021. Front Public Health.2022;10:938642.
- Vijayakumar AE, Seethalakshmi S, Vinay M, Arjun S, Nikhithaa P. Knowledge, attitude, and practices of 2nd year MBBS students regarding the use of face mask to limit the spread of the new coronavirus disease. Natl J Physiol Pharm Pharmacol. 2022;12(6):894–8.
- 29. Polivka BJ, Eldeirawi K, Huntington-Moskos L, Nyenhuis SM. Mask Use Experiences, COVID-19, and Adults with Asthma: A Mixed-Methods Approach. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2022;10(1):116–23.

- Epstein D, Korytny A, Isenberg Y, et al. Return to training in the COVID-19 era: The physiological effects of face masks during exercise. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2021;31(1):70–5.
- 31. Escobedo P, Fernández-Ramos MD, López-Ruiz N, et al. Smart facemask for wireless CO2 monitoring. Nat Commun. 2022;13(1):72.
- 32. Alkan B, Özalevli S, Sert ÖA. Wearing a surgical mask: Effects on gas exchange and hemodynamic responses during maximal exercise. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging. 2022;42(4):286–91.
- 33. Okan ÖÜN, Okan ÖGYT. COVID-19 sürecinde maske takmaya ilişkin metaforik algıların incelenmesi ve maske takmanın psikolojik etkilerinin belirlenmesine yönelik nitel bir araştırma. In: II International Halıch Congress on Multidisciplinary Scientific Research Proceeding Book. 1.baskı. İstanbul; 2021. p. 310–8.
- 34. Henke L, Guseva M, Wagemans K, et al. Surgical face masks do not impair the decoding of facial expressions of negative affect more severely in older than in younger adults. Cogn Res Princ Implic. 2022;7(1):63.
- 35. Lee J, Kwon KH. Changes in the use of cosmetics worldwide due to increased use of masks in the coronavirus disease-19 pandemic. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2022;21(7):2708–12.
- 36. Techasatian L, Lebsing S, Uppala R, et al. The effects of the face mask on the skin underneath: a prospective survey during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Prim Care Community Health. 2020;11:1–7.
- Szepietowski JC, Matusiak Ł, Szepietowska M, Krajewski PK, Białynicki-Birula R. Face maskinduced itch: A self-questionnaire study of 2,315 responders during the COVID-19 pandemic. Acta Derm Venereol. 2020;100(10):1–5.
- 38. Taleb R, Jad R, Salem R, et al. The effect of frequently wearing face masks during the COVID- 19 pandemic on the development of acne in adults: a crosssectional descriptive study. Bau J- Health Wellbeing. 2022;4(2):1–13.
- 39. Dash G, Patro N, Dwari BC, Abhisekh K. Mask-induced skin changes during COVID pandemic: A cross-sectional web-based survey among physicians in a tertiary care teaching hospital. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2022;21(5):1804–8.
- 40. Bukhari A, Dakhil AB, Albrkheel A, et al. Face maskinduced skin changes: a new common phenomenon during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. Dermatol Reports. 2022;15(1):9526
- 41. Althobaiti HM, Althobaiti H, Khan M, Alsatti H, Samarkandy SJ. The association between facial dermatosis and face-mask wearing during COVID-19 in Saudi Arabia. Cureus. 2022;14(2):1–13.
- 42. Chen YJ, Qin G, Chen J, et al. Comparison of face-touching behaviors before and during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(7):e2016924.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

The evaluation of the correlation between some variables of the countries and COVID-19 incidence of cases and deaths in different variant periods

២ Deniz Erdal 1, ២ Burcu Ecem Uguz 1, ២ Caferi Tayyar Sasmaz 1

¹MD., Mersin University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Mersin, Türkiye ²Prof. Dr., Mersin University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Mersin, Türkiye

Received: 08.09.2023, Accepted: 16.02.2024

Abstract

Objective: The aim of this study is to evaluate the correlation between the incidence case/ death rate of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and some variables of the countries.

Methods: This research is an Ecological study. We analyzed the association of COVID-19 incidence of cases/deaths with population rates over 65, Gini index, GDP per capita (current US\$), burden of disease (DALYs-2019), literacy rate of over 15 years old, Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake, prevalence of obesity among adults, total COVID-19 vaccine doses administered per 100 people, and total tests conducted (per 1M). Furthermore, we analyzed the data on COVID-19 incidence of cases/death in the cross-sectionally for three periods: Alpha-Beta-Gamma, Delta and Omicron periods. Spearman correlation test was used for statistical analysis.

Results: Positive correlations were found in COVID-19 cumulative incidence of cases/deaths (per 1M), and population rates over 65, GDP (per capita), lliteracy rate of individuals over 15 years old, prevalence of obesity among adults, and total COVID-19 vaccine doses administered per 100 people. On the other hand, negative correlations were found with DALYs, Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake and Gini index. When the variant periods of COVID-19 were examined respectively (Alpha-Beta-Gamma, Delta and Omicron), the positive correlations and the negative correlations were further increased during the Omicron period.

Conclusion: It is recommended to consider the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the countries, as well as the characteristics of the disease agent, for the prevention and control of potential future pandemics.

Keywords: COVID-19, DALYs, Aged, Obesity, Correlation Study

Correspondence: MD., Deniz Erdal, Mersin University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Mersin, Türkiye. **E-mail:** denizerdal88@gmail.com, **Phone:** +90 536 037 01 47

Cite This Article: Erdal D., Uguz BE, Sasmaz CT. The evaluation of the correlation between some variables of the countries and COVID-19 incidence of cases and deaths in different variant periods. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 49-58.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), which was declared as a pandemic by World Health Organization (WHO) in March 2020, still continues. As of March 01, 2023, over 758 million confirmed cases and over 6.8 million deaths have been reported globally.¹

Risk factors associated with COVID-19 cases and deaths have been identified in the pandemic. Advanced age, presence of chronic disease, obesity and pregnancy are the main risk factors. Approximately 81% of deaths from COVID-19 occurred in people over 65 years old.² In a study evaluating data from 16 countries; It has been determined that the mortality rate of COVID-19 is 62 times higher in those aged 65 and over. In the same study, the mortality rate from COVID-19 was found to be 77% higher in men than in women. ³ Obesity has been reported to increase the risk of both COVID-19-related hospitalizations and death.⁴

Income level has a marked influence on health. According to studies, income inequality has been associated with declining population health.^{5,6}. In a study, it was found that there was a positive correlation between the pandemic's mortality burden and national income per capita. For example, it has been determined that Brazil's mortality burden (adjusted by population) is 1000 times greater than Thailand's, despite enormous differences at each income level.⁷

Differences in COVID-19 cases, deaths and incidence among countries may also result from case and death reporting. According to officially reported deaths, while 98% of deaths are due to COVID-19 in the European region, it has decreased to 10% in the African

region.⁸

Although the differences in incidence case and death rate among countries are known during the pandemic process, it is seen that the factors associated with this difference among countries have not been sufficiently investigated in the literature. The aim of this study is to investigate the relationship between the incidence case and death rate of COVID-19 and several fundamental variables of the countries.

METHODS

This research was planned as an Ecological study. The research was conducted between January and April 2023. Ethics committee approval was not obtained as this research was conducted with open data.

Research Data

In this study, data from 207 world countries included COVID-19 cumulative incidence of cases and deaths, population rates over 65, Gini index, GDP per capita (current US\$), burden of disease (DALYs-2019), Literacy rate of over 15 years old, Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake, prevalence of obesity among adults, total COVID-19 vaccine doses administered per 100 people, total test (per 1M). Data from some countries were not available. Therefore, the available data were analyzed.

Population rates over 65 and GDP per capita (current US\$) for 2021 were obtained from The World Bank. The 15+ literacy rate and Gini index data were also provided by the World Bank, but since the most recent years of data differ from country to country, the countries whose data are available after 2010 were included.⁹ Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake, prevalence of obesity among adults, total COVID-19 vaccine doses administered per 100 people, COVID-19 cumulative incidence of cases and deaths, Burden of disease (DALYs-2019) were obtained from Our World in Data.¹⁰ Total test (per 1M) were obtained from Worldometers.¹¹

We analyzed the data on COVID-19 incidence of cases/death in the cross-sectionally for three periods: the first period is Alpha-Beta-Gamma, the second period is Delta and the third period is Omicron. The first period was taken from January 04, 2020 to May 10, 2021.The beginning of the second period was chosen as the day on which WHO Variants of Concern (VOC) for the delta period declared (May 11, 2021). The second period was taken from May 10, 2021 to Nov 25, 2021. For the Omicron period, the same procedure was applied. (Nov 26, 2021).¹² The last data was taken on January 16, 2023. The third period was taken from Nov 25, 2021 to Jan 16, 2023.

Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALYs)

The sum of mortality and morbidity is referred to as the 'burden of disease' and it can be measured 'Disability Adjusted Life Years' (DALYs). They measure lost health and are used to measure disease burdens. It can be seen that rates in areas with the best health are less than 20,000 DALYs per 100,000 people. This is achieved in many European countries and in some countries (Canada, Israel, South Korea, Taiwan, Japan et.).¹³

Gini Coefficient and GDP (Per Capita)

Gini coefficient and GDP (per capita) are some metrics used for income measurements. The income distribution of a population is measured by the Gini coefficient. Lower values indicate a lower level of inequality. The Gini Index which is provided by The World Bank, has a range of 0 to 100, with 0 denoting no income inequality and 100 denoting the greatest level of income equality.^{14,15}

Obesity

The prevalence of obesity is seen in highincome countries across Europe, North America, and Oceania. In South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa, obesity rates are significantly lower.¹⁶

Coefficient of Variation (CV) of Caloric Intake

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations uses "undernourishment" as its primary indicator to assess the availability of food and nutrition. The coefficient variation (CV) calculates the inequity in calorie intake among a population. It is a statistical measurement of the range of data around the mean caloric intake. Higher CV values represent larger levels of dietary inequality. The countries with the highest levels of dietary inequality typically are Sub-Saharan Africa (particularly Zambia, Cote d'Ivoire, and Burkina Faso), Iraq, and Haiti.^{17,18}

Statistical Analysis

The analyzes of the data were done via computer. Descriptive statistics such as mean, standard deviation, median, minimum and maximum value were used to summarize the data. The data were tested for normality using Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests. The data were not normally distributed, so Spearman correlation analysis was done. p< 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Positive correlations were found in COVID-19 cumulative incidence of cases/deaths (per 1M), and Population rates over 65, GDP (per capita), Literacy rate of over 15 years old, prevalence of obesity among adults, total COVID-19 vaccine doses administered per 100 people. On the other hand, negative correlation was found with DALYs, Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake and Gini index (Table 1).

Table 1. Correlation between COVID-19 cumulative incidence of cases/deaths and some variables

	Median	COVID-19	COVID-19
Variables	(min-max)	cumulative incidence of cases (per 1M)	cumulative incidence of death (per 1M)
COVID-19 Total Test	765559.5	+0.881*	+0.647*
(per 1M)	(5091-22620639)		
GDP per capita (current US\$) (n=204)	6930.1 (221.5-234315.5)	+0.850*	+0.649*
Literacy rate of over 15 years old (n=153)	94 (27- 100)	+0.755*	+0.648*
Population rates over 65 (n=207)	8 (1-36)	+0.773*	+0.768*
Prevalence of obesity among adults (n=186)	12.7 (0.5- 53.1)	+0.634*	+0.592*
Total COVID-19 vaccine doses administered per 100 people (n=200)	147.18 (0.22-406.43)	+0.622*	+0.370*
Burden of disease (DALYs-2019) (rates per 100,000) (n=189)	29732.69 (15045.11- 90772.64)	-0.761*	-0.671*
Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake (n=181)	0.25 (0.17- 0.41)	-0.717*	-0.580*
Gini index (n=154)	35.8 (23.2-63.0)	-0.378*	-0.224**

* p<0.001, **p<0.01

When the variant periods of COVID-19 were examined respectively (the first period: Alfa, Beta, Gama; the second period: Delta; the third period: Omicron), the positive correlation were between the incidence of cases/deaths and the population rates over 65, GDP (per capita), literacy rate of over 15 years old, and obesity prevalence in adults further increased during the omicron period. Likewise, the negative correlation between the incidence of cases/deaths and Gini index, DALYs, Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake further increased during the omicron period (Table 2- 3, Figure 1-2). **Table 2.** Correlation between COVID-19 incidence of cases and some variables according to variant periods of COVID-19

Variables	COVID-19 incidence of cases (per 1M) (Alfa, Beta, Gama) (n=197)	COVID-19 incidence of cases (per 1M) (Delta) (n=200)	COVID-19 incidence of cases (per 1M) (Omicron) (n=203)
GDP per capita (current US\$) (n=204)	+0.588*	+0.612*	+0.828*
Literacy rate of over 15 years old (n=153)	+0.562*	+0.614*	+0.700*
Population rates over 65 years old (n=207)	+0.583*	+0.581*	+0.741*
Prevalence of obesity among adults (n=186)	+0.585*	+0.407*	+0.618*
Burden of disease (DALYs-2019) (rates per 100,000) (n=189)	-0.652*	-0.618*	-0.710*
Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake (n=181)	-0.538*	-0.491*	-0.701*
Gini index (n=154)	-0.323*	-0.231**	-0.351*

* p<0.001, **p<0.01

Table 3. Correlation between COVID-19 incidence of deaths and some variables according tovariant periods of COVID-19

Variables	COVID-19 incidence of death (1M) (First period: Alfa, Beta, Gama) (n=188)	COVID-19 inci- dence of deaths (1M) (Second period: Delta) (n=191)	COVID-19 incidence of deaths (1M) (Third period: Omi- cron) (n=200)
GDP per capita (current US\$) (n=204)	+0.559*	+0.334*	+0.739*
Literacy rate of over 15 years old (n=153)	+0.572*	+0.574*	+0.676*
Population rates over 65 years old (n=207)	+0.635*	+0.434*	+0.843*
Prevalence of obesity among adults (n=186)	+0.684*	+0.436*	+0.617*
Burden of disease (DA- LYs-2019) (rates per 100,000) (n=189)	-0.588*	-0.363*	-0.692*
Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake (n=181)	-0.506*	-0.298*	-0.692*
Gini index (n=154)	-0.204***	-0.017****	-0.343**

* p<0.001, **p<0.01, ***p<0.05, ****p>0,05



Figure 1. The change of the correlation value between the case incidence and the variables in three different periods during the COVID-19 pandemic process



Figure 2. The change of the correlation value between the variables and the deaths in three different periods during the COVID-19 pandemic process

DISCUSSION

The Human Development Index (HDI) is measured by life expectancy, access to education and GDP (per capita). There are significant regional variations, ranging from the lowest in central Africa to the highest values in North America, Europe, Japan, and Oceania.¹⁹ Countries with older populations and high obesity prevalence is high-income countries. High-income countries have aging populations and a high prevalence *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)* of obesity.^{16,20} There were also differences between countries in testing capacity and vaccine access (testing capacity and vaccine coverage are higher in high-income countries).²¹ In addition, variables like DALYs, the Gini index, and the coefficient of variation of calorie intake differ between high- and low-income countries.^{13,15,18} Although DALYs have lower values in high-income countries, the prevalence of cardiovascular disease and obesity is higher in these countries than in low-income countries.²² Our study results show that the elderly population, literacy rate, per capita income, obesity prevalence, and the increase in the number of administered COVID-19 vaccine doses are similarly related to increasing the incidence and mortality of COVID-19. On the other hand, DALYs, change in caloric intake, and increase in Gini coefficient are also related to decreasing the incidence and mortality of COVID-19. It is thought that the socioeconomic status of the countries is the determining factor behind the variables clustered in these two groups. The high socioeconomic status both increases the testing capacity and the probability of detecting cases, and also causes an increase in the risky groups defined for COVID-19 cases and mortality (obesity, elderly population ratio). These results show that the socioeconomic level of the countries is a confounding factor in case incidence and mortality in the COVID-19 pandemic.

Some studies in countries and meta-analyses, the incidence of COVID-19 cases and deaths been linked to low socioeconomic has status.^{23,24} However, in our study it was found that as GDP per capita increased, the incidence of COVID-19 cases/deaths also increased. To explain this contradictory situation, we examined the African region. At the outset of the pandemic, the weak public health infrastructure raised concerns that the African continent would suffer negative effects. In the days that followed, there were fewer cases and deaths reported. But the infection estimates in the region are approximately 100 times higher than infection reports. According to several serosurveys, large waves of infection hit Africa, but most cases went unreported because they rarely resulted in serious illness. According to a serosurvey conducted in Turk | Public Health 2024;22(1)

Zambia, there was only one reported case for every 92 infections that actually occurred.²⁵ According to evidence from Kenya, Malawi, and the Democratic Republic of the Congo, up to 80% of the population may have been infected by COVID-19 before the omicron variant arrived.²⁶⁻²⁸ Although limited testing capacity is a contributing factor, Africa's demography also plays a significant role in the underreporting of cases because of its young population, which results in a high percentage of mild and asymptomatic cases.²⁹ Because the risk of serious illness and death from COVID-19 increases with age. Even estimates of the total COVID-19 deaths in the African region, which are up to ten times higher than the reported figures, it is the continent with the second-lowest death rate per million inhabitants.²¹ The low COVID-19 incidence of cases/deaths in low-income countries may be related to the low test-diagnosis capacity in these countries, as well as the low rate of the elderly population and obesity prevalence.

In a study examining data from 176 countries, they found linear correlations between COVID-19 morbidity/ mortality (per 1M) and GDP (per capita) and overweight/ obesity prevalence (% of population).⁸ A study found a negative correlation (-0,665/ p=0.001)between GDP (per capita) and the number of new COVID-19 cases (per 1M). There was no evidence of a statistically significant correlations between obesity and the new cases of COVID-19 (per 1M).³⁰ The reason for this difference is that this research was conducted only in 38 European countries and in the early months of the Pandemic. An analysis focused on Africa explored factors with potential impacts on the risk of COVID-19 infection and mortality rate. COVID-19 tests per 1 million populations, GINI index and BMI

were significantly associated with the increase in COVID-19 cases per 1 million population in Africa. Furthermore, the prevalence of diabetic patients was significantly associated with the increase in the COVID-19 deaths per 1 million populations in Africa.³¹ The highest GDP per capita of the Latin American countries analyzed is that of Panama which was found the highest incidence of cases (per 1M). The lowest GDP per capita of these countries is Haiti that was the lowest incidence of cases (per 1M).³² Obesity has been observed in other studies as a risk factor for COVID-19-related deaths.⁴ According to a study done at the outset of the pandemic, globally, non-communicable disease DALYs were correlated with COVID-19 cases and deaths.³³ In the literature, it is reported that COVID-19 incidence of cases/deaths increases with the increase in income level, except for a study conducted at the outset of the pandemic in high-income countries. It is seen that the increase in obesity and chronic diseases is similarly related to the COVID-19 incidence of cases/deaths.

Although the gradual reduction of inequality in vaccine distribution, high-income countries administer 69 times more vaccine doses per population than low-income countries.³⁴ High-income countries have vaccinated 75-80% of their populations on the other hand low-income countries have vaccinated <10% of their populations by the end of 2021.³⁵ A study including 191 countries found a positive correlation between vaccination rate and biweekly incidence rate and a weak negative correlation between vaccination rate and case fatality rate.³⁶ Although the disease prevention effect of COVID-19 vaccines against variants has decreased, it is not enough to explain the positive correlation between COVID-19 Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

incidence of cases/death (per 1M) and total COVID-19 vaccine doses administered per 100 people.³⁷ This paradox can be explained by the average age of the population, the comorbidity index of the population, herd immunity. ³⁸

According to a meta-analysis of 39 studies, the fatality rate for COVID-19 was 3% in those under 50, it was 19% in those over 50. ³⁹According to a study using compiled agespecific death data from 9 countries, the risk of COVID-19 mortality is significantly higher for the old people than for the younger ones. About 70% of COVID-19 deaths in the USA occur in people aged 70 or older.⁴⁰ Likewise in our research, we found the COVID-19 incidence of cases/deaths higher in countries with a high population over 65. İn COVID-19 pandemic, age became one of the most important factors in the incidence and mortality of the disease. In our study, the positive correlation between the population aged 65 and over and the incidence and mortality of the disease supports this relationship.

Our study is unique in the literature, the correlational relationship was analyzed by dividing the COVID-19 pandemic process into three separate periods according to the variants unlike other studies. It was found that the correlational relationship obtained with the independent variables was similar in three different periods, but the correlation coefficients (more pronounced in case incidence) were higher in the omicron variant period. This can be explained by the fact that the dominant omicron variant in the last period of the pandemic was more contagious and the vaccines used had lower protection against this variant.

CONCLUSION

As a result, there is a positive correlation between COVID-19 incidence of cases/death and population rates over 65 years old, GDP per capita, literacy rate over 15 years old, prevalence of obesity among adults, COVID-19 Total Test (per 1M) and total COVID-19 vaccine doses administered per 100 people; there is a negative correlation between COVID-19 incidence of cases/death and the Gini index, DALYs and Coefficient of Variation (CV) of caloric intake. The level of correlation is higher in the Omicron variant period than in other periods. This scientific evidence detected in the COVID-19 pandemic will be a guide for pandemics in the future. To prevent a possible pandemic in the future, it is recommended to consider the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the countries as well as the characteristics of the disease agent.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Thanks to Sevim Yılmaz for translation support.

Concflict of Interest: No conflict of interest.

Financial Support: No funding support.

Ethical Declaration: Ethics committee approval was not obtained as this eco-logical type research was conducted with open data.

Authorship Contrubitions: Concept: DE, CTS, BEU, Design: DE, CTS, BEU, Supervising: DE, CTS, BEU, Data collection and entry: DE, Analysis and interpretation: DE, CTS, Literature search: DE, CTS, BEU, Writing: DE,

CTS, BEU, Critical review: DE, CTS, BEU.

REFERENCES

- WHO. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard With Vaccination Data [Online]. Available at: https://covid19.who.int. Accessed March 1 2023
- CDC. People with Certain Medical Conditions [Online]. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/ coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/ people-with-medical-conditions.html#print.

Accessed March 3 2023

- Yanez ND, Weiss NS, Romand JA, Treggiari MM. COVID-19 mortality risk for older men and women. BMC Public Health. 2020 Dec 19;20(1):1742.
- Sawadogo W, Tsegaye M, Gizaw A, Adera T. Overweight and obesity as risk factors for COVID-19-associated hospitalisations and death: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Nutr Prev Health. 2022 Jun;5(1):10–18.
- Bor J, Cohen GH, Galea S. Population health in an era of rising income inequality: USA, 1980-2015. Lancet. 2017 Apr 8;389(10077):1475–1490. PMID: 28402829
- Kondo N, Sembajwe G, Kawachi I, van Dam RM, Subramanian S V, Yamagata Z. Income inequality, mortality, and self rated health: meta-analysis of multilevel studies. BMJ. 2009 Nov 10;339(nov10 2):b4471-b4471.
- Ferreira FHG, Sterck O, Mahler DG, Decerf B. Death and Destitution: The Global Distribution of Welfare Losses from the COVID-19 Pandemic. LSE Public Policy Review. LSE Press; 2021 May 3;1(4):2.
- Oshakbayev K, Zhankalova Z, Gazaliyeva M, et all. Association between COVID-19 morbidity, mortality, and gross domestic product, overweight/ obesity, non-communicable diseases, vaccination rate: A cross-sectional study. J Infect Public Health. 2022 Feb;15(2):255–260.
- 9. The World Bank. Indicators [Online]. Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator. Accessed January 11 2023
- 10. Our World in Data [Online]. Available at: https:// ourworldindata.org/. Accessed January 15 2023
- 11. COVID Coronavirus Statistics Worldometer [Online]. Available at: https://www.worldometers. info/coronavirus/. Accessed January 16 2023
- WHO. Updated working definitions and primary actions for SARSCoV2 variants [Online]. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/ historical-working-definitions-and-primaryactions-for-sars-cov-2-variants. Accessed March 1 2023
- 13. Our World in Data. Burden of disease [Online]. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/burdenof-disease. Accessed March 11 2023
- 14. Our World in Data. Economic Growth [Online]. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/ economic-growth. Accessed March 13 2023
- The World Bank. Gini index [Online]. Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV. GINI. Accessed March 13 2023
- 16. Our World in Data. Obesity [Online]. Available at:

https://ourworldindata.org/obesity. Accessed March 11 2023

- 17. Our World in Data. What is undernourishment and how is it measured? [Online]. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/undernourishmentdefinition. Accessed March 17 2023
- Our World in Data. Food Supply [Online]. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/food-supply. Accessed March 17 2023
- 19. Our World in Data. Human Development Index (HDI) [Online]. Available at: https:// ourworldindata.org/human-development-index. Accessed March 17 2023
- 20. The World Bank. Population ages 65 and above (% of total population) [Online]. Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.65UP.TO.ZS. Accessed January 11 2023
- 21. Sachs JD, Karim SSA, Aknin L, et all. The Lancet Commission on lessons for the future from the COVID-19 pandemic. The Lancet. 2022 Oct;400(10359):1224–1280.
- 22. Our World in Data. Share of total disease burden by cause, World, 2019 [Online]. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/share-of-total-disease-burden-by-cause. Accessed January 11 2023
- 23. Magesh S, John D, Li WT, et all. Disparities in COVID-19 Outcomes by Race, Ethnicity, and Socioeconomic Status. JAMA Netw Open. 2021 Nov 11;4(11):e2134147.
- 24. Dalsania AK, Fastiggi MJ, Kahlam A, et all. The Relationship Between Social Determinants of Health and Racial Disparities in COVID-19 Mortality. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities. 2022 Feb 5;9(1):288–295.
- 25. Mulenga LB, Hines JZ, Fwoloshi S, et all. Prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 in six districts in Zambia in July, 2020: a cross-sectional cluster sample survey. Lancet Glob Health. 2021 Jun;9(6):e773–e781.
- 26. Nkuba AN, Makiala SM, Guichet E, et all. High Prevalence of Anti–Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (Anti–SARS-CoV-2) Antibodies After the First Wave of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo: Results of a Cross-sectional Household-Based Survey. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2022 Mar 9;74(5):882–890.
- 27. Mandolo J, Msefula J, Henrion MYR, et all. SARS-CoV-2 exposure in Malawian blood donors: an analysis of seroprevalence and variant dynamics between January 2020 and July 2021. BMC Med. 2021 Dec 19;19(1):303.
- 28. Adetifa IMO, Uyoga S, Gitonga JN, et all. Temporal trends of SARS-CoV-2 seroprevalence during the

first wave of the COVID-19 epidemic in Kenya. Nat Commun. 2021 Jun 25;12(1):3966.

- 29. Our World in Data. Median age, 1950 to 2100 [Online]. Available at: https://ourworldindata. org/grapher/median-age?tab=table. Accessed March 7 2023
- Pardhan S, Drydakis N. Associating the Change in New COVID-19 Cases to GDP per Capita in 38 European Countries in the First Wave of the Pandemic. Front Public Health. 2021 Jan 20;8.
- 31. Bouba Y, Tsinda EK, Fonkou MDM, Mmbando GS, Bragazzi NL, Kong JD. The Determinants of the Low COVID-19 Transmission and Mortality Rates in Africa: A Cross-Country Analysis. Front Public Health. 2021 Oct 21;9.
- 32. Cifuentes-Faura J. COVID-19 Mortality Rate and Its Incidence in Latin America: Dependence on Demographic and Economic Variables. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 Jun 27;18(13):6900.
- 33. Azarpazhooh MR, Morovatdar N, Avan A, et all. COVID-19 Pandemic and Burden of Non-Communicable Diseases: An Ecological Study on Data of 185 Countries. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2020 Sep;29(9):105089. PMID: 32807484
- 34. Burki T. Global COVID-19 vaccine inequity. Lancet Infect Dis. 2021 Jul;21(7):922–923. PMID: 34174236
- 35. Mathieu E, Ritchie H, Ortiz-Ospina E, et all. A global database of COVID-19 vaccinations. Nat Hum Behav. 2021 May 10;5(7):947–953.
- 36. Muttappallymyalil J, Chandrasekhar Nair S, Changerath R, Sreejith A, Manda S, Sreedharan J. Vaccination Rate and Incidence of COVID-19 and Case Fatality Rate (CFR): A Correlational Study Using Data From 2019 to 2021. Cureus. 2022 Aug;14(8):e28210. PMID: 36158447
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. COVID-19 vaccine efficacy summary [Online]. Available at: https://www.healthdata.org/covid/ COVID-19-vaccine-efficacy-summary. Accessed March 17 2023
- Nair SC, Gasmelseed HI, Khan AA, et all. Assessment of mortality from COVID-19 in a multicultural multi-ethnic patient population. BMC Infect Dis. 2021 Dec 29;21(1):1115.
- 39. Alimohamadi Y, Tola HH, Abbasi-Ghahramanloo A, Janani M, Sepandi M. Case fatality rate of COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Prev Med Hyg. 2021 Jun;62(2):E311–E320. PMID: 34604571
- 40. Goldstein JR, Lee RD. Demographic perspectives on the mortality of COVID-19 and other epidemics. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2020 Sep 8;117(36):22035–22041.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Turkish validity and reliability of the Lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale

🕩 Aysun Güzel 1, ២ Sabriye Uçan Yamaç², ២ Sevgi Turan 3, ២ Sarp Üner 4

¹Assoc. Prof., Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Emergency Aid and Disaster Management, Burdur, Türkiye

²Assist. Prof., Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University Bucak Health High School, Department of Midwifery, Burdur, Türkiye ³ Professor, Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Education and Informatics, Ankara, Türkiye

⁴ Professor, Lokman Hekim University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye

Received: 21.09.2023, Accepted: 05.03.2024

Abstract

Objective: The aim of this study was to assess the validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Lawton and Brody Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale.

Methods: The research is a methodological study and the study sample consisted of 399 elderly individuals. The ata were collected between May 15 and July 16, 2019. The study utilized the sociodemographic information form, the Lawton and Brody Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale, and the Functional Autonomy Measurement System as data collection tools.. The SPSS 22 program was used for data analysis.

Results: The following results were obtained: reproducibility=0.927, minimum marginal reproducibility=0.678 and scalability=0.775. There was a high and positive correlation between the Lawton and Brody Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale and the Functional Autonomy Measurement System total score (p<0.001; r:0.88).

Conclusions: The Turkish version of Lawton and Brody Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale was deemed valid and reliable.

Keywords: Aged, Lawton and Brody Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale, psychometrics, Türkiye

Correspondence: Assoc. Prof., Aysun Güzel Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Emergency Aid and Disaster Management, Burdur, Türkiye. **E-mail:** ayurdakul@ mehmetakif.edu.tr

Cite This Article: Güzel A, Uçan Yamaç S, Turan S, Üner S. Turkish validity and reliability of the Lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 59-71.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

Determining the dependency levels of the elderly is related to maintaining their level of independence (preventing further deterioration); improving their quality of life and reducing the social costs related to dependency. For individuals over 65 years of age, determining the levels of mild, moderate, severe and full dependency is important for utilizing available resources according to the level of dependency; ensuring that the needs identified to provide social care are proactive and planning the content of social support (determining the interventions to be made to promote the autonomy of the elderly). According to the dependency status and care needs of the elderly, the number of elderly-friendly facilities in the community (e.g. community cultural activity centers, universities for the elderly, cafes or tea rooms) is increased, and the elderly are more likely to benefit from basic preventive care services in the community. In societies where the dependency levels of the elderly are not known and the necessary social support is not provided, health inequalities increase and the sustainability of healthy ageing decreases. Healthy aging is a public health problem that directly concerns the individual, society and local governments.^{1,2}

There are many scales in Türkiye and worldwide that measure the daily life activities of elderly individuals based on their physical and cognitive abilities and determine their degree of dependency in carrying out these activities. The Katz Activities of Daily Living Scale, the Barthel Activities of Daily Living Index, the Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (Lawton IADL) are among the scales that are frequently used both around the world and in Türkiye.³

The Lawton IADL was developed by Lawton and Brody in 1969⁴ and is frequently used in international studies. Reviewing articles published between 2012 and 2019, only 12 studies were found to have been conducted in Türkiye that included the Lawton IADL scale.⁵⁻¹⁶ Some of these studies⁶⁻¹⁴ used different scoring systems, while some^{6,7,9,11,14,15} cited different studies that included the Lawton IADL scale. All the cited references in the related articles^{6,7,9,11,14,15} were accessed and it was observed that the steps to adapt scales normally used in Turkish adaptation studies were not followed for this scale. No findings related to the validity and reliability of the scale were found in the descriptive, crosssectional or review studies which cited the Lawton IADL scale. Despite this, it was stated that validity and reliability studies had been conducted for the scale and that these studies had been cited. Nevertheless, the Lawton IADL scale was used in 14 studies conducted across different disciplines in Türkiye which were published between 2010 and 2019 in the Web of Science index.^{5,11,12,17-27} The use of the scale has increased in Türkiye in recent years. The original form of the Lawton IADL scale is a Guttman-type scale that consists of eight items. Each item has more than one statement and scores either 0 or 1 points in order to define whether individuals are dependent or independent.4 Guttman scales differ from Likert-type scales; therefore, different types of analysis are recommended in order to examine their reliability.

The aim of this study was thus to investigate the evidence regarding the validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Lawton IADL scale for individuals aged 65 and over using the analytical methods recommended for Guttman scales.

METHODS

Research type

The research had a methodological, epidemiological design.

Language Translation

In this study, the scale was translated into Turkish by an expert from a Department Turkish-to-English of Translation and Interpreting. The opinions of a psychiatrist, a public health specialist and a geriatrist were obtained. The scale's language was revised in line with the opinions of the experts. In the original form of the scale, the fourth item, "Housekeeping", includes five statements that range increasingly from conditions of independence to dependence. The fourth statement and the fifth statement were caused confusion both in the expert evaluations and recommendations and during pre-application. To prevent any problems in scoring the scale, the two statements were combined into one statement while maintaining the integrity of their content.

Study Group

The data collection phase of the research consisted of two parts. The study group consisted of individuals aged 65 and over living in the provincial center of Burdur and in the Serik district of Antalya Province. A sample size of approximately 400 is recommended when the sample size is not calculated based on the number of items.²⁸ The sample size was determined to be 450 on the basis of issues that might arise such as unanswered items or incomplete answers. The quota sampling method, one of the improbable sampling methods, was used for the sample selection.

The individuals who participated in this study were informed that the study had a second phase during which the scale would be re-administered. For this reason, they were asked to provide their name, surname, telephone number and address. All those who voluntarily supplied this information were included in the study.

In the test-retest phase of the data collection (the second part), the data were re-collected from 142 individuals who had participated in the first part of the study and had agreed to take part again.

The inclusion criteria were: living in the provincial center of Burdur or the Serik district of Antalya province, being 65 or over, being able to understand questions, agreeing to participate in the study, and agreeing to participate in the second phase of the study.

Data Collection Tools

The data were collected using a personal information form consisting of 15 questions regarding sociodemographic information, the Lawton IADL scale, and the Functional Autonomy Measurement System (FAMS).

Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale

This scale was developed by Lawton and Brody (1969). The Lawton IADL scale consists of eight items and evaluates the ability of individuals to perform tasks related to the activities of daily living. It consists of eight functional areas, including "Ability to use atelephone", "Housekeeping", "Mode of transportation", "Laundry", "Responsibility for own medication", and "Ability to handle finances". Responses to each statement in the scale are scored as 0 (unable or less able) or 1 (able) and the total score is obtained by adding up all item scores. The score obtained from the scale ranges from 0 (low function, dependent) to 8 (high function, independent). A low score indicates a high dependence level.⁴ The Lawton IADL was developed for individuals aged 65 and over living in the general community. There is no complete information about the method of selection of the items of the scale and why these items were selected. It is known that parallel test analyses were performed during the development of the original scale and the scale correlated with some other scales [For construct validity, the Lawton IADL demonstrates a moderate positive correlation with the Physical self-maintenance scale and between the Lawton IADL and the Mental Status Questionnaire (p<0.01, Physical selfmaintenance scale Pearson's r = 0.61, Mental Status Questionnaire Pearson's r = 0.48].²⁹

The scale is a Guttman type scale. The Guttman Scale is concerned with the consistent answers given by the participants to the questions in the scale. If the scale prepared in accordance with the Guttman scaling technique gives consistent results, that scale is considered unidimensional, that is, valid. Guttman scales are unidimensional and reproducible. When the total score obtained from the scale is known, it can be predicted which items the person said yes to (cumulative feature). and reproducibility Scalogram analysis coefficient are among the analyses performed. Guttman-type scales are difficult to prepare and apply and require expertise.³⁰

Functional Autonomy Measurement System

The FAMS evaluates the functional independence and disability levels of *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)*

individuals aged 65 and over. The scale evaluates 29 functions related to the activities of daily living: mobility, communication, mental functions and instrumental activities of daily living. The scale was adapted to Turkish by Tuna and Çelik in 2012. In the adaptation of the scale, a structure consisting of three subdimensions including activities of daily living, communication and mental functions was created.³¹

Data Collection

The data collection phase was completed with 450 individuals (399 individuals included in the evaluation) who agreed to participate in the research between May 15 and July 16, 2019. Since the study was conducted with individuals aged 65 and over in Burdur province and Serik district of Antalya, no specific setting or criteria were used for the selection of participants. Cafes, coffee houses, parks, playgrounds, streets and markets were visited for data collection. The individuals included in the study were identified by researchers residing in Burdur and Antalya. Individuals who volunteered to participate in the study and who agreed to participate in the study for the second time if they were included in the test-retest group were included in the sample group. The data collection form was filled in by the researchers in line with the answers given by the participants. It took approximately 35-40 minutes for the researchers to read the questions in the data collection form and mark the answers.

The same data collection tool was readministered to 146 individuals (142 individuals included in the evaluation) after two weeks to complete the test-retest phase.

Data Analysis

When the incomplete forms were excluded, the data of 399 individuals who participated in the first phase of the research and 142 individuals who participated in the second phase (test-retest) were assessed. The SPSS 22 program was used for data analysis. p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

Item Analysis and Creation of Scalogram

The Lawton IADL scale for item analysis, the independence rate of each item was calculated by dividing the number of individuals who gave the "independent" answer (those who answered "1" to a statement were considered independent for that statement) by the total number of respondents, which was 399.^{30,32}

The statements remaining on the scale after analysis were arranged from the one that showed the most independence to the one that showed the least independence and a scalogram model was created. The data obtained from a scalogram model were used to determine the number of errors in the reliability analysis and the total number of correct estimations.^{32,33}

Reliability and Validity Analyses

The reproducibility and scalability coefficients, which form part of the reliability analysis of Guttman scales, were calculated.

To calculate the producibility coefficient, the *number of* errors was determined for the Lawton IADL scale for which the scalogram model was created. After the number of incorrect answers was determined, the formula of Number of Items x Number of Respondents was used to determine the total number of estimations. Accordingly, the Producibility Coefficient (R), a measure of

the reliability of the scale that is calculated with the formula 1 - (Number of Errors/Total Number of Estimations), was calculated.³³

The number of correct estimations was found for the Lawton IADL scale in order to calculate the scalability coefficient and the total number of estimations was used again. To calculate the number of correct estimations, the number of answers repeated the most was found in the scalogram model. The method used to determine the total number of estimations was described in the producibility coefficient calculation section (in the above paragraph). To calculate the scalability coefficient, first, the Minimum Marginal Reproducibility (MMR) Coefficient was calculated with the formula of Number of Correct Estimations / Total Number of Estimations. After the calculation of the MMR. the Scalability Coefficient, which is among the criteria for scale reliability and is calculated with the formula (Reproducibility Coefficient - Minimum Marginal Reproducibility) / (1-Minimum Marginal Reproducibility), was calculated.33

For the test-retest reliability, the correlation between three subgroups and two separate total sums (102 individuals for the test-retest phase, 142 individuals with the data from 40 individuals collected by different researchers) were evaluated.^{34,35}

In the data analysis, the parallel tests method for reliability (also known as concurrent validity in the validity analyses) was implemented.³⁶ In this study, the FAMS was used to test the parallel tests method. Furthermore, as explained in the language translation and pre-application sections, expert opinions were obtained for face validity and a pre-application was performed.

RESULTS

Of the participants, 58.1% were female; 71.7% were aged between 65 and 74; 68.9% were married; 49.4% were primary school graduates; 58.9% were living with their spouses (Table 1).

The ages of the participants were 72.05±6.96 (minimum=65; maximum=101).

Table 1. Distribution of Individuals Aged 65 and Over who Participated in the Study According to Various Sociodemographic Characteristics

	lographic characte		5
Characteristics of (n=399)	of Participants	n	%
Sex	Female	232	58.1
	Male	167	41.9
Age	65-74 years	286	71.7
	75-84 years	85	21.3
	85 years and over	28	7.0
Marital Status	Married	275	68.9
	Widowed	117	29.3
	Other*	7	1.8
Educational Status	Illiterate	112	28.1
	Literate	62	15.5
	Primary school	197	49.4
	Secondary school	11	2.8
	High school	11	2.8
	University	6	1.5
Economic Status	Poor	127	31.8
	Undecided	49	12.3
	Good	223	55.9
	Retired	54	13.5
Employment Status	Never been employed, still not employed	167	41.9
	Have been employed, still employed	178	44.6
Living	Alone	80	20.1
Arrangement	With spouse	235	58.9
	With Child/ Children	72	18.0
	Other**	12	3.0

Table 1. Distribution of Individuals Aged 65 andOver who Participated in the Study According toVarious Sociodemographic Characteristics

Chronic	Yes	279	69.9				
Disease	No	120	30.1				
Perceived	Very bad	33	8.3				
Health Status	Bad	160	40.1				
	Undecided	33	8.3				
	Good	164	41.1				
	Very good	9	2.3				
Status of Using a Device	I don't use any 191 devices		47.9				
	I use a device	208	52.1				
	Glasses	87	41.8				
	Cane	85	40.8				
	Prosthesis	13	6.3				
Other*** 23 11.1							

* I wo individuals were single; not individuals were separated. ** I nree individuals were living with a careworker; four individuals were living with their spouses and children; one individual was living with their adopted child; two individuals were living with their spouses and grandchildren; two individuals were living with their grandchildren. ***nine individuals were using wheelchairs; eight individuals were using hearing aids; six individuals were using crutches.

There was a statistically significant correlation between the dependence/independence of the individuals aged 65 and over in all items of the Lawton IADL scale and their sex. The men's level of independence was higher in the statements related to the ability to use telephone (p<0.01), shopping (p<0.001), transportation (p<0.001), responsibility for own medication (p<0.01) and finances (p<0.001). The women's independence was higher in the statements related to food preparation (p<0.001), housekeeping (p=0.011), and laundry (p<0.001) (Table 2).

		Fer	nale	Μ	ale	
Items		n	%	n	%	x ² ; p value ¹
1 (Ability to Use Telephone)	Dependent	34	14.7	10	6.0	7.434;
	Independent	198	85.3	157	94.0	0.01
2 (Shopping)	Dependent	159	68.5	46	27.5	65.308;
	Independent	73	31.5	121	72.5	0.001
3 (Food Preparation)	Dependent	143	61.5	140	83.8	23.196;
	Independent	89	38.4	27	16.2	0.001
4 (Housekeeping)	Dependent	48	20.7	69	41.3	6.507;
	Independent	184	79.3	98	58.7	0.011
5 (Laundry)	Dependent	59	25.4	118	70.7	80.475;
	Independent	173	74.6	49	29.3	0.001
6 (Transportation)	Dependent	90	38.8	27	16.2	23.985;
	Independent	142	61.2	140	83.8	0.001
7 (Responsibility for own Medication)	Dependent	62	26.7	21	12.6	11.800;
	Independent	170	73.3	146	87.4	0.01
8 (Finances)	Dependent	127	54.7	22	13.2	71.707;
	Independent	105	45.3	145	86.8	0.001
Total		232	100.0	167	100.0	

Table 2. Distribution of Dependence/Independence According to the Lawton IADL Scale of Women and Men Aged 65 and Over who Participated in the Study

The total independence and dependence rates of the individuals aged 65 and over who participated in the study were calculated in Table 3. The independence rate for Item 1 was found to be 355 / 399 = 0.89 and the dependence rate for Article 1 was found to be

1 - 0.89 = 0.11. The same calculations were made for the other items. The activities of daily living in which the individuals aged 65 and over who participated in the research were most independent were the ability to use the telephone (89.0%) (Table 3).

Items	Definition of Item	Number of Statements in the Item	Independent*		Dependent*			
			n	%	n	%		
Item 1	Ability to use telephone	4	355	89.0	44	11.0		
Item 2	Shopping	4	194	49.0	205	51.0		
Item 3	Food preparation	4	116	29.0	283	71.0		
Item 4	Housekeeping	4	253	63.0	146	37.0		
Table 3. (Countinued) Descriptive Statistics and Independence and Dependence Rates for the LawtonIADL Scale Items								
Item 5	Laundry	3	222	56.0	177	44.0		
Item 6	Transportation	5	282	71.0	117	29.0		
Item 7	Responsibility for own Me- dication	. 3	316	79.0	83	21.0		
Item 8	Finances	3	250	63.0	149	37.0		

Table 3. Descriptive Statistics and Independence and Dependence Rates for the Lawton IADL Scale Items

*The number of statements in each item varies between three and five. Each of these statements is scored "0" or "1". Participants who choose "0" for the statement are interpreted as being dependent and participants who choose "1" are interpreted as being independent for that statement.

The total number of errors in the Lawton scale scalogram model was found to be 230. According to the scalogram model, the highest score (independence score) obtainable from the scale is "8". This score is possible if one performs the activities of daily living completely independently or at a certain level of independence. The lowest score (dependence score) that can be obtained from the scale is "0". According to the scalogram model, almost everyone was independent in Item 1 and almost everyone was dependent in Item 3 (Table 4). The total number of estimations of the scale was found to be 8 x 399 = 3192. The Reproducibility, Minimum Marginal Reproducibility, and Scalability coefficients of the model were calculated as follows (detailed information about the calculations was given in the data analysis section):

Reproducibility= 1- (230 / 3192) = 0.927

Minimum Marginal Reproducibility = 2166 / 3192 = 0.678

Scalability = (0.927 - 0.678) / (1 - 0.678) = 0.775

Table 4. Number of Correct Estimations in the Items						
Item Number (Item Definition)	Answer Repeated the Most	Number of Correct Estimations				
1 (Ability to use Telephone)	Independent	355				
7 (Responsibility for Own Medication)	Independent	316				
3 (Food Preparation)	Dependent	283				
6 (Transportation)	Independent	282				
4 (Housekeeping)	Independent	253				
8 (Finances)	Independent	250				
5 (Laundry)	Independent	222				
2 (Shopping)	Dependent	205				
Total		2166				
The correlation coefficients for the Lawton IADL scale were found to be highly statistically significant and positive for the test-retest phase in all three groups (p<0.001) (Table 5).

Table 5. The Lawton IADL Scale Test-Retest Results								
Sample	Test-Retest Results							
	First Measurement	First Measurement Second Measurement Statistical						
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	r	р				
1st Group* (n=52)	5.07±2.41	4.88±2.45	0.888	< 0.001				
2nd Group**(n=50)	4.60±2.84	4.48±2.76	0.978	< 0.001				
3rd Group*** (n=40)	4.82±2.64	4.72±2.49	0.964	< 0.001				
Total for 1st and 2nd	4.84±2.63	4.68±2.60	0.938	< 0.001				
Groups(n=102)								
Total for All Groups	4.83±2.62	4.69±2.56	0.945	< 0.001				
(n=142)								

_

*Those who were living in Antalya province and participated in two rounds (the same researcher collected the first-round and second-round data).

**Those who were living in Burdur province and participated in two rounds (the same researcher collected the first-round and second-round data).

***Those who were living in Antalya province and participated in two rounds (different researchers collected the first-round and second-round data).

When the data of the individuals who participated in the first part of the study were examined, there was a significant, high and positive correlation between the Lawton IADL scale and the FAMS total score (p < 0.001; r:0.88). For the data collected in the first round of the research, the correlation of the Lawton IADL scale with the subdimensions and the total score of the FAMS was acceptable (Table 6).

Table 6. Correlation Coefficients between the Lawton IADL Scale and the Functional Autonomy Measurement System and its Subdimensions

Sample*		Function	m		
Activities of D	aily Living	Communication	Mental Functions	Total	
Lawton IADL	Correlation	0.88	0.54	0.66	0.88
Scale	p-value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001

*Measurements of 399 individuals who participated in the first round.

DISCUSSION

In the original study, the Lawton IADL scale was designed as a measurement tool that investigate the dependence and independence of individuals aged 65 and over. The observer examines the behaviors of the individual and ranks these behaviors.⁴ In the literature, there are international studies in which the participants answer the questions on the scale themselves (or through a researcher/ interviewer)^{37,38} or in which the participants are observed and the questions are scored by the observers/evaluators.³⁹⁻⁴¹ In studies conducted in Türkiye, participants fill out the form by themselves with the aid of a Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

researcher.^{5,11,12,17-20,26} Although the original form of the Lawton IADL scale was designed to be scored by those observing the behaviors of participants, it is commonly implemented using the self-response method. The answers of the participants were filled in by the researchers in this study. This approach, although different from its original design, was chosen for the current study since it was believed that the scale will continue to be used in this way, and that there is thus a need for validity and reliability evidence for both modes of implementation.

The Lawton IADL scale adapted in this study is a Guttman type scale. Such scales are considered the first example of onedimensional and cumulative scales. The total score is significant in terms of interpreting the scale's results.⁴² In addition to the total score, the reproducibility coefficient obtained through the scalogram model created using the study data has a prominent role. The scalogram model is specific to Guttman scales and provides estimations for the answers to some statement using the answers given to specific statements.³³ According to the cumulative scalogram model, if the total score of an individual is known, which statements the individual answered "yes" to can also be estimated. On a Guttman scale that includes eighteen propositions, if the respondent answered "yes" to the tenth proposition, it is accepted that they also answered "yes" to the first nine propositions in the scale.³⁰ This study implemented these analyses designed for Guttman type scales.

The fourth and fifth statements for the fourth item, which was defined as "housekeeping" in the original form of the scale, have very similar meanings in Turkish. For this reason, these two expressions were combined into single expression while preserving the integrity of their content. This revision was not made some studies^{39,41} conducted to adapt the Lawton IADL scale, and both propositions were used. In this study, such revision was needed according to the expert opinion and the pre-application.

During the adaptation of Guttman scales it is necessary to create a scalogram model in order to determine the reliability coefficients and to calculate the reproducibility and scalability coefficients.³⁴ In various studies conducted on the adaptation of the Lawton IADL scale, the internal consistency has been determined using the Cronbach's alpha^{37-39,41}, exploratory factor analysis^{37-39,41} and confirmatory factor analysis.^{37,38} No calculations regarding the reproducibility and scalability coefficients were found in these studies. In general, it is recommended that the Cronbach's alpha be used to determine internal consistency in graded scales.²⁸ In the Lawton IADL scale, the answers to each statement score 0 or 1. Since Guttman scales are designed as onedimensional and cumulative scales^{29,30,39}, they are not expected to have different dimensions.

The literature states that the reproducibility coefficient of Guttman-type scales should be more than 0.90 and that the scalability coefficient should be more than 0.60.32,33 In this study the reproducibility coefficient was found to be 0.92 and the scalability coefficient was found to be 0.77. These results show that the Lawton IADL scale, which was adapted into Turkish as a selfevaluation scale, demonstrates the criteria for reliability. Further evidence of scale reliability is obtained by the test-retest method.43 In the study the test-retest reliability of the scale was examined in three subgroups, and a correlation was determined between 0.89 and 0.98. In other studies test-retest findings reported similar values, 0.98⁴¹, 0.99.³⁹

This study also investigated the correlation between the Lawton IADL scale and the FAMS. In the original study, the Physical Self-Maintenance Scale was used to test concurrent validity.⁴ In this study the correlation between the Lawton IADL scale and the total score and subdimensions of the FAMS was positive and acceptable.

In the original form of the Lawton IADL scale, the scores obtainable were between 0 and 8 for women and between 0 and 5 for men.⁴ In the original form of the scale, men were evaluated out of a total of 5 points since daily tasks such as food preparation, housekeeping and laundry were performed more frequently by women at the time the scale was developed (1969). It was also thought that care services were provided by women.⁴ In this study and many studies in the literature, the score was out of 8 points and no discrimination was made by sex.^{37,41} Evaluations out of 8 points for both sexes in the international adaptation studies for the Lawton IADL scale may be due to the high female employment rate and high female contribution to the labor market in the regions where adaptations were conducted.

Lawton IADL measures the degree of dependency of the elderly to whom it is applied. The scale is used in interventions to reduce age-related dependency in older adults, to provide a safe living environment for the elderly and to improve their quality of life. The use of the scale is important for planning the relevant intervention according to the level of dependency and evaluating the effectiveness of the interventions. The scale is used in many areas such as determining the need for home care services and social services in the general community, during hospitalization and during hospitalization. Participants consisted of elderly people residing in the general community, hospital outpatients (such as psychiatric patients) and rural elderly communities.44

CONCLUSION

When the validity and reliability analyses of the Lawton IADL in Turkish were examined, values that can be accepted as valid and reliable for the selected sample group were obtained.

Research Limitations

The limitation of the research is that the study was carried out only with elderly individuals living in the Antalya and Burdur provinces. The other limitation of the research is the collection of the data for the scale through the commonly used self-evaluation method (in its original form, the observers scored the scale).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Ethical Declaration: Written permission was received from the Ethics Committee (Meeting number: 2019/5, Decision number: GO 2019/91) and verbal consent was received from the participants. The Oxford University Press, the legal owner of the journal in which the Lawton IADL scale was published, was approached. Written permission was obtained on 15 February 2019 to use the scale. Written permission was obtained via email from the researchers who performed the Turkish validity and reliability study of the FAMS.

Financial Support : The authors received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Concflict of Interest : The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

Author Contrubition: Concept: AG, SÜ; Design: AG, SÜ; Supervising: ST, SÜ; Data Collection and Processing: AG, SUY, ST; Analysis and/or Interpretation: AG, SUY, ST; Critical Review: ST, SÜ

REFERENCES

- 1. Pan Y, Chen Y, Cui P, Waili N, Li Y. Association between community environment and dependency among the elderly people from a service provision perspective. BMC Geriatr 2022;22(960):1-11.
- Zingmark M, Norström F. Transitions between levels of dependency among older people receiving social care – a retrospective longitudinal cohort study in a Swedish municipality. BMC Geriatr 2021;21(342):1-8.
- 3. Mlinac ME, Feng MC. Assessment of activities of daily living, self-care, and independence. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 2016;31:506–516.
- 4. Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. Gerontologist 1969;9(3):179-186.
- Babacan Gümüş, A. Keskin G, Orgun F. Huzurevinde yaşayan yaşlılarda ağrı ve yaşam aktiviteleri: Depresyon, anksiyete ve somatizasyon yönünden bir inceleme. Turkish Journal of Geriatrics 2012;15(3):299-305.
- Hizmetli S, Tel H, Tel H, Yıldırım M. Self-care agency and status to maintain activities of daily living elderly people with osteoarthritis. Anadolu Hemşirelik ve Sağlık Bilimleri Dergisi 2012;15(1):27-32.
- Gümüş K, Ünsal A. Osteoartritli bireylerin günlük yaşam aktivitelerinin değerlendirilmesi. Türk Osteoporoz Dergisi 2014;20:117-24. doi: 10.4274/ tod.93723.
- Çetin SY, Gökalan Kaya İ, Kitiş A. Evde yaşayan yaşlılarda sosyal katılımı etkileyen faktörlerin incelenmesi. Ergoterapi ve Rehabilitasyon Dergisi 2014;2(1):11–20.
- 9. Aydıner Boylu A, Günay G. Life Satisfaction and quality of life among the elderly: Moderating effect of activities of daily living. Turkish Journal of Geriatrics 2017;20 (1):61-69.
- Haney MÖ, Bahar Z, Beşe A, Açıl D, Yardımcı T, Çömez S. Factors related to loneliness among the elderly living at home in Türkiye. TJFMPC 2017;11(2):71-78.
- 11. Turgay G, Tutal E, Sezer S. Hemodiyaliz hastalarının günlük yaşam aktiviteleri, yeti yitimi, depresyon ve komorbidite yönünden değerlendirilmesi. Turk Neph Dial Transpl 2017;26(3):311-316.
- 12. Özel F, Argon G. The effects of fatigue and pain on daily life activities in systemic lupus erythematosus. Agri 2015;27(4):181–189.
- 13. Alkan A. Geriatrik kanser hastalarında günlük yaşam aktivitelerini etkileyen faktörler. Acta Oncologica Turcica 2019;52(2):277-281.

- 14. Şahin HG, Ekici G, Abaoğlu H, Akı E, Karaoğlan A. Şizofreni tanılı bireylerde dikkat eğitiminin dikkat seviyesi ve yardımcı günlük yaşam aktivitelerine etkisinin incelenmesi. Ergoterapi ve Rehabilitasyon Dergisi 2016;4(3):167-172.
- 15. Şahin A, Tekin O, Cebeci S, Işık B, Özkara A, Kahveci R et al. Factors affecting daily instrumental activities of the elderly. Turk J Med Sci 2015;45:1353-1359.
- 16. Şahin S, Boyacıoğlu H, Taşar PT, Kozan E, Sarıkaya OF, Akçiçek F. Bornova ilçesinde yaşayan 65 yaş üzeri nüfustaki fonksiyonel bağımlılık oranları. Ege Journal of Medicine 2016;55(2):65-70.
- 17. Hazer O, Boylu AA. The examination of the factors affecting the feeling of loneliness of the elderly. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences 2010;9:2083–2089.
- 18. Karakurt P, Ünsal A. Fatigue, anxiety and depression levels, activities of daily living of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. International Journal of Nursing Practice 2013;19:221–231.
- 19. Demir Akça AS, Saraçlı Ö, Emre U, Atasoy N, Güdül S, Özen Barut B. Relationship of cognitive functions with daily living activities, depression, anxiety and clinical variables in hospitalized elderly patients. Archives of Neuropsychiatry 2014;51:267-274.
- Arslantaş A, Ünsal A, Özbabalık D. Prevalence of depression and associated risk factors among the elderly in Middle Anatolia, Türkiye. Geriatr Gerontol Int 2014;14:100–108.
- 21. Tozlu M, Cankurtaran M, Yavuz BB, Cankurtaran ES, Kutluer İ, Erkek BM et al. Functional disability in alzheimer disease: A Validation study of the turkish version of the disability assessment for dementia scale. Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology 2014;27(4):237-246.
- 22. Yağcı N, Duymaz T, Cavlak U. How Does pain localization affect physical functioning, emotional status and independency in older adults with chronic musculoskeletal pain? J. Phys. Ther. Sci 2014;26(8):1189–1192.
- 23. Yardimci B, Aran SN, Ozkaya I, Aksoy SM, Demir T, Tezcan G, et al. The role of geriatric assessment tests and anthropometric measurements in identifying the risk of falls in elderly nursing home residents. Saudi Med J 2016;37(10):1101-1108.
- 24. Öztorun HS, Çınar E, Turgut T, Sürmeli DM, Bahşi R, Atmış V, et al. The impact of treatment for iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia on nutritional status, physical performance, and cognitive function in geriatric patients. Eur Geriatr Med 2018;9(4):493-500.

- 25. Tekin ÇS, Kara F. Incidence of home accidents in 65 years of age and older individuals and related factors. Turkish Journal of Geriatrics 2019;22(1):38-47.
- 26. Bayram S, Usta E, Akkaş ÖA, Şık T. The determination of agitation behaviors among the elderly people receiving long-term institutional care and the influencing factors. Florence Nightingale Journal of Nursing 2019;27(2):173-187.
- 27. Dokuzlar Ö, Okudur SK, Soysal P, Kocyigit SE, Yavuz İ, Smith L, et al. Factors that increase risk of falling in older men according to four different clinical methods. Experimental Aging Research 2020;46(1):83-92.
- Çokluk Ö, Şekercioğlu G, Büyüköztürk Ş. Sosyal Bilimler için Çok Değişkenli İstatistik SPSS ve Lisrel Uygulamaları. 3. Baskı. Ankara: Pegem Akademi, 2014.
- 29. Wei L, Hodgson C. Clinimetrics: The Lawton-Brody instrumental activities of daily living scale. J Physiother 2023;69(1):57.
- Bayat B. Uygulamalı sosyal bilim araştırmalarında ölçme, ölçekler ve "Likert" ölçek kurma tekniği. Gazi Üniversitesi İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Fakültesi Dergisi 2014;16 (3):1-24.
- 31. Tuna Z, Şenol Çelik S. Otonomi Değerlendirme Ölçeği'nin 65 yaş ve üstü bireylerde geçerlilikgüvenirlik çalışması. Hacettepe Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Hemşirelik Dergisi 2012;19(1):51-61.
- 32. Bardakçı C, Caz Ç. Güreş Sporuna Yönelik Guttman Tutum Ölçeği geliştirilmesi. Uluslararası Bilimsel Çalışmalarda Yenilikçi Yaklaşımlar Sempozyumu, Samsun, Türkiye. 2018;(3):889-892.
- Şencan H. Sosyal ve Davranışsal Ölçümlerde Güvenilirlik ve Geçerlilik. Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık, 2005.
- Yakar M, Saraçlı S. Türkiye'de iller arası net göç ile sosyo-ekonomik gelişmişlik endeksi arasındaki ilişkilerin analizi. Nature Sciences 2010;5(2):46-49.

- 35. Türüthan K. Kadınların yaş ve eğitim düzeylerine göre doğurganlık özellikleri ve aile planlaması yöntem tercihleri [Tıpta Uzmanlık Tezi]. İstanbul: İstanbul Göztepe Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi; 2009.
- Aktürk Z, Acemoğlu H. Tıbbi araştırmalarda güvenilirlik ve geçerlilik. Dicle Tıp Dergisi 2012;39(2):316-319.
- 37. Vergara I, Bilbao A, Orive M, Garcia-Gutierrez S, Navarro G, Quintana JM. Validation of the Spanish version of the Lawton IADL Scale for its application in elderly people. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes 2012;10:130.
- Ng TP, Niti M, Chiam PC, Kua EH. Physical and cognitive domains of the Instrumental Activities of Daily Living: Validation in a multiethnic population of Asian older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2006;61(7):726-735.
- 39. Hassani Mehraban A, Soltanmohamadi Y, Akbarfahimi M, Taghizadeh Gh. Validity and reliability of the Persian version of Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale in patients with dementia. Med J Islam Repub Iran 2014;28(25):1-8.
- 40. Ciro CA, Anderson MP, Hershey LA, Prodan CI, Holm MB. Instrumental activities of daily living performance and role satisfaction in people with and without mild cognitive impairment: A pilot project. American Journal of Occupational Therapy 2015;69(3):1-10.
- 41. MJ De Leon, EL Urgel, P Ed G Cuevas, E Jr Dasalla. Adaptation of Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) for Filipino older persons," International Journal of Health and Medical Sciences 2016;2(1):1-6.
- Erkuş A. Psikolojide Ölçme ve Ölçek Geliştirme 1 Temel Kavramlar ve İşlemler. 3. Baskı. Ankara: Pegem Akademi Yayıncılık, 2016.
- 43. Alpar R. Uygulamalı İstatistik ve Geçerlik Güvenilirlik. 2. Baskı. Ankara: Detay Yayıncılık, 2012.
- 44. Graf C. The Lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale. Am J Nurs 2008;108(4):52-63.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Evaluation of self-competency of family physicians and family health workers in providing health services to Syrian children: an example from Ankara, Türkiye

🕩 Damla Özyürek¹, ២ Hilal Özcebe²

¹MD, Public Health Specialist, Ardahan Community Health Center, Ardahan, Türkiye ²MD,Phd. Prof., Hacettepe University Public Health Department, Ankara, Türkiye

Received: 21.09.2023, Accepted: 05.03.2024

Abstract

Objective: Türkiye is an immigrant-intensive country and primary health care services are the first health institution to apply for migrant children. In this research, it is aimed to evaluate how competent family physicians and family health workers working at where high Syrian migration population live consider themselves in providing health services to Syrian children.

Methods: This descriptive research was conducted among 224 family health physician and 250 family health workers in seven districts with a high migrant population in Ankara, Türkiye. Language knowledge and abroad experience was asked to the participants. The questionnaire included the participants' education on migrant health, their experience in providing health care to migrant people. Multinomial logistic regression analysis was used to evaluate factors associated with experiencing difficulties in serving immigrant children.

Results: Over the third-four of the family physicians (78.9%) and more than one-third of the family health workers (31.6%) knew at least one foreign language (p<0.001). Cultural competence and taking immigrant health courses before graduation are associated with low level difficulty in providing child health care (p<0.05). Higher cultural competency scale score is associated lower health service difficulty level in proving health care to immigrant children (p<0.05).

Conclusion: Health professionals have difficulties in providing health services to immigrant children due to training on migrant health and cultural differences. Development of migrant health education is important to reduce the difficulties experienced by health professionals. Supporting foreign language education will facilitate health professionals to remove barriers in communication.

Keywords: Migrant, Child Health, Health Service, Cultural Competency

Correspondence: MD, Damla Özyürek, Public Health Specialist, Ardahan Community Health Center, Ardahan, Türkiye. **E-mail:** damlaozyurek@gmail.com, **Phone**:+90 478 211 40 00

Cite This Article: Özyürek D, Özcebe H. Evaluation of self-competency of family physicians and family health workers in providing health services to syrian children: an example from Ankara, Türkiye. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 72-86.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u> This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

Migration is a developing and differentiating phenomenon that has been affecting the whole world since ancient times. Today, there are 281 million immigrants who make up 3.6% of the world's population. Migration continues to increase over the years with changing conditions.¹

Due to its location, Türkiye is in a region where immigration is intense. After the Syrian crisis in 2011, immigrants started to enter Türkiye. In Türkiye, which faced cultural, social and economic difficulties in the face of the density of Syrian immigrants, whose numbers reached approximately 3.1 million in 2024, the needs for the provision of shelter, education and health services for immigrants have emerged.² Syrians under the status of "Temporary Protection" in Turkey were first accommodated in camps, and later moved to other provinces. This situation brought along health, education and accommodation difficulties as well as social and cultural adaptation difficulties in different provinces.³

Among the immigrants, children, the elderly, those in poor health, disabled individuals, pregnant and postpartum women are among the groups that can be vulnerable for physical and psychological factors. Children are affected by migration in different ways through their parents and their environment. Immigrant children's health needs are heterogeneous, their health needs are shaped depending on the country they come from, and they may encounter obstacles in benefiting from their right to health.⁴ There are racism, discrimination and integration difficulties with the host population. Poverty, poor housing conditions, and difficulty in accessing health services are risk factors for children.⁵

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

In the study evaluating the births of Syrian immigrants in Ankara between January 2013 and December 2014, it was stated that premature births and pathologies were detected more frequently in this patient group.⁶ In a study evaluating the applications of Syrian immigrant children to tertiary pediatric intensive care in Ankara between March 2017 and March 2019. it was determined that the most common reason for admission was respiratory tract infections. This situation is associated with low socioeconomic level and crowded living conditions.⁷ In a study where emergency and outpatient clinic applications of Syrian immigrant children were evaluated at a Training and Research hospital in Ankara in 2017, it was determined that emergency service applications of Syrian immigrant children constituted approximately 21% of all applications. It has been stated that recurrent emergency department visits may be due to difficulties in benefiting from primary health care services.8

In Türkiye, primary health care services for migrant children are provided by family health centers and migrant health centers in areas where immigrants weighted areas.⁹ Health care expenses of immigrants are covered by the Government of Turkey.¹⁰ In a qualitative study conducted with Family physicians serving Syrian immigrants under protection in Türkiye; it was stated that the expectation was similar to other patients. However, the negative impact of not knowing Arabic in serving patients was also emphasized.¹¹ Family physicians and family health workers also have problems in communicating with immigrant patients due to cultural differences as well as language barrier.¹² Difficulties in communicating with patients' relatives make it difficult to provide treatment and care

information.¹³ When nurses with previous experience in providing healthcare services to immigrant patients in pediatric intensive care units from two different provinces in the east of our country and inpatient services are evaluated, their areas of difficulty were communication and treatment difficulties. Language differences and lack of interpreters are problematic areas in communication. In the field of treatment, lack of understanding of the treatment applied; therefore, delay in the treatment process and rejection of treatment are among the difficulties experienced. While the perspective on the child is emphasized within the scope of cultural differences, the differences in nutrition and general hygiene practices were revealed by the research participants.14

In the more than 10 years since the Syrian crisis, the problems they have experienced in the provision of health services to migrant patients continue.¹⁵ In particular, it is important to define the difficulties in the health service procurement processes of immigrant children in child health services, which are offered intensively in primary care, in terms of developing practices and policies for this.¹⁶ In this study, it is aimed to evaluate how competent family physicians and family health workers consider themselves in providing health services to Syrian children and the factors associated with this situation.

METHODS

Research design, place and duration: For this descriptive study, it was aimed to evaluate the physicians and family health workers who worked at family health centres in the seven districts in Ankara between November 2021 – February 2022. These districts are chosen for their central location and higher immigrant population. Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Health COVID-19 Scientific Research Application Approval was obtained in 26.06.2021. Ethics committee approval was obtained from Hacettepe University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2021/14-47-Document Number 16969557-1607), at the data of 07.09.2021. Institutional approval was obtained from Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Health General Director of Public Health (Document Number: E-51381736-604.01.02) at the date of 15.10.2021 for the study. Volunteerism was accepted as the basis for participation in the research and participants. Written informed consent was obtained from the participants.

Sampling procedures and eligibility criteria: There are a total of twenty-five districts in Ankara Province, and this research is located in Ankara city center. It was carried out in seven districts. These districts are Altındağ, Çankaya, Etimesgut, Keçiören, Mamak, Sincan and Yenimahalle districts. The reasons for choosing these districts are central location and having a higher immigrant population. The entire physicians and family health workers in seven districts are targeted for this study.¹⁷ The location and number of family health centers were accessed with Google Maps. Family health centers that were relocated or out closed were determined and the current addresses were accessed. As planned for the research, a total of 224 family health centers in the seven districts were visited for data collection. For the family health center professionals, 23.3% (n=224) of the physicians and 26.0%(n=250) of the family health workers agreed to participate in the study. Inclusion criteria included agreeing participation of the study and work experience in the family health centre for at least three months. Exclusion criteria of the study was interruption of the survey response.

Questionnaire Design: For data collection, questionnaire designed for the family physicians and family health workers included the questions aimed to learn having any lecture on migrant health in undergraduate in-service educational and training, experience professional working experience with migrant people, experience in working at primary health care, and their perception on migrants' child health status. The physicians and family health workers were also asked if they knew any foreign language other than Turkish. Additionally, living abroad experience was asked to the participants.

The physicians and family health workers were asked if they have difficulty while providing child health care services to migrant children and they evaluated themselves with scoring. For scoring, the participants were asked to score 5-point scale, as 1 point for the least difficulty and 5 point for the highest difficulty. They were also asked which child health services were difficult to provide to the migrant children

"Primary Health Care Professionals' Cultural Competency Scale (PHCP-CCS)" which was developed by Perng and Watson in 2012 and adapted by Gözüm et al. in 2020, was included in the questionnaire. The scale was consisted of 20 items under three subscales. The scale in Turkish was found as reliable and valid among health care professionals.¹⁸ The Cronbach Alpha coefficient for the scale was calculated as 0.96 for the total score in our study. The pilot study was conducted with 7 family medicine residency assistants and 2 pediatrics residency assistants. Survey response duration took approximately 15 minutes. After the pilot study, necessary arrangements were made and the data collection form was finalized.

Data Collection Method: In the study, data collection forms were delivered to the family health centers by visits of the researcher. Family physicians and family health workers who agreed to participate in the research, completed their survey on their own. Data collection forms distributed to employees were collected during the visit the next day. For the excuses of the participants, including field service, annual leave etc., suitable survey form retrieval dates were suggested. In data collection form retrieval visits, the family physicians and family health workers that could not been reached at first visit were included on voluntary basis. The data collection process took place during the COVID-19 pandemic period. The researcher was vaccinated in accordance with the Ministry of Health COVID-19 vaccine recommendations. During the transportation to family health centers and visits, distance rules were followed and masks were used.

Statistical Analysis: IBM Statistics Package for Social Sciences (SPSS ver. 23.0) program was used to evaluate the data.

Self-evaluations of family physicians and family health workers regarding the degree of difficulty in providing services to immigrant patients were taken as a minimum of 1 point and a maximum of 5 points. Difficulty at low level was determined as 1 and 2 points, at medium level as 3 points, at high level as 4 and 5 points. In the multinomial logistic regression analysis, the evaluations were made by comparing the high difficulty group with the other groups.For the self evaluation score, 1 point indicates the least difficulty and 5 point indicates the highest difficulty.

For the "Primary Health Care Professionals' Cultural Competency Scale (PHCP-CCS)" scores evaluation, there are five options for the participants; "strongly agree", "agree", "undecided", "disagree", "strongly disagree". For the 20 items, "strongly disagree" takes 1 point and according to this "strongly agree" takes 5 point. A participant can take scores between 20-100 for the scale. Higher score indicates the higher cultural competency level.

Descriptive statistics were determined as numbers and percentages. The distribution data were determined as means, standard deviation, median, minimum and maximum value. Kolmogorov-Smirnov was used to determine whether or not the variables were distributed normally. The Mann Whitney U test was used for the comparison of independent two-group continuous variables that did not fit into the normal distribution, and the Kruskal Wallis test was used for comparisons with more than two independent groups. For statistical significance, cases with a Type 1 error value (α) below 5% were considered significant.

The difference between groups for categorical variables was evaluated with the Chi-Square

test. In the Chi-Square test, in which variables with more than two categories were included, statistically different eyes were determined by comparing the column percentages, and Bonferroni correction was made, and p value was given since multiple comparisons were made.

RESULTS

Most of the family health workers (98.4%) were women, but controversially nearly one in two physicians (51.6%) were women (p<0.001). The mean age of the participants was 42.6 \pm 9 (sd), the median age was 42, the youngest was 23, and the oldest was 67. In the distribution of family health workers by age groups, it was observed that they were younger (p<0.001) (Table 1).

Over the third-four of the family physicians (78.9%) and more than one-third of the family health workers (31.6%) knew at least one foreign language (p<0.001). The physicians were abroad for more than one month than the family health workers (respectively, 11.7% and 2.8%, p<0.001) (Table 1). The most known foreign language among the participants is English (96.0%) (not shown in the table).

Only 3.0% (n=14) of the participants stated that they took undergraduate migration health course. Most of the participants (92.4%) stated that they did not take postgraduate migration health course (Table 2).

Individual Characteristics	Family	Physician	Family Wo	T	otal	p value	
	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Gender							
Male	108	48.4	4	1.6	112	23.7	< 0.001
Female	115	51.6	245	98.4	360	76.3	
Total	223	100.0	249	100.0	472	100.0	
Age							
34 and under	24	11.4*	66	27.6*	90	20	< 0.001
35-54	140	66.4	170	71.1	310	68.9	
55 and above	47	22.3*	3	1.3*	50	11.1	
Total	211	100.0	239	100.0	450	100.0	
Knowing a foreign language							
Yes	176	78.9	79	31.6	255	53.9	< 0.001
No	47	21.1	171	68.4	218	46.1	
Total	223	100.0	250	100.0	473	100.0	
Being abroad for more than							
one month							
Yes	26	11.7	7	2.8	33	7.0	< 0.001
No	197	88.3	242	97.2	439	93.0	
Total	223	100.0	249	100.0	472	100.0	•

-Chi Square test-Bonferroni Adjustment

Table 2. Distribution of Family Physicians and Family Health Workers Participating in the Study byEducation in the Field of Immigrant Health and their Experience in Health Service Delivery (Ankara,2022)

	Fai	nily	Family Health		Total		p value
	Phys	sician	Worker				
	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Undergraduate Migration Health							
Course Taking							
Yes	5	2.2	9	3.6	14	3.0	0.250
No	202	90.6	214	85.6	416	87.8	
Don't remember	16	7.2	27	10.8	43	9.1	
Total	223	100.0	250	100.0	473	100.0	-
Undergraduate Migration Health							
Practical Course Taking							
Yes	5	2.2	7	2.8	12	2.5	0.558
No	212	95.1	232	92.8	444	93.9	_
Don't remember	6	2.7	11	4.4	17	3.6	-
Total	223	100.0	250	100.0	473	100.0	-

Table 2. (countinued) Distribution of Family Physicians and Family Health Workers Participating in
 the Study by Education in the Field of Immigrant Health and their Experience in Health Service Delivery (Ankara, 2022)

Postgraduate Migration Health							
Course Taking							
Yes	10	4.5	11	4.4	21	4.4	0.300
No	202	91.0	234	93.6	436	92.4	
Don't remember	10	4.5	5	2.0	15	3.2	
Total	222	100.0	250	100.0	472	100.0	
Prior Migrant Health Service							
Experience							
Yes	35	15.7	48	19.4	83	17.4	0.289
No	188	84.3	199	80.6	387	81.6	
Total	223	100.0	247	100.0	470	100.0	
Working Duration in Experienced							
Unit**							
<1 year	14	40.0*	7	14.9*	21	25.6	0.025
1-4 years	15	42.9	24	51.1	39	47.6	
5-15 years	6	17.1	16	34.0	22	26.8	
Total	35	100.0	47	100.0	82	100.0	
Benefiting from In-Service Training							
on Migrant Child Health***							
Insufficient	120	78.9	137	72.5	257	75.4	0.107
Partially sufficient	25	16.4	35	18.5	60	17.6	
Sufficient	7	4.6	17	9.0	24	7.0	
Total	152	100.0	189	100.0	341	100.0	
*Cells causing statistically significant difference							

**Of the participants (n=83) who had experience of migrant health service before the unit, 82 people answered this question.

***Participants who stated that they did not receive migrant health training after graduation were excluded from the evaluation in benefiting from in-service training on migrant child health. Note: 224 family physicians and 250 family health workers participated in the study. Participants who did not answer the question were excluded from the evaluation in the table -Chi Square test-Bonferroni Adjustment

More than half of the participants (57.8%) stated that they had difficulties in maternity screening. Family physicians stated less difficulty rather than the family health workers for breastfeeding education (p<0.05) (Table 3).

Nearly half of the participants (46.8%) stated that their patients had difficulty in complying with their appointments. In screenings of metabolic diseases, 59.3% of the participants stated that they had difficulties. Family physicians stated less difficulty rather than the family health workers for follow-up of the vaccination (p<0.05). In child nutrition Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

education, one out of two participants (58.7%) stated that they had difficulties. While unawareness of this issue is 9.2% among family physicians, it is 3.0% among family health workers (p<0.05). The increased follow-up/training time allocated to the migrant patient is a difficult situation for more than half of the participants. In the treatment outpatient clinic services, one of the two family physicians had difficulties in providing information about the treatment, explaining the use of medication, additionally prolonging the referral and examination period (Table 3)

know a foreign language and who did not take the course(p<0.05). The cultural competence scale scores of the participants who have more registered immigrant patients in their unit are

*Cells causing statistically significant difference Note: 224 family physicians and 250 family health workers participated in the study. Participants who did not answer the question were excluded from the evaluation in the table.

-Chi Square test-Bonferroni Adjustment

The cultural competence scale score of the participants who knew a foreign language and who took immigrant health course was found to be higher than the participants who did not Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

Table 3. Participants Percentage Distribution of the Responses Regarding the Situations of Difficulty Experiencing Health Care Services to Immigrants (Ankara, 2022)

Health Service Factors]	Family I	Physicia	an	Fai	nily He	alth Wo	rker		То	tal		p value
raciors	u	Not having diffuculty	I am not aware.	Having diffuculty	u	Not having ifficulty	I am not aware.	Having diffuculty	u	Not having ifficulty	I am not aware.	Having difficulty	
Preventive Health Services													
Maternity screening	174	37.0	8.0	54.6	203	35.5	3.9	60.6	377	36.4	5.8	57.8	0.185
Breastfeeding education	174	38.5	12.1*	49.4*	202	35.1	3.5*	61.4*	376	36.7	7.4	55.9	0.003
Compliance with outpatient appointment	174	48.9	6.3	44.8	202	41.6	9.9	48.5	376	44.9	8.3	46.8	0.244
Screenings for metabolic diseases	174	40.8	5.2	54.0	202	31.6	4.5	63.9	376	35.9	4.8	59.3	0.150
Vaccination screening	172	40.7	6.4*	52.9	203	36.0	2.0*	62.1	375	38.1	4.0	57.9	0.040
Child feeding education	173	37.0	9.2*	53.8	202	34.2	3.0*	62.8	375	35.4	5.9	58.7	0.020
Increased follow- up/training time for migrant patient	171	34.5	9.4	56.1	200	29.0	11.5	59.5	371	31.5	10.5	58.0	0.480
Drug treatment applications (IM/IV drug administration)	173	48.0*	7.5*	44.5	202	31.7*	16.3*	52.0	375	39.2	12.3	48.5	0.001
Outpatient health services													
Lab test request	137	62.0	6.6	31.4									
Prescribing	172	64.0	4.0	32.0			-					-	
Providing information about treatment	173	44.5	4.0	51.4									
Explaining medication use	173	42.2	5.2	52.6									
Referral of a Patient	173	43.9	5.8	50.3									
Increased inspection time	173	43.4	4.0	52.6									

higher (p<0.05). Among the participants, the cultural competence scale of those who had a low level of difficulty in providing service to immigrant patients was higher than those who had a high level of difficulty (p<0.01). (Table 4).

Participants who knew a foreign language stated that they had less difficulty while

serving immigrant patients than participants who did not know a foreign language (p<0.05). Participants who took a migrant health course before graduation or in-service training stated that they had less difficulty in providing health services to migrant patients compared to those who did not (p<0.05 and p<0.05) (Table 4).

Table 4. Distribution of Cultural Competence Scale Scores of Family Physicians and Family Health Workers Participating in the Study by Education/Service Characteristics of the Participants (Ankara, 2022)

	Cı	ultural Competence Score	Scale	Self-Evaluation Scores of Difficulty			
	n	Median (Min-Max)	p value	n	Median (Min-Max)	p value	
Knowing a Foreign Language							
Yes	236	65.0(20.0-100.0)	0.006	228	4.0(1.0-5.0)	0.018	
No	202	60.0 (20.0-100.0)		183	4.0(1.0-5.0)		
Being Abroad for More than One Month							
Yes	33	66.0 (22.0-100.0)	0.05	33	4.0(1.0-5.0)	0.123	
No	404	61.0 (20.0-100.0)		377	4.0(1.0-5.0)		
Pregraduate Migration Health Theorical Course Taking							
Yes	13	70.0 (54.0-91.0)*	0.034	12	3.0(2.0-5.0)*	0.025	
No	387	61.0 (20.0-100.0)*		362	4.0(1.0-5.0)*		
Don't remember	38	62.5 (38.0-100.0)		37	4.0(1.0-5.0)		
Pregraduate Migration Health Practical Course Taking							
Yes	12	71.0 (21.0-100.0)	0.07	11	3.0(2.0-5.0)	0.222	
No	411	61.0 (20.0-100.0)		384	4.0(1.0-5.0)		
Don't remember	15	60.0 (49.0-84.0		16	4.0(2.0-5.0)		
In-service Migration Health Course Taking							
Yes	18	67.0 (21.0-91.0)	0.12	18	3.0(2.0-5.0)*	0.001	
No	407	61.0 (20.0-100.0)		379	4.0(1.0-5.0)*		
Don't remember	12	65.0 (41.0-84.0)		13	4.0(2.0-5.0)		
Number of Migrant Patients Registered in Family Health Unit							
Under 500 patients	358	61.0 (20.0-100.0)*	0.035	337	4.0(1.0-5.0)	0.736	
500-1499 patients	31	66.0 (48.0-85.0)		28	4.0(2.0-5.0)		
1500 patients and over	13	70.0 (41.0-86.0)*		13	4.0(2.0-5.0)		

*Cell causing statistically significant difference

-Mann Whitney U and Kruskal Wallis tests

Participants having postgraduate course on migrant health, if they stated "a low level of difficulty in proving health services to migrants" 8.8 times higher than the participant with "a high level difficulty" and the odds for moderate level of difficulty is 11,7 times higher (p<0.05). The participants having higher cultural competence score, who stated that they had a low level of difficulty in serving immigrant patients was 1.083 times higher than those who had a high level of difficulty (p<0.001); participants who stated that they had moderate difficulty in serving immigrant patients were 1.049 times higher than reference group (p<0.001) (Table 5).

Participants' Education and Service	e Characteristics (A	nkara, 2022)			
	Coefficient (β)	Standart	p value	Odds	Confidence
		Error			Intervals
Constant	-7.666	1.138	< 0.001		
Being a Family Physician/					
Family Health Worker*					
Low level of difficulty **	0.642	0.449	0.152	1.901	0.789-4.580
Moderate level of difficulty***	0.344	0.280	0.219	1.410	0.815-2.440
Knowing a Foreign Language *					
Low level of difficulty **	-0.211	0.455	0.642	0.810	0.332-1.973
Moderate level of difficulty***	0.344	0.280	0.238	0.718	0.414-1.245
Pregraduation Migration					
Health Course Taking*					
Low level of difficulty **	0.752	1.001	0.453	2.121	0.298-15.096
Moderate level of difficulty***	0.693	0.745	0.352	1.999	0.464-8.605
Postgraduation Migration					
Health Course Taking*					
Low level of difficulty **	2.186	0.948	0.021	8.898	1.387-57.080
Moderate level of difficulty***	2.467	0.722	0.001	11.792	2.864-48.544
Cultural Competence Scale					
Score*					
Low level of difficulty **	0.079	0.015	< 0.001	1.083	1.051-1.115
Moderate level of difficulty***	0.048	0.009	< 0.001	1.049	1.030-1.069

Table 5. Evaluating the Relationship of Participants' Self-Assessment of Serving Migrant Patients with Participants' Education and Service Characteristics (Ankara, 2022)

Reference: Highly Difficult (Score 4 and Score 5)

* Low Difficulty (Score 1 and Point 2)

** Moderately Difficult (Score 3)

R²=0.164 (Cox-Snell). 0.204 (Nagelkerke). Model X²(10) =72.951 p<0.001

DISCUSSION

Language differences and cultural differences play an important role in immigrant health services. Defeating the language barrier between the healthcare professional and the patient makes healthcare service easier. Increasing the cultural competence of healthcare personnel improves migrant health service delivery.¹⁹ The participants with high cultural competence scores have lower difficulty to provide health services to migrants than the others with low cultural competence scores. Enhancing the crosscultural communication skills for healthcare service is evaluated as a fundamental part of education.²⁰ We found that knowing a foreign language, taking course on migrant health before graduation and working at a primary health care unit with a high migrant population have relations with cultural competence scores. In the study in which Yılmaz evaluated the cultural competence level of nurses in Gaziantep in 2020, similarly, the cultural competence level of the participants who speak a foreign language was found to be higher than those who do not.²¹ Türker, in a study evaluating 115 nurses working in family health centers in Istanbul, determined that the level of cultural competence of nurses who speak a foreign language is higher than those who do not.²² In this context, knowing a foreign language was evaluated as a factor for the level of cultural competence, similarly with these studies in the country. It is important to integrate programs that support foreign language learning into education, to reduce the difficulties experienced due to language differences in communication with different cultures, and to create and support course/program content in medical faculties and health sciences faculties for different languages before graduation.

The cultural competence scale scores of the participants who took immigrant health course before graduation and had more registered immigrant patients in their unit were higher (p<0.05). In the study conducted by Yılmaz et al. in 2017 in which family health workers were evaluated in İzmir, it was stated that education and migrant patient service experience were effective to provide health services.²³ Jowsey (2019) revealed that it is important to improve the knowledge and attitude of health professionals towards cultural differences in the provision of health *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)*

services that respond to cultural differences.²⁴ Before graduation, the inclusion of immigrant health in the curriculum is supported in terms of improving immigrant health.^{20,25} It is suggested that the content that will improve the knowledge and behaviour towards the development of service delivery that responds to different cultural characteristics should be included in the training program effectively.

Living abroad has a positive effect on people's experience of intercultural differences as well as raising their awareness of their own personalities and aims.²⁰ In a study evaluating nursing faculty students in Australia, it was found that 89.7% of them had travel experience abroad, and 19.3% had internship experience abroad.²⁶ In this study, it was evaluated that the frequency of family physicians and family health workers staying abroad for more than one month was lower than the examples in other countries.^{27,28,29} Ensuring that students gain experience in terms of academic and social development in different countries by supporting student mobility abroad could support a positive approach to different cultures.

The participants have difficulty to provide maternal and child health care to the migrant people. More than half of the participants (57.8%) stated that they had difficulties in pregnancy follow-up. Studies have shown that immigrants have difficulties in pregnancy follow-up due to the fact that health professionals do not know Arabic and that they have cultural differences.^{30,31,32} Batista et al. reduce health inequalities in antenatal follow-ups; therefore, they emphasize that it causes complications by not defining the risks during pregnancy. The lack of easy access to health services may be associated with deepening health inequalities among immigrant individuals.³³

Breastfeeding education is very important for the babies to be healthy. In our study, approximately one out of two participants (55.9%) stated that they had difficulty in breastfeeding education. In a study (2019) evaluating the people involved in the breastfeeding education and support program in Bangladesh refugee camps, it was determined that more than half of the participants (58.3%) had difficulties in the education and support process due to communication and cultural differences.³⁴ In our study, family health workers had more difficulties than family physicians (p < 0.05). In breastfeeding education, family health workers have more communication with the patient than family physicians in terms of communication and guidance.³⁵ The reason can be explained with cultural perspective; most of the family health workers are female, they are more preferred by immigrant patients for questions and counselling.³⁶

Metabolic disease screenings, 59.3% of the participants stated that they had difficulties. In their qualitative research, Kroening et al. defined low education level, difficulties in communication, beliefs/values, health perception, traditional health practices in immigrant families as important factors in benefiting from childhood screening services.³⁷ While therapeutic health services were more on the agenda in Syria before the war, preventive health services and screening programs were not included in national plans.³⁸ This may be related to the low compliance and participation of families in screening programs.

Family physicians have less difficulty in vaccination follow-up and child nutrition education than family health workers. This situation can be explained by the fact that the duties of family health workers in the childhood vaccination program are reminding of the vaccinations of immigrant children, arranging their appointments and administering the vaccine are in the job description of the family health worker.³⁹ Çelebi (2019) evaluated the language barrier as an important factor in the difficulty of family health workers, while nutritional recommendations are given by family physicians and family health workers during childhood follow-up.⁴⁰

In outpatient services, one of the two family physicians had difficulties in providing information about the treatment plan, explaining drug use, and prolonging the referral and examination period. Delilovic et al. stated that in addition to language differences, the lack of sufficient information about the health system of immigrant individuals and the difficulty of expressing during the referral cause the examination process to be prolonged.⁴¹ Difficulty in communication due to language difference could be considered as a factor that prolongs the examination period, as it makes communication with the healthcare professional difficult during the examination.

In the advanced analysis model established at the end of descriptive analyses, taking inservice migration health training and higher cultural competency score is associated with low levels of difficulty in migrant health services. Taking migration health course and cultural differences have been evaluated as facilitating factors.⁴² Supporting health professionals in providing services to migrants to gain an attitude that accepts cultural differences improves the quality of service as well as their knowledge, skills and competencies.

In this study, it has been found important that health workers have high scores in the cultural competence scale and receiving inservice training on migrant health in order to not have difficulties while providing services to immigrants.

Study Limitations and Strengths:

One of the strengths of the research is to reach the family physician and family health worker and ask about their interactions with the immigrant population and to evaluate themselves. During this interaction, health professionals' views on child health services of the immigrant population, as well as cultural differences that will affect service delivery, were learned in detail.

Districts farther from the centre could not be evaluated. Difficulties arose as the research was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic. Family physicians and family health workers who were positive for COVID-19 in family health centres could not be reached. During the visits to family health centres, it was learned that there were family physicians and family health workers who had a health report due to chronic diseases and did not work in that period.

There were family physicians and family health workers who stated that they could not participate in the study due to the patient density in family health centres, since the data collection period was in the winter period and the applications were increased due to upper respiratory tract infections. For this reason, the results of the research cannot be generalized to the population and will not show causality because they only reflect the research group.

For the researches in future, qualitative and quantitative researches in migrant health centers are recommended to evaluate the options of migrant patients about difficulties faced during health service admissions and treatment processes.

CONCLUSION

According to the study findings, the health professionals that took migration health education face less challenges than others. For this reason, it is recommended that family physicians and family health workers should receive training on immigrant health. Interventions within the scope of migration health education for family physicians and family health workers can be planned both for under-graduate period and in the postgraduate period. Health care providers are should be encouraged to learn foreign language and have experience abroad experience during their education. Planning in-service theoretical and practical training that increases cultural competence is recommended to improve immigrant health services.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Conflict of interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Financial Support: The study had no external financial support.

Ethical Approval: Hacettepe University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee approved the study (approval number: 2021/14-47-Document Number 16969557-1607) **Authorship Contributions:** Concept: DÖ, HÖ Design: DÖ, HÖ Supervising: HÖ Data collection and entry: DÖ, Analysis and interpretation: DÖ, HÖ Literature search: DÖ, HÖ Writing: DÖ, HÖ Critical review: HÖ

REFERENCES

- World Migration Report 2022. In: IOM UN Migration Publications Platform [online]. Available at: https://publications.iom.int/books/worldmigration-report-2022. Accessed January 20,2024.
- Yıllara Göre Geçici Koruma Kapsamındaki Suriyeliler. In: T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Göç İdaresi Başkanlığı. Available at: https://www.goc.gov.tr/ gecici-koruma5638. Accessed March 9, 2024.
- 3. Ekmekci PE. Syrian Refugees, Health and Migration Legislation in Turkey. J Immigr Minor Health 2017;19(6):1434-41.
- 4. Kadir A, Battersby A, Spencer N, Hjern A. Children on the move in Europe: a narrative review of the evidence on the health risks, health needs and health policy for asylum seeking, refugee and undocumented children. BMJ Paediatr Open 2019;3(1):e000364.
- 5. Stevens AJ. How can we meet the health needs of child refugees, asylum seekers and undocumented migrants? Arch Dis Child 2020;105(2):191-6.
- 6. Büyüktiryaki M, Canpolat FE, Alyamaç Dizdar E et al. Neonatal outcomes of Syrian refugees delivered in a tertiary hospital in Ankara, Turkey. Confl Health 2015; 38(9).
- Perk O, Yılmaz Candar A. Evaluation of Syrian Patients Followed in Children Intensive Care Unit: Syrian Immigrants children. Chronicles of Precision Medical Researchers 2022; 3(1), 16–20.
- Yalaki Z, Taşar M, Ünsal Saç R, Uslu Gökçeoğlu A, Şimşek Orhon F. Evaluation of Child Refugees' Reasons for Applying to Hospital: Ankara Experience. J Contemp Med. 2020;10(4):510-515.
- Kınık K, Koçak H, Mayadağlı A. Evaluation of the National Health System Utilization Status of the Syrian Refugees in Turkey Between 2011 and 2017. Disaster Med Public Health Prep. 2022;17:e92.
- 10. Babacan T, Yılmaz TE, Babacan MT et al. Evaluation of immigrant health services in Turkey: a singlecenter study. J Public Health (Berl.) 2022; 30, 2491–2498.
- 11. Ayhan Baser D, Mıhcı Ö, Direk MT, Cankurtaran M. Views and experiences of family physicians about Syrian refugee patients in Turkey: a qualitative research. Prim Health Care Res Dev. 2021;22:e19.

- Dikmetaş YE, Coşkun UN, Yardan T. Göçmen Hastalar ile Aile Hekimliği Personeli Arasındaki İletişim . Samsun Sağlık Bilimleri Dergisi 2016;1(2):83-92.
- Savci C. Göçmen / Mülteci / Sığınmacı Hastalara Bakım Veren Hemşire ve Ebelerin Karşılaştıkları Güçlüklerin Belirlenmesi. Social Sciences Studies Journal 2019;5(43):4631-4637.
- 14. Zengin M, Düken ME, Yayan EH, Dağ YS. Hemşirelerin Suriyeli Sığınmacı Çocuklara Bakım Verirken Yaşadığı Güçlükler. İnönü Üniversitesi Sağlık Hizmetleri Meslek Yüksek Okulu Dergisi 2021;9(1):252-263.
- Tengilimoğlu D, Zekioğlu A, Budak F, Eriş H, Younis M. Refugees' Opinions about Healthcare Services: A Case of Turkey. Healthcare (Basel) 2021;9(5):e490.
- 16. Lars TF, Kathy Ainul M, Esperanza D. Primary healthcare usage and morbidity among immigrant children compared with non-immigrant children: a population-based study in Norway. BMJ Open 2016;6(10):e012101.
- 17. Savran S, Sat NA. Ankara'da Suriyeli Göçmenlerin Yer Seçimi Tercihlerinin İncelenmesi ve Bir Etnik Kentsel Adacık Örneği Olarak Önder, Ulubey, Alemdağ Mahalleleri. Ankara Araştırmaları Dergisi 2019;7(2):283 - 302.
- Gözüm S, Tuzcu A, Yurt S. Developing a Cultural Competency Scale for Primary Health Care Professionals. Studies in Psychology 2020;40(2):429-450.
- Sevinç S, Kılıç SP, Ajghif M, Öztürk MH, Karadağ E. Difficulties encountered by hospitalized Syrian refugees and their expectations from nurses. Int Nurs Rev. 2016;63(3):406-414.
- Gruner D, Feinberg Y, Venables MJ, Shanza Hashmi S, Saad A, Archibald D, et al. An undergraduate medical education framework for refugee and migrant health: Curriculum development and conceptual approaches. BMC Medical Education. 2022;22(1):374.
- Yılmaz M, Kuğuoğlu S. Çocuk Kliniklerinde Çalışan Hemşirelerin Kültürel Yeterlilik Düzeyleri: Bir Devlet Hastanesi Örneği. Kırşehir Ahi Evran Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Dergisi 2023;7(3):205-213.
- 22. Türker A. Aile sağlığı merkezinde çalışan hemşire ve ebelerin sağlık iletişimi yeterlilikleri ve kültürlerarası etkililikleri. In:ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. Available at: https://www.proquest.com/dissertationstheses/aile-sağlığı-merkezinde-çalışanhemşire-ve/docview/2468382291/se-2. 2019. Accessed:January 20,2024.

- 23. Yılmaz M, Yeni C, Avcı E, Uluk N. Aile Sağlığı Merkezlerinde Çalışan Hemşire/Ebelerin Kültürel Duyarlılık ve Kültürel Beceri Düzeylerinin İncelenmesi. Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Fakültesi Elektronik Dergisi 2019;12(3):170-8.
- 24. Jowsey T. Three zones of cultural competency: surface competency, bias twilight, and the confronting midnight zone. BMC Med Educ 2019;19(1):e306.
- 25. Chohan N, Arzoky Z, Khan N. Twelve tips for incorporating migrant and ethnic minorities in the medical curriculum and healthcare. Med Teach. 2021;43(10):1122-6.
- 26. Wang C, Shakespeare-Finch J, Dunne MP, Hou XY, Khawaja NG. How much can our universities do in the development of cultural intelligence? A crosssectional study among health care students. Nurse Educ Today 2021;103:e104956.
- 27. Slifko SE, Vielot NA, Becker-Dreps S, Pathman DE, Myers JG, Carlough M. Students with global experiences during medical school are more likely to work in settings that focus on the underserved: an observational study from a public U.S. institution. BMC Med Educ 2021;21(1):e552.
- Nishigori H, Takahashi O, Sugimoto N, Kitamura K, McMahon GT. A national survey of international electives for medical students in Japan: 2009-2010. Med Teach 2012;34(1):71-3.
- 29. Tamamaki K, Nishio H. Study abroad experience is related to Japanese doctors' behavior to see foreign patients. Kobe J Med Sci 2013;59(1):e10-6.
- 30. Artuğ CG, Beydağ KD. Mülteci Gebe ve Lohusa Kadınlara Bakım Veren Ebe ve Hemşirelerin Bakım Verme ve Bakımı Sürdürmede Yaşadığı Güçlükler. Dünya İnsan Bilimleri Dergisi 2022;2:53-72.
- 31. Rogers HJ, Hogan L, Coates D, Homer CSE, Henry A. Responding to the health needs of women from migrant and refugee backgrounds-Models of maternity and postpartum care in high-income countries: A systematic scoping review. Health Soc Care Community 2020;28(5):1343-65.
- 32. Winn A, Hetherington E, Tough S. Caring for pregnant refugee women in a turbulent policy landscape: perspectives of health care professionals in Calgary, Alberta. Int J Equity Health 2018;17(1):e91.
- 33. Batista R, Pottie K, Bouchard L, Ng E, Tanuseputro P, Tugwell P. Primary Health Care Models Addressing

Health Equity for Immigrants: A Systematic Scoping Review. J Immigr Minor Health 2018;20(1):214-30.

- 34. Azad F, Rifat MA, Manir MZ, Biva NA. Breastfeeding support through wet nursing during nutritional emergency: A cross sectional study from Rohingya refugee camps in Bangladesh. PLoS One 2019;14(10):e0222980.
- 35. Işık H, Arça G. Anne Sütü ve Emzirmeye İlişkin Ebe ve Hemşirenin Rolü. Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Dergisi 2019;1(3):221-8.
- 36. George P, Terrion JL, Ahmed R. Reproductive health behaviour of Muslim immigrant women in Canada. International Journal of Migration, Health and Social Care 2014;10:88-101.
- Kroening AL, Moore JA, Welch TR, Halterman JS, Hyman SL. Developmental Screening of Refugees: A Qualitative Study. Pediatrics 2016;138(3): e20160234.
- 38. Audi MN, Mwenda KM, Wei G, Lurie MN. Healthcare accessibility in preconflict Syria: a comparative spatial analysis. BMJ Open 2022;12(5):e059210.
- 39. Aile Hekimliği Uygulama Yönetmeliği. In: T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi. Available at: https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/t?MevzuatNo=17 051&MevzuatTur=7&MevzuatTertip=5. Accessed January 22,2024.
- 40. Çelebi C. Hemşirelerin Farklı Kültürden Olan Hastaya Yaklaşımları, Yüksek Lisans Tezi. In: Yükseköğretim Kurulu Başkanlığı Tez Merkezi. Available at: https://tez.yok.gov.tr/ UlusalTezMerkezi/giris.jsp. Accessed January 22,2024. Accessed January 22,2024.
- 41. Delilovic S, Kulane A, Åsbring N, Marttila A, Lönnroth K. What value for whom? – provider perspectives on health examinations for asylum seekers in Stockholm, Sweden. BMC Health Services Research 2018;18(1):e601.
- 42. Jongen, C., J. McCalman, and R. Bainbridge, Health workforce cultural competency interventions: a systematic scoping review. BMC Health Serv Res 2018;18(1):232.
- 43. Perng SJ, Watson R. Construct validation of the nurse cultural competence scale: A hierarchy of abilities. Journal of clinical nursing. 2012; 21(11-12): 1678-1684.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Sleep quality and related factors in individuals aged 20 and over consulting primary health care centers



¹MD., Research Assistant, Manisa Celal Bayar University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Manisa, Türkiye ² Prof. Dr., Manisa Celal Bayar University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Manisa, Türkiye

Received: 10.11.2023, Accepted: 29.03.2024

Abstract

Objective: This cross-sectional study aimed to evaluate the prevalence of poor sleep quality and to identify related factors among adults.

Methods: This study was among adults aged ≥ 20 years registered at Primary Health Care Center in August-September 2022. Primary outcome was sleep quality, which was assessed by Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI). Secondary outcomes were sociodemographic, lifestyle, health characteristics, sleep-related factors, anxiety-depression. Chi-square test for categorical variables was used in univariate analysis, logistic regression models in multivariate analysis was used. SPSS version 23.0 was used for analysis, type-1 error accepted as 0.05.

Results: Participant's average age was 40.98±13.68 years. 34.6% of participants had poor sleep quality. 12.7% of them had abnormal level anxiety while 8.5% had abnormal level depression. Between total PSQI score and anxiety-depression, there was a moderate positive correlation (r=.375,p<0.001;r=.468,p<0.001,respectively). Being older (RR=1.07(95%CI=1.04-1.10)); being female (RR=5.1(95%CI=1.9-13.6)); living in semi-urban area (RR=2.9(95%CI=1.3-6.5)); shift/part-time work (RR=3.9(95%CI=1.1-14.0)); smoking (RR=2.7(95%CI=1.1-6.7)); sleeping in dim light (RR=6.0(95%CI=2.5-14.5)) or sleeping in bright light (RR=9.5(95%CI=3.3-27.5)); being stressed (RR=5.0(95%CI=1.7-14.3)); borderline (RR=3.6(95%CI=1.1-11.3)) or abnormal level (RR=9.5(95%CI=2.6-34.4)) anxiety was found to be related to poor sleep quality.

Conclusion: One out of three people had poor sleep quality. Increasing age, gender, low socioeconomic status, negative lifestyle, poor sleep hygiene and mental health were associated with poor sleep quality. Health-promoting activities should be held to encourage individual's positive health behavior development, in chronic disease follow-ups, sleep quality should be questioned. Since sleep hygiene and mental health were important determinants of sleep quality, people should be informed about how to improve these.

Keywords: Sleep Quality, Sleep Hygiene, Anxiety, Primary Health Care

Correspondence: MD., Research Assistant, Zeynep Ceyda Buran, Manisa Celal Bayar University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Manisa, Türkiye **E-mail:** zeynep.ceyda.buran@gmail.com, **Phone:**+90 506 876 75 91

Cite This Article: Buran ZC, Ozyurt BC. Sleep quality and related factors in individuals aged 20 and over consulting primary health care centers. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 87-101.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u> This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

Sleep, which constitutes one-third of one's life and is a vital behavior, is one of the requirements of a healthy life and is a temporary state of unconsciousness that can be returned by sensory or other stimuli, but it is an active renewal period that provides rest and prepares person for life again.^{1,2} Sleep quality (SQ) is defined as feeling mentally and physically vigorous, rested, ready for next day after waking up, and includes quantitative (sleep latency, duration, number of awakenings) and subjective (depth, restfulness) components.^{3,4} Many negative cognitive, behavioral, physiological and emotional changes such as fatigue, distraction, irritability, mental disorder, tension in family and social relationships, loss of appetite or increased carbohydrate/ fat intake, increased caffeine/alcohol intake and decreased pain threshold occur in the deprivation of sleep, which is required for the regular functioning of brain and energy storage.^{3,5-7}SQ-related problems are important since they are common and can be a symptom of many diseases.⁴ Epidemiological studies have suggested that poor SQ is related with mortality and many adverse health outcomes such as increased risk of high blood pressure, diabetes, corpulence, myocardial infarction, cardiovascular and psychiatric disease.^{8,9}as well as with a wide range of negative health outcomes. However, few studies have examined the association between sleep and self-rated health, particularly through the combination of sleep complaints. The objective of this study was to examine whether self-rated health is associated with sleep complaints, considering the combination of sleep duration, insomnia, and sleep sufficiency. This cross-sectional

study was performed in the 18 largest public hospitals in the city of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. A total of 2518 female nurses answered a self-filled multidimensional questionnaire. The adjusted odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals (CIs According to studies, 15-35% of the population suffer from widespread SQ disorders such as difficulty falling asleep and maintaining sleep.⁴

According to population-based 'National Study of Sleep Epidemiology in Adults' (TAPES) conducted by Turkish Sleep Medicine Society in 2010, frequency of poor SQ is 21.8%.¹⁰ Prevalence of poor SQ, which has a wide-interval, is between 15.0-53.0% in Turkey and 32.1-63.7% in other countries.¹¹⁻¹⁸ Conforming to an international multicenter study, 56.0% of those living in the United States (USA), 31.0% of those living in Western Europe, 23.0% of those living in Japan had sleep problems and prevalence of poor SQ ranged from 31.0% to 52.0%.¹⁹

Problems with SQ are especially associated with psychiatry; anxiety, depression, stressrelated factors are the major concomitants.⁴ body mass index, familial/social Age, relationships, room temperature, electronic device use are also known to affect SQ.7 In literature, older age, low education and socioeconomic level, physical inactivity, obesity, smoking, having poor mental and physical health, shift working, poor sleep hygiene were found to be associated with poor SQ.^{11,20-22} While most studies suggest that SQ is worse in women, a few have found no association between gender and SQ.^{10,11,13-} ^{16,20} Also, prolonged use and addiction to electronic devices worsen SQ.^{23,24}

Due to lifestyle or environmental factors that disrupt SQ, which is necessary and important

for health and well-being, sleep problems occur over time and cause significant adverse health consequences. Considering that poor SQ prevalence will increase gradually, it emerges as an important social problem. Therefore, our study aimed to assess sleep quality, its relationship with anxiety-depression and other factors among adults aged ≥20 years.

METHODS

Study Design and Sampling

The research is a cross-sectional study. The study was conducted among adults aged ≥ 20 years registered at three Primary Health Care Center (PHC) in urban and semi-urban areas in August-September 2022. By stratifying the urban and semi-urban areas in Manisa according to their population, two PHCs from the urban area and one from the semi-urban area were randomly selected.

The population of this research consists of 349.813 individuals aged >20 years in Manisa city center. Sample size was calculated as 260 using Epi-Info StatCalc software, version 7.2.3.1 with a confidence interval of 95%, with an expected prevalence of 21.8% ¹⁰ and the margin of error was 5%. Individuals aged \geq 20 years who applied to the PHC at the time of the study and agreed to participate were included. In case of refusal to participate, data collection was continued until the determined sample size was reached.

Data Collection

Data were collected by face-to-face interview technique, after obtaining consent of participants by researchers, by using a structured questionnaire consisting of six sections. After filling the questionnaire, participants' height and weight were measured and recorded by researcher. 37 *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)* people refused to participate and 260 people were reached. The participation rate was 87.5% (n=260/297). The dependent variable of the study is SQ. To assess SQ, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) was used.

Study Instruments

Each person completed questionnaire about sociodemographic and lifestyle data (e.g., age, gender, marital status, smoking, physical activity), health (e.g., chronic conditions), sleep-related factors (e.g., caffeine consumption, lighting of the room), anxietydepression (Hospital Anxiety-Depression Scale, detailed below) and SQ (PSQI, detailed below).

Hospital Anxiety-Depression Scale (HADS): The 14-item self-report scale was developed by Zigmond and Snaith in 1983 to evaluate the level of anxiety-depression, Aydemir et al. conducted Turkish reliability and validity study of the scale in 1997.^{25,26} HADS consist of two subscales; anxiety (1,3,5,7,9,11,13. items) and depression (2,4,6,8,10,12. items). Each item is scored from 0 to 3 points and total scores of subscales ranges from 0 to 21. A score between 0-7 considered normal, between 8-10 considered borderline, and ≥11 considered abnormal. The internal consistency coefficients (*Chronbach* α) are measured 0.85 for anxiety subscale and 0.78 for depression subscale.²⁶

Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI): PSQI was developed by Buysse et al. in 1989 to make a short and useful SQ assessment that is reliable, valid, standardized, easy to use and evaluate.⁴ Ağargün et al. conducted Turkish reliability and validity of PSQI in 1996.²⁷ Index consists of seven dimensions (subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration,

habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbance, use of sleeping pills, daytime dysfunction) and 24-item; while first 19-item is based on self-report, last 5-item is answered by a bed partner/roommate. Last 5-item are not included in scoring and are solely used to obtain clinical info. Dimensions are scored from 0 to 3 points. By summing dimensions' points total PSQI score, ranging from 0 to 21, is obtained. While lower points indicate good SQ, higher ones indicate poor SQ. PSQI's cut-off point is 5; \leq 5 considered good SQ, >5 considered poor SQ.⁴ The internal consistency coefficients (*Chronbach* α) are measured 0.80.

Statistical Analysis

Data were evaluated using SPSS version 23.0 (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA) statistical package program. Descriptive data were presented as frequencies and percentage (n%)for categorical variables, mean±standard deviation, median (min-max) for continuous variables. In data analysis, Chi-Square test was used for categorical data, logistic regression analysis was used for multiple analyses. Homer-Lemeshow test was used for model fit. Pearson correlation test was used to compare normally distributed continuous variables, while Spearman correlation test was used for non-normally distributed continuous p < 0.05 was considered statistically data. significant.

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval numbered 2023/1643 (January 04,2023) was obtained from the Health Sciences Ethics Committee of our institution. The study was carried out in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Informed consent from participants was obtained. No financial support was received, there is no conflict of interest.

RESULTS

Total of 260 participants were enrolled in the study. Average age was 40.98 ± 13.68 years and approximately $\frac{1}{3}$ of them were women. Of the participants, 13.1% were working shifts and 8.0% working part-time, and 21.9%'s income level was less than expenses. More than half of participants were overweight/obese, 24.2% were smokers, 46.2% were physically inactive, 43.8% had a chronic disease (Table-1).

Table 1. Demographic, Lifestyle		Health
Characteristics of Participants (n=2	60)	
Variable	n	(%)
Age Mean (SD)		0.98
	(1.	3.68)
Place of Residence		
Urban	111	42.7
Semi-Urban	149	57.3
Gender		
Female	166	63.8
Male	94	36.2
Educational Status		
Uneducated	17	6.5
Primary school	59	22.7
Secondary school	27	10.4
High school	65	25.0
University	92	35.4
Marital Status		
Married/Living With a Partner	181	69.6
Single	57	21.9
Divorced	11	4.2
Widowed	11	4.2
Having Children		
Yes	190	73.1
No	70	26.9
Family Structure		
Extended	17	6.5
Nuclear	226	86.9
Single-Parent Family	17	6.5
Employment Status		
- V		

Table 1. (countinued) Demo		-
and Health Characteristics	of Partic	cipants
(n=260)	100	47.0
Unemployed	123	47.3
Full-time	108	78.8
Part-time	11	8.0
Shift-work	18	13.1
Social Class		
Upper	134	51.5
Lower	126	48.5
Income Level		
More than expenses	54	20.8
Equal to expense	149	57.3
Less than expenses	57	21.9
Body Mass Index		
Normal	111	42.7
Overweight	99	38.1
Obese	50	19.2
Smoking		
Never	175	67.3
Former	22	8.5
Current	63	24.2
Alcohol Use		
Yes	101	38.8
No	159	61.2
Physical Activity		
Never	120	46.2
1-3 days/week	101	38.8
>3 days/week	39	15.0
Comorbidity		
Yes	114	43.8
No	146	56.2
Previous Psychiatric	Disorder	
Diagnosed by A Physician		
Yes	32	12.3
No	228	87.7
Prescription Drug Use		
Yes	126	48.5
No	134	51.5
Perceived Health Status		
Very Bad	1	0.4
Bad	8	3.1
Not good, not bad	66	25.4
Good	155	59.6
Very good	30	11.5
		11.0
SD: Standard Deviation		

SD: Standard Deviation

Of the participants, 94 consumed caffeinated beverages after 6.00 p.m., 112 used electronics before bed. While 15.8% of participants slept in bright room, 26.5% slept in dimly room. One fifth of the participants' perceived stress level in last month was bad/very bad. Table-2 shows other sleep-related factors.

Table 2. Sleep-Related Factors of	Partic	ipants
(n=260)		
Variable	n	%
Amount Of Water Consumed Per D	ay	I
≤1.5 L	39	15.0
1.6-2.4 L	89	34.2
≥2.5 L	132	50.8
Consumption Of Caffeinated Beve	rages	
After 6.00 pm		
Always	46	17.7
Usually	48	18.5
Sometimes	71	27.3
Rarely	37	14.2
Never	58	22.3
Eating In Last 2 Hours Before Bed		
Yes	101	38.8
No	159	61.2
Bedroom Lighting		
Dark	150	57.7
Dimly	69	26.5
Bright	41	15.8
Perceived Stress Level in The Last M	lonth	
Very good	9	3.5
Good	105	40.4
Not good, not bad	90	34.6
Bad	39	15.0
Very Bad	17	6.5
Workplace Stress (n=137)		
Very good	5	3.6
Good	54	39.4
Not good, not bad	48	35.0
Bad	23	16.8
Very Bad	7	5.1
Using Electronics Before Bed		
Always	43	16.5
Usually	69	26.5
Sometimes	54	20.8
Rarely	42	16.2

Table 2. (countinued)Sleep-RelParticipants (n=260)	ated Fact	ors of
Never	52	20.0
Owning a Pet		
Yes	39	15.0
No	221	85.0
Bed Type		
Orthopedic	232	89.2
Floor Bed	11	4.2
Sofa Bed	17	6.5
Assessment of Sleep Patterns		
Very good	15	5.8
Good	156	60.0
Not good, not bad	60	23.1
Bad	21	8.1
Very Bad	8	3.1

Among the participants, 33 had abnormal level anxiety and 22 had abnormal level depression (Table-3).

Table 3. Anxiety and Depression Status of				
Participants* (n=260)				
Variable	n	%		
Anxiety Mean (SD)	5.42	(4.29)		
Normal	199	76.5		
Borderline	28	10.8		
Abnormal	33	12.7		
Depression Mean (SD)	4.56	(3.91)		
Normal	202	77.7		
Borderline	36	13.8		
Abnormal	22	8.5		

*SD: Standard Deviation, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale

Total PSQI score was 4.22±3.04, 34.6% had poor SQ. Mean scores obtained from subdimensions of PSQI are given in Table-4.

Table-5 shows factors associated with SQ in univariate analysis. SQ was significantly poorer among those aged more than 45 years, compared to younger participants (p=.006). Females also had poorer SQ compared to males (p<.001). While those secondary school and below education level

had poorer SQ compared to those above it (p=.026). Participants who were shift/ part-time workers, were living a semi-urban area, had less income than expenses, had comorbidity, were overweight/obese, were smoking had poorer SQ (respectively; p=.004, p<.001, p=.017, p=.025, p=.014, p=.002). It was found that SQ of those who consumed caffeinated beverages after 6.00 p.m., slept in a lighted room, had bad/very bad stress level in the last month and had bad/very bad workplace stress, used electronics before bed, had abnormal level anxiety and depression is poorer (respectively; p=.002, p<.001, p<.001, p<.001, p=.021, p<.001, p<.001). Correlation analysis between total PSQI score and anxietydepression showed a moderate positive correlation between total PSQI score and anxiety and depression (respectively; r=.375, p<0.001; r=.468, p<0.001).

Table 4. PSQI, PSQI Sub-Dimensio	n Scores an	d Sleep
Quality* (n=260)		
PSQI Sub-Dimensions	Mean =	⊢ SD
Subjective Sleep Quality	$1.06 \pm$	0.69
Sleep Latency	$0.94\pm$	0.97
Sleep Duration	$0.34\pm$	0.71
Habitual Sleep Efficiency	$0.12 \pm$	0.48
Sleep Disturbance	$1.04 \pm$	0.51
Use Of Sleeping Pills	$0.09 \pm$	0.46
Daytime Dysfunction	$0.63 \pm$	0.83
Total PSQI Score	4.22 ± 3	3.04
Variable	n	%
Sleep Quality		
Good Sleep Quality	170	65.4
Poor Sleep Quality	90	34.6

* SD: Standard Deviation, PSQI: Pittsburg Sleep Quality Index, SD: Standard Deviation

Table 5. Factors Associated with Sleep Quality (n=260)					
	Sleep Quality				
	Good Sl	Good Sleep Quality		ep Quality	
Variable	n	%	n	%	р
Age					
<30	53	75.7	17	24.3	0.006**
31-45	65	67.7	31	32.3	
>45	52	55.3	42	44.7	
Gender					
Female	94	56.6	72	43.4	<0.001*
Male	76	80.9	18	19.1	
Place of Residence					
Semi-Urban	55	49.5	56	50.5	< 0.001*
Urban	115	77.2	34	22.8	
Educational Status					
Secondary school and below	59	57.3	44	42.7	0.026*
High school and above	111	70.7	46	29.3	
Employment Status					
Unemployed	76	70.4	32	29.6	0.004*
Full-time	83	67.5	40	32.5	
Shift-work/Part-time	11	37.9	18	62.1	
Social Class					
Lower	74	58.7	52	41.3	0.029*
Upper	96	71.6	38	28.4	
Having Children					
Yes	116	61.1	74	38.9	0.016*
No	54	77.1	16	22.9	
Income Level					
More than expenses	39	72.2	15	27.8	0.017**
Equal to expense	102	68.5	47	31.5	
Less than expenses	29	50.9	28	49.1	
Body Mass Index					
Normal	79	71.2	32	28.8	0.014**
Overweight	66	66.7	33	33.3	
Obese	25	50.0	25	50.0	
Smoking					
Yes	31	49.2	32	50.8	0.002*
No	139	70.6	58	29.4	
Physical Activity	/				
Never	71	59.2	49	40.8	0.030**
1-3 days/week	69	68.3	32	31.7	
>3 days/week	30	76.9	9	23.1	
Comorbidity			-		
Yes	66	57.9	48	42.1	0.025*
No	104	71.2	42	28.8	0.023

Table 5. (countinued) Factors As	sociated with	Sleep Quality	r (n=260)		
Previous Psychiatric Disorder D	Diagnosed by A	A Physician			
Yes	10	31.3	22	68.8	< 0.001*
No	160	70.2	68	29.8	
Perceived Health Status					
Good/Very Good	137	74.1	48	25.9	<0.001**
Not good, not bad	32	48.5	34	51.5	
Bad/Very Bad	1	11.1	8	88.9	
Amount Of Water Consumed Pe	r Day				
≤1.5 L	18	46.2	21	53.8	0.001**
1.6-2.4 L	54	60.7	35	39.3	
≥2.5 L	98	74.2	34	25.8	
Consumption of Caffeinated Bev	verages After	6.00 pm			
Never/Rarely	71	74.7	24	25.3	0.002**
Sometimes	49	69.0	22	31.0	
Always/Usually	50	53.2	44	46.8	
Bedroom Lighting					
Dark	126	84.0	24	16.0	< 0.001**
Dimly	30	43.5	39	56.5	
Bright	14	34.1	27	65.9	
Perceived Stress Level in The La	ist Month				
Good/Very Good	92	80.7	22	19.3	< 0.001**
Not good, not bad	61	67.8	29	32.2	
Bad/Very Bad	17	30.4	39	69.6	
Workplace Stress (n=137)					
Good/Very Good	48	81.4	11	18.6	< 0.001**
Not good, not bad	29	60.4	19	39.6	
Bad/Very Bad	10	33.3	20	66.7	
Using Electronics Before Bed					
Never/Rarely	69	73.4	25	26.6	0.021**
Sometimes	36	66.7	18	33.3	
Always/Usually	65	58.0	47	42.0	
Bed Type					
Orthopedic	158	68.1	74	31.9	0.017*
Floor Bed	6	54.5	5	45.5	
Sofa Bed	6	35.3	11	64.7	
Anxiety					
Normal	156	78.4	43	21.6	<0.001**
Borderline	9	32.1	19	67.9	
Abnormal	5	15.2	28	84.8	
Depression					
Normal	147	72.8	55	27.2	< 0.001**
Borderline	18	50.0	18	50.0	
Abnormal	147	72.8	55	27.2	

*Chi-Square Test **Chi-Square Test for Trend; Only statistically significant variables given.

Statistically significant variables with SQ in univariate analysis were included to multivariate analysis. Four models were performed in multivariate analysis (Table-6 and Table-7). As shown in Table-7, according to final model (Model-4), being older (RR=1.07(95%CI=1.04-1.10)); being female (RR=5.1(95%CI=1.9-13.6)); living in a semiurban area (RR=2.9(95%CI=1.3-6.5)); shift/

part-time work (RR=3.9(95%CI=1.1-14.0)); smoking(RR=2.7(95%CI=1.1-6.7));sleepingin dim (RR=6.0(95%CI=2.5-14.5)) or bright light (RR=9.5(95%CI=3.3-27.5)); being stressed (RR=5.0(95%CI=1.7-14.3)); borderline (RR=3.6(95%CI=1.1-11.3)) abnormal or level anxiety (RR=9.5(95%CI=2.6-34.4)) increased the risk of poor SQ [p<.001,p=.003,p=.032,p=.001;respectively.]

	Μ	ODEL 1	MODEL 2	
Variable	<i>p**</i>	RR	<i>p**</i>	RR
		(95% CI)		(95% CI)
Sociodemographic Characteristics				
Age	<.001	1.04	<.001	1.05
		(1.02 - 1.07)		(1.02-1.07)
Gender				
Male (Reference)		1 (Ref)		1 (Ref)
Female	<.001	3.5	<.001	4.4
		(1.8-7.0)		(2.1-9.0)
Place of Residence				
Urban (Reference)		1 (Ref)		1 (Ref)
Semi-Urban	<.001	3.3	<.001	3.0
		(1.8-6.0)		(1.6-5.5)
Employment Status				
Full-time (Reference)		1 (Ref)		1 (Ref)
Unemployed	.204	0.6	.324	0.7
		(0.3-1.3)		(0.4-1.4)
Shift-work/Part-time	.008	3.7	.010	3.6
		(1.4-9.7)		(1.4-9.4)
Lifestyle and Health Characteristics				
Smoking				
No (Reference)	-	-		1 (Ref)
Yes	-	-	.003	2.9
				(1.4-5.5)
R ²	0.289		0.341	

*Only statistically significant variables given; ****Binary Logistic Regression (Backward-Wald); RR: Risk Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; R2: Coefficient of Determination.

Variables Included in Models;

Model 1: Age, Place of Residence, Gender, Educational Status, Employment Status, Income Status **Model 2:** Model 1 + Smoking, Body Mass Index, Physical Activity, Comorbidity

	Μ	IODEL 3	Μ	ODEL 4
Variable	<i>p**</i>	RR (95% CI)	p **	RR (95% CI)
Sociodemographic Characteristics				
Age	<.001	1.07	<.001	1.07
		(1.04-1.10)		(1.04-1.10)
Gender				
Male (Reference)		1 (Ref)		1 (Ref)
Female	<.001	5.3	.001	5.1
		(2.1-13.1)		(1.9-13.6)
Place of Residence				
Urban (Reference)		1 (Ref)		1 (Ref)
Semi-Urban	.001	3.7	.008	2.9
		(1.7-7.8)		(1.3-6.5)
Employment Status		-		
Full-time (Reference)		1 (Ref)		1 (Ref)
Unemployed	.246	0.6	.082	0.5
F5		(0.3-1.4)		(0.2-1.1)
Shift-work/Part-time	.012	4.8	.039	3.9
		(1.4-16.5)		(1.1-14.0)
Lifestyle and Health Characteristic	S			
Smoking				
No (Reference)		1 (Ref)		1 (Ref)
Yes	.019	2.7	.025	2.7
		(1.2-6.4)		(1.1-6.7)
Sleep-Related Factors				
Bedroom Lighting				
Dark (Reference)		1 (Ref)		1 (Ref)
Dimly	<.001	6.2	<.001	6.0
y		(2.7-14.4)	-1001	(2.5-14.5)
Bright	<.001	11.4	<.001	9.5
0 -		(4.1-31.8)		(3.3-27.5)
Perceived Stress Level in The Last	Month			
Good/Very Good (Reference)		1 (Ref)		1 (Ref)
Not good, not bad	.407	1.4	.638	1.2
	.107	(0.6-3.3)	.000	(0.5-2.9)
Bad/Very Bad	<.001	7.1	.003	5.0
		(2.7-18.4)		(1.7-14.3)
Anxiety				
Normal	-	-		1 (Ref)
Borderline	-		.032	3.6
Doracimic	_	-	.034	(1.1-11.3)
Abnormal	-		.001	9.5
			.001	(2.6-34.4)
R ²		0.595		0.643

*Only statistically significant variables given; Hosmer&Lemeshow χ 2=12.513, df=8, p=0.130; Constant β =-7.162, p=<0.001; ****Binary Logistic Regression (Backward-Wald); RR: Risk Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; R²: Coefficient of Determination; df: Degrees of Freedom.

Variables Included in Models;

Model 3: Age, Place of Residence, Gender, Educational Status, Employment Status, Income Status, Smoking, Body Mass Index, Physical Activity, Comorbidity + Consumption of Caffeinated Beverages After 6.00 pm, Bedroom Lightning, Perceived Stress Level in The Last Month, Using Electronics Before Bed, Bed Type

Model 4: Model 3 + Anxiety, Depression

DISCUSSION

In this study, 34.6% of participants reported poor SQ. According to TAPES, frequency of poor SQ was 21.8%.¹⁰ In two studies conducted with people who applied to PHC in Ankara and İzmir, poor SQ prevalence were found to be 36.1%, 15.0%, respectively.^{11,13} In populationbased studies in Austria, Spain, Germany, Iran poor SQ prevalence were 32.1%, 38.2%, 35.2%, 37.0%, respectively, while unlike ours, a study in China among retirees reported as 53.0%.^{14-16,18,28} Considering that SQ tends to worsen with age, difference can be explained by the higher average age of the study conducted in China compared to this study. Our rate was higher from TAPES in 2010 but similar to study in Ankara in 2021; which shows that poor SQ problem has increased over years and started to become a public health problem.

We found that with increasing age SQ gets worse (RR=1.07;95%CI=1.04-1.10). Likewise, studies conducted in İzmir, Nevşehir, Austria, Iran supports our findings.^{11,12,14,28} In line with a population-based study conducted in Spain, age was directly related to poor SQ (RR=1.05;95%CI=1.03-1.06).¹⁵ As getting older; frequent waking up at night, changes in sleep patterns, difficulty in falling asleep, decreased total time spent in sleep, light sleep or chronic diseases (such as incontinence, chronic pain) occur and cause poor SQ.

this study, being female was In an independent risk factor for poor SQ (RR=5.1;95%CI=1.9-13.6). Our findings are in line with literature.^{11,14,22,28} According to other studies conducted in China, Australia, Spain, Nevşehir, SQ was poorer in women, with an RR of 1.42 (95%CI=1.32-1.53), 1.53 (95%CI=1.23-1.90), 1.88 (95%CI=1.54-2.28), 2.31 (95%CI=1.55-73.46), respectively.^{12,15,16,24} Also in TAPES, RR was 1.8 (95%CI=1.5-2.1) for women.¹⁰ Women have more difficulty falling and staving asleep as well as being more prone to developing sleep disorders (such as insomnia, restless legs syndrome) than men. Moreover, hormonal changes due to pregnancy, menstrual cycle or menopause can cause insomnia in women, which explains the risk of poor SQ.

In our research, SQ was worse in those with low socioeconomic status (LSES) (low education level, income less than expenses, lower social class, living in semi-urban areas); risk was 2.9 times (95%CI=1.3-6.5) higher among those living in semi-urban areas. Similar to our results, according to a population-based study in China, poor SQ frequency was 1.1 times higher (RR:1.12;p=0.002) in those living in semi-urban areas than those living in urban areas.²⁹ As indicated in the report using the National Health Interview Survey 2020 data; in USA, percentage of adults having difficulty falling asleep increased as settlement became more rural, education and income level decreased; and the percentage of adults having difficulty staying asleep increased as income level decreased and settlement became more rural.³⁰ Based on studies conducted in İzmir and Ankara, SQ became more poorer with lower income and education level.^{11,13} A study with university students in Denizli found that SQ was 1.8 times (95%CI=1.2-2.6) worse in those with less income than their expenses.²³ Socioeconomic factors (such as income, education, employment status, environment) substantially shape people's sleep health; in LSES, individuals' sleep duration is insufficient and quality is poor. Not only do people with higher household incomes feel well-rested, but improved housing quality also leads to noticeable improvements in SQ. Furthermore, SQ may have been found to be lower because people in semi-urban areas were mostly women and shift workers, their anxiety-depression levels were significantly higher, and their socioeconomic levels were lower.

Multiple logistic regression model showed that shift/part-time working was associated with higher odds of poor SQ (RR=3.9;95%CI=1.1-14.0). In parallel with this study, studies conducted in England and Denizli found that shift work increased poor SQ risk by 2.5 (95%CI=1.6-3.7) and 4.9-times (95%CI=1.7-14.3), respectively.^{31,32} Shift workers' sleep is oft interrupted; due to sleep-wake circadian rhythm misalignment, particularly in night shift workers, deep sleep times are shortened, thereby sleepiness occurs during day. Along with workingenvironment-related factors (such as noise, stress), SQ may have been found to be worse inasmuch as shift workers were mostly live in semi-urban areas and their socioeconomic levels were lower.

As stated in our results, negative lifestyle and health status (smoking, physical inactivity, overweight/obesity, chronic disease, low water consumption) were found to cause poor SQ; risk was 2.7-fold greater (95%CI=1.1-6.7) in smokers. Likewise, a study conducted in İzmir determined that SQ worsened with increase in BMI, also having chronic disease increased risk by 2.94 times (95%CI=1.04-8.32).¹¹ Conforming to study conducted in Ankara, smoking, having comorbidity, being physically inactive were risky in terms of poor SQ.¹³ According to a study in Konya, university students' SQ deteriorated due to smoking, being physically inactive, having a health problem that prevents sleep.²¹ A study in Denizli found that having chronic diseases worsened SQ, and smoking increased risk 1.5-times (95%CI=1.1-2.1), not doing physical activity 1.7-times (95%CI=1.3-2.2).²³ Based on a research in China, risk is 1.16-times more (95%CI=1.07-1.25%) in those with comorbidity, 1.14-times (95%CI=1.05-1.23) more in those who are physically inactive.¹⁶ Another study in Australia noticed that smoking increased poor SQ risk (RR=1.8;95%CI=1.1-2.9), yet engaging physical activity three or more times a week was protective.²⁴ Physical activity may have had a positive effect on SQ, via making easy to fall asleep, increasing non-REM/REM sleep, and providing rest. Obesity, one of the leading causes of sleep apnea, and chronic diseaserelated symptoms namely dyspnea, frequent urination, and pain can cause poor sleep quality by often disrupting night sleep. Falling asleep difficulty owing to nicotine's stimulant effect and low total sleep time due to chronic nicotine intake explains poor SQ.

According to our results, SQ of those having negative sleep hygiene (consuming caffeinated beverages in late hours, sleeping with lights on, dealing electronic devices before bed, uncomfortable mattress) was poorer. Dim light at night increased risk by 6.0-fold

(95%CI=2.5-14.5), bright light increased 9.5-fold (95%CI=3.3-27.5); other than these variables wasn't significant in multivariate analysis. Similar to our results, according to a study in Konya, sleeping in an environment that is not dark enough and consuming high amounts of caffeine were associated with poor SQ.²¹ Study conducted in Denizli stated that SQ was worse in those consuming more coffee/caffeinated beverages on weekly basis and using phone/tablet one hour before bed.²³ A research from South Korea reported that light exposure at night causes frequent awakenings, impairs sleep depth and stability.³³ Individuals with poor sleep hygiene oft fall asleep with lights on. Light is one of main synchronizers of sleep-wake cycle; in presence of light (including blue-light originating from phone/tablet/TV screens), secretion of melatonin, which is responsible for depth and quality of sleep, is inhibited, and even if people sleep, complete rest is not achieved owing to melatonin deficiency. Additionally, delaying bedtime because of using phone/tablet/TV can cause poor SQ.

Lastly, poor mental health (previously diagnosed psychiatric disorder, being stressed in last month and at work, abnormal anxiety and depression) was related to poor SQ; borderline anxiety increased risk by 3.6-times (95%CI=1.1-11.3), abnormal level anxiety by 9.5-times (95%CI=2.6-34.4), being stressed by 5-times (95%CI=1.7-14.3). Our findings are in line with other researches. Study conducted in Brazil found that adults with anxietydepression had poor SQ and anxiety increased risk 1.32-times (95%CI=1.08-1.62).22 In a study, SQ of those with previously diagnosed psychiatric disorders was 3.6 times poorer (95%CI=1.7-7.8).¹² In literature, a significant positive correlation has been shown between Turk | Public Health 2024;22(1)

anxiety-depression.^{21,34} and SO Stress, depressive disorder, anxiety, mood changes such as fear, joy, sadness in daily life prevent falling asleep by causing people excessively think about their worries in bed and by causing tension. Also, dreams become more disturbing, sustainability of sleep is reduced, so sleep is often interrupted. Simultaneously, sleep deprivation and sleep pattern/quality disorder can also trigger anxiety. While sleep disorders and poor SQ can cause anxiety, depression and stress, poor SQ in cases of anxiety, depression and stress may also explain the relationship.

Limitations-Strengths

There are some limitations in our research. Firstly, due to COVID-19 pandemic and problems in obtaining permits for research, our study was not conducted at community level, therefore results should be interpreted cautiously. Second, the fact that participants contain only those who willing to participate in study may have caused subject bias. Using internationally valid scales to determine SQ and anxiety-depression level, carrying out the study in those consulting PHCs, collecting data by face-to-face interview technique, measurement of anthropometric features by researchers are the strengths of our research.

CONCLUSION

Poor SQ was found to be a continues common problem in society, with one out of every three people in our research.

Increasing age, being woman, low income/ education level, living in semi-urban area, shift/part-time work, negative lifestyle factors and chronic disease, poor sleep hygiene and anxiety-depression were associated with an increased risk of poor SQ.

In order to improve SQ, health-promoting activities such as preventing obesity, increasing physical activity, preventing smoking, encouraging individuals to quit smoking and directing them to smoking cessation polyclinics should be arranged in primary care and workplace primary care (occupational medicine). Especially sleep patterns of elderly people, women, shift/ part-time workers should be monitored more closely, counseling should be given during follow-up of chronic diseases, individuals should be referred to specialists when necessary.

Poor sleep hygiene and mental health were also important determinants; it is recommended to provide information under the leadership of primary care to increase sleep hygiene, to expand mental health services in primary care, and to refer stressed/anxious individuals to psychologists/psychiatrists in case of detection.

Future research may focus on identifying highrisk groups in terms of poor sleep quality, more detailed evaluation of sleep hygiene, and developing interventions to reduce stress and anxiety level and to improve sleep health, along with evaluating the efficiency of those interventions. Moreover, it may be beneficial for future studies to be community-based to identify other causes concerning poor sleep quality.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Begüm BAŞ, Dr. Bengi ÇELEN, Dr. Başak TATAR, Dr. Aysu Nur ATMACI, Dr. Aykun ÇELİKER, Dr. Batuhan KARAKÖSE, Dr. Barış TUNÇ for their help in the data collection process. **Conflict of Interest:** There is no conflict of interest.

Financial Support: No financial support was received.

Ethical Declaration: Approval was obtained from Manisa Celal Bayar University, Faculty of Medicine Clinical Researches Ethical Committee (Date: 04.01.2023, Decision no: 2023/1643).

AuthorContributions:Concept:ZCB,Design:ZCB, BCÖ, Supervising:ZCB, BCÖ, Datacollection and Processing:ZCB, Analysis and/or interpretation:ZCB, BCÖ, Literature search:ZCB, Writing:ZCB, Critical review:ZCB, BCÖ.

REFERENCES

- Karadağ, Mehmet. Uyku Bozuklukları Sınıflaması (ICSD-2). Türkiye Klinikleri Akciğer Arşivi. 2007;8(3):88-91.
- Hungs M, Mignot E. Hypocretin/orexin, sleep and narcolepsy. *BioEssays*. 2001;23(5):397-408. doi:10.1002/bies.1058
- 3. Ertekin, Şükran. *Hastanede Yatan Hastalarda Uyku Kalitesinin Değerlendirilmesi*. Tez. Sivas Cumhuriyet Üniversitesi; 1998.
- Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: A New Instrument For Psychiatric Practice And Research. *Psychiatry Res.* 1989;28(2):193-213. doi:10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- 5. Sadock, BJ., Sadock, VA., Ruiz, P. *Kaplan & Sadock Psikiyatri Davranış Bilimleri/Klinik Psikiyatri*. Güneş Kitabevi; 2016.
- 6. Miró E, Cano MC, Espinosa-Fernández L, Buela-Casal G. Time Estimation during Prolonged Sleep Deprivation and Its Relation to Activation Measures. *The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society.* 2003;45(1):148-159. doi:10.1518/hfes.45.1.148.27227
- Nelson KL, Davis JE, Corbett CF. Sleep Quality: An Evolutionary Concept Analysis. *Nursing Forum*. 2022;57(1):144-151. doi:10.1111/nuf.12659
- Silva-Costa A, Griep RH, Rotenberg L. Associations of a Short Sleep Duration, Insufficient Sleep, and Insomnia with Self-Rated Health among Nurses. *PLoS One.* 2015;10(5):e0126844. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0126844
- 9. Bertisch SM, Pollock BD, Mittleman MA, et al. Insomnia With Objective Short Sleep Duration

And Risk Of Incident Cardiovascular Disease And All-Cause Mortality: Sleep Heart Health Study. *Sleep.* 2018;41(6):zsy047. doi:10.1093/ sleep/zsy047

- Türk Uyku Tıbbı Derneği. Erişkin Toplumda Ulusal Uyku Epidemiyolojisi Araştırması. Published online 2010.
- 11. Pak MT. Aile Sağlığı Merkezlerine Başvuran Hastaların Uyku Kalitesi İle Hava Kirliliği Arasındaki İlişkinin Araştırılması. Tez. Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi; 2022.
- 12. Tekcan P. Lise Öğrencilerinin Uyku Kalitesi ve Uyku Kalitesini Etkileyen Faktörlerin Belirlenmesi. Tez. Nevşehir Hacı Bektaş Veli Üniversitesi; 2018.
- 13. Ünal D. Sigara Maruziyetinin Uyku Kalitesi Üzerine Etkisinin Değerlendirilmesi. Tez. T.C. Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi; 2021.
- Zeitlhofer J, Schmeiser-Rieder A, Tribl G, et al. Sleep And Quality Of Life In The Austrian Population. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*. 2000;102(4):249-257. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0404.2000.102004249.x
- 15. Madrid-Valero JJ, Martínez-Selva JM, Couto BR do, Sánchez-Romera JF, Ordoñana JR. Age And Gender Effects On the Prevalence Of Poor Sleep Quality In The Adult Population. *Gaceta Sanitaria*. 2017;31:18-22. doi:10.1016/j.gaceta.2016.05.013
- 16. Guo H, Zhou J, Chen H, Cao X. Prevalence And Associated Factors Of Poor Sleep Quality Among Chinese Retirees: A Multicenter Cross-Sectional Study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*. 2023;320:42-47. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2022.09.130
- Alamer WM, Qutub RM, Alsaloumi EA, Natto NK, Alshehri RM, Khafagy A. Prevalence of Sleep Disorders Among Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Makkah City: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Cureus*. 2022;14(12):e33088. doi:10.7759/ cureus.33088
- Ramsawh HJ, Stein MB, Belik SL, Jacobi F, Sareen J. Relationship Of Anxiety Disorders, Sleep Quality, And Functional Impairment In A Community Sample. *J Psychiatr Res.* 2009;43(10):926-933. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2009.01.009
- 19. Léger D, Poursain B, Neubauer D, Uchiyama M. An International Survey Of Sleeping Problems In The General Population. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*. 2008;24(1):307-317. doi:10.1185/030079907X253771
- 20. Tirgari B, Forouzi MA, Iranmanesh S, Shahraki SK. Predictors of Sleep Quality and Sleepiness In The Iranian Adult: A Population Based Study. *Journal of Community Health Research*. 2013;1(3):144-152.
- 21. Çiftçi T. Meram Tıp Fakültesi Öğrencilerinde Uyku Kalitesi Üzerine Fiziksel Aktivite, Anksiyete Ve Depresyon Durumunun Etkisinin Araştırılması. Tez. Necmettin Erbakan Üniversitesi Meram Tıp Fakültesi; 2019.

- 22. Menezes Júnior LAA de, Lourenção LG, Andrade AC de S, Carraro JCC, Machado-Coelho GLL, Meireles AL. Determinants Of Poor Sleep Quality İn Adults During The Coronavirus Disease Pandemic: COVID-Inconfidentes, A Population-Based Study. *Sao Paulo Med J.* Published online October 28, 2022:S1516-31802022005027202. doi:10.1590/1516-3180.2022.0139.R1.19082022
- 23. Özcan B. Pamukkale Üniversitesi Öğrencilerinde Uyku Kalitesi Ve Akıllı Telefon Bağımlılığı İle İlişkisi. Tez. Pamukkale Üniversitesi; 2019.
- 24. Fatima Y, Doi SAR, Najman JM, Mamun AA. Exploring Gender Difference In Sleep Quality Of Young Adults: Findings From A Large Population Study. *Clin Med Res.* 2016;14(3-4):138-144.
- 25. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. 1983;67(6):361-370. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x
- 26. Aydemir Ö, Güvenir T, Küey L, Kültür S. Hastane Anksiyete ve Depresyon Ölçeği Türkçe Formunun Geçerlilik ve Güvenilirlik Çalışması. *Türk Psikiyatri Dergisi*. 1997;8:280-287.
- 27. Ağargün MY, Kara H, Anlar Ö. Pittsburgh Uyku Kalitesi İndeksi'nin Geçerliği ve Güvenirliği. *Türk Psikiyatri Dergisi*. 1996;7(2):107-115.
- Asghari A, Farhadi M, Kamrava SK, Ghalehbaghi B, Nojomi M. Subjective Sleep Quality In Urban Population. *Archives of Iranian Medicine*. 2012;15(2):95-98.
- 29. Tang J, Liao Y, Kelly BC, et al. Gender and Regional Differences in Sleep Quality and Insomnia: A General Population-based Study in Hunan Province of China. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):43690. doi:10.1038/srep43690
- Adjaye-Gbewonyo D, Ng AE, Black L. Sleep Difficulties in Adults: United States, 2020. NCHS Data Brief, no 436 Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics. 2022;436. doi:https:// dx.doi.org/10.15620/ cdc:117490.
- McDowall K, Murphy E, Anderson K. The Impact Of Shift Work On Sleep Quality Among Nurses. *Occupational Medicine*. 2017;67(8):621-625. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqx152
- 32. Toker Uğurlu T. Kadın Tekstil İşçilerinde Vardiyalı Çalışmanın Uyku Ve Ruhsal Durum Üzerine Etkileri. Tez. Pamukkale Üniversitesi; 2014.
- 33. Cho JR, Joo EY, Koo DL, Hong SB. Let There Be No Light: The Effect Of Bedside Light On Sleep Quality And Background Electroencephalographic Rhythms. *Sleep Medicine*. 2013;14(12):1422-1425. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2013.09.007
- 34. Taşdemir Yiğitoğlu G, Yılmaz A, Yılmaz H. The Effect Of Covid-19 On Sleep Quality, Anxiety And Depression On Healthcare Staff At A Tertiary Hospital İn Turkey. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing. 2021;35(5):504-510. doi:10.1016/j. apnu.2021.07.001

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Rising bribes: accessing public health services in Northern Cyprus during COVID-19



¹Prof. Dr., Seton Hall University, School of Diplomacy and International Relations, South Orange, USA

Received: 09.11.2023, Accepted: 08.02.2024

Abstract

Objective: This study investigates the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on informal payments (bribes) in accessing public health services. It assesses whether the pandemic increased informal payments and whether vulnerable populations, namely women, migrants, and low-income individuals, were more susceptible to bribery.

Methods: Data from pre-pandemic (2019) and pandemic (2021) Global Corruption Barometer surveys in Northern Cyprus were statistically analyzed to examine changes in informal payments and their associations with gender, income, and immigrant status.

Results: The study revealed a significant surge in informal payments for accessing public health services during the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2019, before COVID-19 pandemic, 4.70% of respondents reported paying bribes. However, in 2021, during COVID-19 pandemic, this figure spiked to 17.85%, with an odds ratio of 4.062 underscoring the magnitude of the increase. Moreover, during COVID-19 pandemic, women reported higher bribe rates (20.3%) compared to men (13.7%), migrants had substantially higher bribe rates (25.7%) than natives (15.7%), and individuals with lower incomes (25.6%) were more inclined to engage in bribery. Marginal effects, based on logistic regression estimation results, showed that migrants had a 9.63 percentage points higher likelihood of bribery, low-income individuals had a 12.57 percentage points higher probability, and being female was associated with a 9.05 percentage points higher chance of engaging in bribery.

Conclusion: This study highlights a troubling surge in bribery within the public health sector during the COVID-19 pandemic. Vulnerable populations, especially women, migrants, and low-income individuals, face increased risks. Urgent action is needed to combat corruption in healthcare during pandemics and ensure equitable access to healthcare services.

Keywords: COVID-19, Bribes, Public Health, Vulnerable Groups, Northern Cyprus

Correspondence: Prof. Dr., Omer Gokcekus, Seton Hall University, School of Diplomacy and International Relations, South Orange, USA. **E-mail:** omer.gokcekus@shu.edu, **Phone**:+01 973 313 62 72

Cite This Article: Gokcekus O. Rising bribes: accessing public health services in Northern Cyprus during COVID-19. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 102-111.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)
INTRODUCTION

Healthcare, universally acknowledged as pivotal to productivity and happiness^{1,} ², faces a pervasive issue of corruption in many countries, making it one of the most corrupt sectors.³ This corruption obstructs the positive impact of health on well-being, often remaining unaddressed and covered in secrecy.⁴

Informal payments in healthcare, defined as payments for traditionally free services, pose a significant burden, particularly on economically disadvantaged segments: Transparency International's 2006 Global Corruption Report notes that these payments contribute to resource allocation distortion, favoring those who can pay over those in most need.^{3, 5} The growing demand for essential health services prompts some to resort to informal payments, encouraging additional corrupt practices.⁶ The COVID-19 pandemic intensifies this issue, straining the healthcare system and providing cover for the illicit procurement of funds by corrupt officials.⁶

This intensified corruption incentivizes officials to embezzle funds meant for high-demand but short-supply items, including vaccines, protective equipment, and therapeutic medicines. Vulnerable populations, such as those with underlying health conditions, living in poverty, or belonging to certain racial and ethnic minorities, suffer an increased risk of corruption. These groups may have limited healthcare access and work in jobs with a higher risk of COVID-19 exposure, forcing difficult choices between preventative actions and economic well-being.7

Informal payments in healthcare receive

little emphasis in corruption research due to difficulty in identification. These payments, taking various forms like under-the-table payments, gifts, or favors, pose a challenge in research due to ambiguity in their intent.^{8,} ⁹ Central and Eastern European countries, inheriting informal payments from the former Soviet system, struggle with corruption reform, as socio-cultural values are deeply intertwined with these practices.^{10, 11} The coexistence of formal and informal payments heightens addressing corruption reform challenges, burdening patients financially.¹¹

Informal payments are often perceived as a necessity to fill financial gaps, especially in less developed countries, where a corrupt healthcare system provides some options. In some countries, patients see informal payments as a means to receive better or faster care for an additional fee.^{12, 13, 14, 15}

Furthermore, when informal payments are expected, patients who cannot afford them face challenges in accessing treatment, experience reduced service quality, and encounter longer wait times. Poorer patients make significant sacrifices, and evidence suggests regressive payments, with the poor paying a higher proportion.¹⁶ Research challenges the idea that payment levels depend on a patient's ability to pay. In Hungary, payment sizes are similar across income groups.⁶ Transition economies show payment amounts are more determined by willingness to pay¹⁷, emphasizing the regressive nature, as the poorest may have a greater willingness to pay due to limited healthcare access.¹⁸

This study aims to expand existing literature on how pandemics change informal payments in the public health sector. Additionally, it investigates whether specific vulnerable groups—women, migrants, and individuals from low-income backgrounds—are more susceptible to informal payments than others. ^{6,7,16} It put forwards two hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1: As access to public health services becomes increasingly challenging during a pandemic, bribe payments are likely to increase.

Hypothesis 2: As access to public health services becomes increasingly challenging during a pandemic, particularly for vulnerable groups (1) low-income individuals, (2) women, and (3) immigrants, they tend to make more bribe payments compared to others.

The following methods section details the approach to evaluating hypotheses. The subsequent section presents findings, including survey data, chi-square tests, and logit regression model estimation results. The study concludes by discussing results and offering concluding remarks on research implications.

METHODS

To test these two hypotheses, we utilize microdata from two Global Corruption Barometer surveys conducted in October 2019¹⁹ (pre COVID-19 pandemic) and November-December 202120 (during COVID-19 pandemic) in the northern part of Cyrpus. The North Cyprus Corruption Barometer 2019 and 2021 followed the Transparency International's Global Corruption Barometer (GCB) methodology. Specifically, to gauge the frequency of reported bribery in the public health system, this study focuses on responses to two questions from these surveys: 1) "Have you used the public health services in the past 12 months?"; and if so 2) "Have you ever had to bribe, give gifts or do favors in order to get the services you need at a public hospital or public health institution? If so, how often?" The 2019 survey was conducted by LIPA Consulting and the 2021 survey by Metron Analytics Services-both local survey companies in Nicosia, by utilizing CAPI method. In both surveys, there were 1,000 respondents over the age of 18. In Northern Cyprus, once a citizen reaches the age of 18, they are automatically included in the roster of eligible voters. Therefore, this roster serves as a reliable list that provides the number of citizens over the age of 18. Accordingly, given the official number of electorates of 198624 in the 2020 elections, both surveys have a significance level of 0.05 and a margin of error of +/-3.09%.

To test Hypothesis 1, we compare the frequency of bribe payments in 2019—before COVID-19 and 2021—during COVID-19, calculate the odds ratio, and provide relevant statistics. To test Hypothesis 2, we conduct two sets of analysis: 1) we ran chi-square tests to verify if there was a statistically significant relationship between bribery—"paying bribes" during COVID-19 pandemic and gender, income, and being immigrant or native; and 2) to determine the direction of these relationships between paying bribes gender, income, and being immigrant, we estimate the following logit regression model:

$$P(Bribery = 1 (Yes)) = \frac{e^{\beta X}}{1 + e^{\beta X}}, \qquad (1)$$

where *Bribery* is a dummy variable that takes the value of 0 for individuals who have never paid bribes and 1 otherwise; and the following are the explanatory variables (X): *Migrant* is 1 for those who were not born in Cyprus, 0 otherwise; *Poor* is 1 for those who were either 'barely getting by', "need to borrow to purchase the things they need' or 'can't afford to buy anything they need'; *Female* is 1 for those who answered gender question as women; *Education* takes a value between 0 and 6—for illiterate 0, elementary school 1, middle school 2, high school 3, university 4, masters 5, and doctorate 6; *Age* takes a value between 1 and 6—1 for 18-24, 2 for 25-34, 3 for 35-44, 4 for 45-54, 5 for 55-64, and 6 for 65 and above; and *City* is 1 for those living in a city and 0 otherwise.

RESULTS

Table 1 provides a summary of the demographics of survey respondents conducted from November to December 2021, during Covid-19 pandemic. Among those who answered relevant questions, 14.1% were migrants, 32.8% were classified as poor, and 48.7% were females. The majority of respondents (53.5%) had university education. Regarding age distribution, the majority falls between the ages of 35 and 44 (29.3%), followed by those aged 25-34 (21.8%). Additionally, 61.1% of the respondents were living in a city.

Table 1. Demographics of public health service recipients during the COVID-19 pandemic							
Variable	Frequency	Perce	ercentage				
		(number of respondents who answer the relevant question)					
		%	n				
Migrant	70	14.1	497				
Poor	160	32.8	488				
Female	236	48.7	485				
Education							
Elementary school	33	6.6	497				
Middle or high school	97	19.5	497				
University	266	53.5	497				
Graduate school	101	20.3	497				
Age							
18 - 24	71	14.3	495				
25-34	108	21.8	495				
35 - 44	145	29.3	495				
45 - 54	93	18.8	495				
55 - 64	48	9.7	495				
65 and over	30	6.1	495				
Living in a City	304	61.2	497				

In the 2019 survey, 517 out of 1000 respondents used public health services. As presented in Table 2, among these respondents, only 4.70% either reported paying bribes or *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)*

did not answer the question. However, in the 2021 survey, out of 497 respondents who used public health services, this percentage reached 17.85% of the respondents.

and during COVID-19 pandemic					
	2019		2021		
	Before COVID-19		During (COVID-19	Difference
	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage	(%)
Never	492	95.2	412	82.9	12.30
Once or twice	15	2.9	42	8.5	-5.60
More than once or twice	3	0.6	10	2.0	-1.40
Very often	5	1.0	6	1.2	-0.20
Don't know	2	0.4	27	5.4	-5.00

Table 2. Frequency of bribe payments for accessing public health services in Northern Cyprus: Before and during COVID-19 pandemic

An odds ratio of 4.0602 (z-statistic = 5.909, p < 0.0001) was calculated to compare the odds of bribe payments before the COVID-19 pandemic to those during the pandemic, revealing a statistically significant association. This indicates that the odds of paying bribes for health services were approximately four times higher during the COVID-19 pandemic. The substantial increase in bribe payments provides strong evidence supporting the claim that, during the pandemic, bribe payments significantly increased.



Figure 1. Bribe payments for accessing public health services in Northern Cyprus during COVID-19 pandemic by different groups

When comparing differences in bribe

payments during the pandemic, based on gender, nativity, and income, significant disparities become apparent. As is presented in Figure 1, females report a higher rate of bribe payments (20.3%) compared to males (13.7%), suggesting a greater inclination for females to engage in bribery. Migrants also stand out with a notably higher rate of bribe payments (25.7%) compared to natives (15.7%), indicating a pronounced propensity for bribery among migrants. Furthermore, individuals with lower incomes (25.6%) are more likely to partake in bribery than those with higher incomes (12.5%). In summary, the data underscores substantial differences in bribery rates among distinct demographic groups. Gender disparities are evident, with females more likely to report making bribe payments. Additionally, the data highlights an elevated tendency for bribery among migrants compared to natives. Furthermore, individuals with lower income levels exhibit a significantly higher likelihood of engaging in bribery than their more affluent counterparts. These findings offer valuable insights into the dynamics of bribery within various population segments.

	Gei	nder	Nat	ivity	Inc	ome
Bribe payment	Male	Female	Native	Migrant	Rich	Poor
No n	215	188	360	52	287	119
%	86.3	79.7	84.3	74.3	87.5	74.4
Yes n	34	48	67	18	41	41
%	13.7	20.3	15.7	25.7	12.5	25.6
Total	249	236	427	70	328	160
	χ ² =	3.853	$\chi^2 = 4.261$		$\chi^2 = 1$	13.251
	p <	0.05	p < 0.05		p <	0.01

Table 3. Contingency table of bribe payments for accessing public health services in Northern Cyprus during COVID-19 pandemic

Table 3, the contingency table, displays the observed frequencies of bribe payments based on 1) Gender (Female, Male); 2) Nativity (Migrant, Native); and 3) Income (Poor, Rich), as well as chi-square statistic (χ^2) and the

associated p-values. Significant chi-square values indicate a statistically significant relationship between paying bribes and gender, income, and immigrant status.

Table 4 . Logistic regression model estimation results for the probability of paying bribes					
	Odds ratio	Std. err.	[95% conf. interval		
Migrant	2.089	0.688	1.096	3.982	
Poor	2.614	0.699	1.548	4.414	
Female	1.998	0.529	1.189	3.357	
Education	1.235	0.176	0.933	1.634	
Age	0.951	0.095	0.782	1.156	
City	1.219	0.322	0.726	2.046	
Constant	0.038	0.030	0.008	0.176	
No of Obs	477				
$LR \chi^2$ (6)	23.78				
$Prob > \chi^2$	0.0006				

As is presented in Table 4, the logistic regression results indicate the following: Migrants have 2.09 times higher odds of bribe payment than non-migrants (p < 0.05). Poor individuals show a substantial increase with 2.61 times higher odds (p < 0.01). Females exhibit 1.99 times higher odds compared to males (p < 0.01). Education, with an odds ratio of 1.23, lacks statistical significance (p < 0.15). Age and city are non-significant.



Figure 2. Marginal effects of different demographic characteristics on probability of paying bribes with 95% confidence intervals

Finally, the delta-method is employed to calculate the marginal effects of different factors on the predicted probability of bribery. Accordingly, as is presented in Figure 2, being a migrant is associated with a statistically significant increase (0.0963) in the predicted probability of bribery compared to nonmigrants (p < 0.05). Similarly, individuals classified as poor exhibit a substantial and highly significant increase (0.1257) in the likelihood of bribery compared to those not classified as poor (p < 0.01). Gender also plays a significant role, with females showing a higher predicted probability of bribery (0.0906) compared to males (p < 0.01). However, the effects of education, age, and city residence are not statistically significant (p = 0.138, p =0.611, p = 0.453, respectively). These findings underscore the heightened vulnerability of migrants, individuals in poverty, and females to corrupt practices in the public healthcare sector, providing valuable insights into the demographic dynamics of bribery.

DISCUSSION

Our study delves into the dynamics of informal payments within the public healthcare sector, with a specific focus on the ramifications of the COVID-19 pandemic on bribery tendencies and the susceptibility of distinct demographic groups.

The literature explains the pervasive nature of corruption in global healthcare systems, emphasizing the adverse impact of informal payments on resource allocation and equitable access to health services. Our study extends this discourse by scrutinizing how the prevalence of informal payments evolves at the individual level, especially in the context of a pandemic. The observed upswing in bribe payments during the COVID-19 pandemic resonates with broader literature suggesting that corruption tends to thrive during crises. ^{6, 7, 13, 14} It appears that the pandemic, characterized by heightened demand for health services and strained systems, provides fertile ground for the exacerbation of corrupt practices within the public health sector.

Our findings align with existing research emphasizing the regressive nature of informal payments, highlighting that vulnerable populations, including low-income individuals, women, and migrants, bear a disproportionate burden. ^{7, 16, 17}

Our study provides robust evidence of a significant increase in bribery during the pandemic. The odds ratios and logistic regression results corroborate the statistical significance of this surge. Notably, the marginal effects analysis dissects the impact of demographic characteristics on the likelihood of engaging in bribery, highlighting the distinct vulnerabilities of migrants, lowincome individuals, and women. These results underscore the complex interplay between corruption. socioeconomic factors. and healthcare access.¹⁷

While our study sheds further light on these issues, limitations exist. We focused on a specific population in Northern Cyprus, and our sample size of around 1,000 respondents may limit generalizability to diverse global settings with varying cultural norms. Survey data introduces response and recall biases, potentially leading to underreporting of bribery. Moreover, our concentration on specific vulnerable groups might overlook others, and the study lacks a qualitative understanding of bribery motivations. Despite these limitations, our study emphasizes the urgency of addressing corruption in healthcare reform efforts, particularly considering its potential negative impact on vulnerable groups.^{16, 17, 18}

The governance in the northern part of Cyprus has been weak and deteriorating.²¹ The decline in the Transparency International Corruption Perception Index score from 40 in 2017 to 28 in 2021 and further to 27 in 2022 is indicative of a rising trend in corruption within the northern part of Cyprus. Concurrently, the country's ranking has experienced a significant drop, falling from 81st place in 2017 to 140th place in both 2021 and 2022.²¹ Research indicates that informal payments are most prevalent in countries with weaker governance.^{22, 23} Therefore, comprehensive, people-centered policies are crucial, with a focus on alleviating the burden on vulnerable populations. However, formalizing informal payments should be approached with caution, as it can increase costs and disproportionately affect vulnerable individuals.¹⁷ Informal payments often persist despite formal charges, emphasizing the complexity of the issue.³

The public health system in the northern part of Cyprus confronts challenges on both the supply and demand sides, encompassing issues of accessibility, quality of care, and inefficiencies within healthcare institutions.^{24,} ^{25, 26, 27} The public healthcare system is accessible to individuals with social security insurance and their dependents, offering free use of accident and emergency departments for everyone.²⁴ However, despite a preference for government hospitals, issues such as patient dissatisfaction, prolonged waiting times, and discontent among doctors drive patients towards private hospitals.²⁵ The persistence of poor service quality is evident, emphasizing a lack of structure and the employment of undergualified personnel.²⁶ Additional problems highlighted include financial incapability, long waiting lists, a lack of medical equipment and instruments, an inadequate number of personnel in the hospitals' cleaning, kitchen, and service sections, disinterested staff. insufficient staffing levels, the absence of well-established security systems in hospitals, and limited opportunities for patients to choose their preferred doctors.²⁶ Furthermore, it is documented that public hospitals lacked systematic data collection about inpatient needs, service quality, and inpatient complaints.^{24, 27} Accordingly, addressing both demand and supply-side factors within the healthcare system, such as resource imbalances, low salaries, lack of accountability, inadequate government oversight, and transparency, is critical.^{3, 28} Strengthening patients' rights and increasing healthcare providers' salaries can help reduce informal payments.^{3, 10, 29} Engaging the public and transparent community dialogues are vital to tackling the issue at the grassroots level.³⁰ Transparent data on informal payments can raise awareness and generate political will.^{31, 32} Reducing informal payments necessitates addressing demand-side factors like expectations, fears, cultural norms, and distrust in the healthcare system.¹⁸

CONCLUSION

Our research contributes valuable insights for both academic and policy-oriented discussions on corruption in the public health sector. As the global community grapples with the repercussions of the pandemic, our findings underscore the pressing need to address corruption in healthcare reform initiatives. Policymakers and stakeholders are urged to prioritize interventions that foster transparency, equity, and accountability within health systems, with a specific focus on alleviating the disproportionate burden faced by vulnerable demographic groups.

Moving forward, further research and targeted interventions are imperative to foster fair and accessible healthcare services, particularly during times of crisis, and to confront the multifaceted challenges posed by informal payments. The distinct vulnerabilities uncovered in our study should inform future policy decisions aimed at creating a more resilient and equitable healthcare system, free from the shackles of corruption.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Conflict of Interest: There is no conflict of interest to report.

Financial Support: No financial support has been received.

Ethical Declaration: The article didn't require ethical committee approval.

Author Contribution: Concept: OG, Design: OG, Supervising: OG, Financing and equipment: OG, Data collection and entry: OG, Analysis and interpretation: OG, Literature search: OG, Writing: OG, Critical review: OG.

REFERENCES

- Wolf K. Making the Link Between Health and Productivity at the Workplace – A Global Perspective. Industrial Health. 2010;48(3):251-255.
- 2. Wagner C. Health and Happiness. Futurist. 2004;38(1):10.
- 3. Allin S, Davaki K, Mossialos E. Paying for "Free" Health Care: The Conundrum of Informal Payments in Post-Communist Europe. Transparency International Global Corruption Report. 2006;63-75.
- 4. Hutchinson E, Balabanova D, McKee M. We Need to Talk About Corruption in Health Systems.

Int Journal of Health Policy and Management. 2019;8(4):191-194.

- 5. García P. Corruption in Global Health: The Open Secret. The Lancet. 2019;394(10214):2119-2124.
- Horodnic AV, Williams CC, Drugă RI, Incaltarau C. Informal Payments by Patients in Central and Eastern Europe during the COVID-19 Pandemic: An Institutional Perspective. Int Journal of Environ Res and Public Health. 2021;18(20):10914.
- Tamin J, Samuel O, Suraya A, Ebuenyi ID, Naicker N, Rajput-Ray M. Vulnerable Workers and COVID-19: Insights from a Survey of Members of the International Commission for Occupational Health. Int Journal of Environ Res and Public Health. 2021;18(1):346.
- Stepurko T, Pavlova M, Gryga I, Groot W. To Pay or Not to Pay? A Multicountry Study on Informal Payments for Health-Care Services and Consumers' Perceptions. Health Expectations. 2015;18(6):2978–93.
- 9. Matsushima M, Yamada H. Impacts of Bribery in Healthcare in Vietnam. The Journal of Development Studies. 2016;52(10):1479-1498.
- 10. Szende A, Culyer AJ. The Inequity of Informal Payments for Health Care: The Case of Hungary. Health Policy. 2006;75(3):262–71.
- 11. Tambor M, Pavlova M, Golinowska S, Sowada C, Groot W. The Formal–Informal Patient Payment Mix in European Countries. Governance, Economics, Culture or All of These?. Health Policy. 2013 ;113(3):284–95.
- 12. Gaal P, Belli PC, McKee M, Scócska M. Informal Payments for Health Care: Definitions, Distinctions, and Dilemmas. Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law. 2006;31(2):251–93.
- Tham E. In COVID China, a Hospital Bed Can Hinge on Who You Know, Red Packets. Reuters [online]. 2023 Feb 14. Available at: https://www.reuters. com/world/china/covid-china-hospital-bed-canhinge-who-you-know-red-packets-2023-02-14/. Accessed Feb 25, 2023.
- 14. Salmon J, Satoğlu EB. Science, Market, and Politics: How Corruption Is Manifesting in the Covid-19 Pandemic. Rutgers Business Review. 2022;7(1):45-60.
- 15. Balabanova D, McKee M. Understanding Informal Payments for Health Care: The Example of Bulgaria. Health Policy. 2002;62(3):243–73.
- Molla AA, Chi C. Who Pays for Healthcare in Bangladesh? An Analysis of Progressivity in Health Systems Financing. Int Journal for Equity in Health. 2017;16(1):167.

- 17. Ensor T. Informal Payments for Health Care in Transition Economies. Social Science & Medicine. 2004;58(2):237–246.
- 18. Belli P, Gotsadze G, Shahriari H. Out-of-Pocket and Informal Payments in Health Sector: Evidence from Georgia. Health Policy. 2004;70(1):109–123.
- Sonan S, Gokcekus O. The Northern Part of Cyprus: Corruption Barometer 2019 [online]. 2020. Available at: https://online.fliphtml5.com/degtj/ uwug/. Accessed October 25, 2022.
- 20. Sonan S, Gokcekus O. The Northern Part of Cyprus Corruption Barometer 2021 [online]. 2022. Available at: https://online.fliphtml5.com/degtj/ zkir/#p=1. Accessed October 25, 2022.
- Gokcekus, O, Sonan S. Corruption Perceptions in Northern Cyprus: 2022 Report [online]. 2023. Available at: https://library.fes.de/pdf-files/ bueros/zypern/20360.pdf. Accessed February 2, 2024.
- 22. Williams CC, Horodnic AV. Rethinking Informal Payments by Patients in Europe: An Institutional Approach. Health Policy. 2017;121:1053-1062.
- 23. Lewis M. Informal Payments and the Financing of Health Care in Developing and Transition Countries. Health Affairs. 2007;26(4):984-997.
- 24. Rahmioglu, N, Naci, H, & Cylus, J. Improving health care services in Northern Cyprus: A call for research and action. *European Journal of Public Health.* 2012;22(6): 754–755.
- 25. Abuduxike G, Aşut Ö, Vaizoğlu SA, Cali S. Health-Seeking Behaviors and its Determinants: A Facility-Based Cross-Sectional Study in the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. Int J Health Policy

Manag. 2020; 9(6):240-249.

- Arasli, H, Ekiz, H, & Katircioglu, T. International journal of health care quality assurance. International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance. 2008; 21(1): 8-23.
- Arasli, H, & Ahmadeva, L. No more tears! A local TQM formula for health promotion. International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance. 2004; 17(3): 135-145.
- 28. Ruzanov RM. Zharlygassinov TM. Corruption in the Healthcare Sector During the Covid-19 Pandemic: Causes, Consequences and Responses. Economics: the Strategy and Practice. 2021;16(3):217-226.
- 29. Atanasova E, Pavlova M, Moutafova E, Rechel B, Groot W. Out-of-pocket Payments for Health Care Services in Bulgaria: financial burden and barrier to access. European Journal of Public Health. 2012;23(6):916-922.
- 30. Feng Y. The Global Heath Community Needs Innovation and Reform. The Lancet Global Health. 2020;8(3):325-326.
- Vian T, Brinkerhoff DW, Feeley FG, Salomon M, Kieu Vien NT. Confronting Corruption in the Health Sector in Vietnam: Patterns and Prospects. Public Administration and Development. 2012;32(1)49-63.
- 32. Dikmen S, Çiçek HG. Fighting against Corruption and Bribery in Public Procurements during the Covid-19 Pandemic. In: McGee RW, Benk S, editors. The Ethics of Bribery: Theoretical and Empirical Studies. Switzerland: Springer; 2023. p. 309-328.

SHORT REPORT

Gender-role attitudes of university students: a cross-sectional study from Türkiye

b Leyla Tekdemir¹, b Elçin Balcı², b Arda Borlu³, b Hasan Durmuş³

¹MD., Kayseri Provincial Health Directorate, Erciyes University, Faculty of Medicine Department, Public Health,, Kayseri, Türkiye
 ²Prof. Dr., Erciyes University, Faculty of Medicine Department, Public Health,, Kayseri, Türkiye
 ³Assoc. Prof., Erciyes University, Faculty of Medicine Department, Public Health,, Kayseri, Türkiye

Received: 12.09.2022, Accepted: 03.04.2024

Abstract

Objective: This study aimed to determine the attitudes of freshmen university students from different faculties of the same university towards gender-roles and to analyse the effect of their socio-demographic characteristics and studying in different faculties on these attitudes.

Methods: The cross-sectional study was conducted with the participation of 1080 students studying in the first year of five different faculties of Erciyes University between January-February 2020. The data were collected via face-to-face interview method, using a questionnaire including "Gender-Roles Attitude Scale (GRAS)" and sociodemographic characteristics of the students. In the analysis of the data, frequency, percentage and mean values were used for descriptive statistics, and Pearson chi-square, one-way ANOVA test and T-Test were used for comparative analysis.

Results: The mean GRAS score of the students was 147.7±27.7. While medical students had the highest GRAS scores,Theology students were found to havesignificantly lower scores compared to all groups. Amongsociodemographic characteristics,being female, mother'slevel of higher education and nuclear family were found to be associated with higher scale scores, while low economic level and having only mother or father as the decision-maker in their family were found to be associated with lower scale scores.

Conclusion: Increasing the education levels and employment rates of women will contribute to the development of egalitarian gender-role attitudes of individuals. In order to reveal the effect of religion on gender roles more clearly, there is a need for new studies that will enable more detailed analyzes to be made.

Keywords: Gender Role, University Students, Gender Role Attitudes

Correspondence: MD.,Leyla Tekdemir, Erciyes University, Faculty of Medicine Department, Public Health,, Kayseri, Türkiye. **E-mail:** drleylatekdemir@gmail.com, **Phone**:+90 535 375 20 59

Cite This Article: Tekdemir L, Balcı E, Borlu A, Durmuş H. Gender-role attitudes of university students: a cross-sectional study from Türkiye. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 112-119.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

While 'sex', as a biological concept, refers to the genetic, biological, physiological characteristics and differences that a person possesses as a woman or a man, 'gender' refers to the values and judgments of how society considers, accepts, and perceives men and women, as well as expectations of society from men and women¹. Gender roles include the behaviours (roles) and social factors that are culturally appropriate for women and men¹.

Attitudes towards gender-roles are divided into two as egalitarian and traditional attitudes. In the egalitarian attitude, roles are shared equally between men and women in their family, social and professional lives. Nevertheless, in the traditional attitude; in addition to being primarily responsible for household chores and family-related matters, it is appropriate for women to be employed in a lower status, earn less income, and have a lower level of education than men. In societal life, women are expected not to go out alone in the evenings, and in family life, women are expected to keep it confidential if they are subjected to violence by their spouses, to take care of children, cleaning and other similar tasks at home. In marriedlife, women are assigned roles such as not engaging in sexual intercourse before marriage, and raising their status by giving birth to male children. Men, on the other hand, are expected to provide for their families, to perform physically demanding tasks at home, to protect and care for their spouses and children emotionally, and to be emotionally stronger, courageous, tough, and rational.

The best indicator of whether these gender stereotypes, which are widespread in society today, will continue in the future is the evaluation of young people's thoughts on this issue. Certain studies conducted to investigate the attitudes of university students towards gender role showed that whilemale students had more traditional views about working life and married life, students from both genders had more egalitarian views about social life and family life². In a study conducted with university students in Türkiye; predictors that affect students' gender-role attitudes were defined as gender, department of education, parents'education levels, income levels, family types, and employment status of the mother³. In addition, studies have emphasized that the adoption of traditional genderroles in students increases the possibility of approval of physical violence, and that students studying in medical fields have more egalitarian attitudes than those studying in other departments³.

One of the remarkable determinants of gender-role attitude is religion. It is stated in many religions, including Christianity and Islam, that a woman's primary responsibility is to take care of her husband and children and that they are often considered to beless-valued than men. Although it is known that there are ideas to support equality in terms of religion, it is generally claimed that these philosophical and religious arguments do not support such equality⁴.

University education is defined as an important milestone for young people. The first year of higher education is a period in which the support provided by family and close friends are suddenly cut off, students acquire important new ideas and experiences challenging their previous knowledge and beliefs, and develop new attitudes where they gain self-determination, problem-solving skills and behaviors.In the literature review, when the GRAS scores of first-year university students were compared to those of upperclass students, no difference was found between students' grades and GRAS scores^{5,6}.

In this study, it is aimed to evaluate the genderrole attitudes of the students studying in the first year of different faculties of the same university and the factors that may be related to these attitudes.

METHODS

This descriptive, cross-sectional study was planned to be conducted with first-year students studying at five different faculties (Law, Medicine, Theology, Communication and Education) of Erciyes University (Kayseri, Central Anatolia, Türkiye) who are expected to have different gender role attitudes. The population of the research consisted of 1485 students studying in the first year of these five faculties. Sample calculation was not made for the research, it was planned to include the entire universe in the study.

A questionnaire consisting of two parts and 61 questions was applied to the students who volunteered to participate in the research. On the day the study was conducted, the students were visited in their classrooms, and they were informed about the study. The questionnaire forms were distributed to those who volunteered and collected back after 20 minutes. Students who were not in the classroom that day were excluded from the study. While the first part of the questionnaire consists of 23 questions about the students their families' sociodemographic and characteristics and genderism, the second part consists of the Gender-Roles Attitude Scale (GRAS) developed by Zeyneloğlu et al.⁷ The five-point Likert type scale consists of 38 questions. For the students' egalitarian attitude statements regarding gender roles (1, 4, 8, 12, 13, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 26, 27);5 points are givenif the answer is'strongly agree'; 4 points if 'agree'; 3 points if 'neither agree nor disagree'; 2 points if 'disagree'; and 1 point if the answer is 'strongly disagree'. However, the traditional attitude statements regarding gender roles (2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 23, 24, 25, 28-38) were scored in the opposite way to the above-mentioned scoring. According to this results of scoring, the highest score to be obtained from the scale is 190, while the lowest score is 38. While a high score from the scale indicates that the student is close to adopting an egalitarian attitude towards gender roles, a low score indicates that the student is close to adopting to the traditional attitude towards gender roles⁷.

Ethical approval from the Erciyes University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (No:2020/124 Date:12.02.2020) and administrative permissions from the deans of the relevant faculties were obtained for the research.

The research was completed with the participation of 1080 students studying in the first year of five faculties (the rate of reaching the universe: 72.7%). 320 students who were absent on the day of the study and 85 students who did not agree to participate in the study were excluded from the study.

SPSS version 25 package program was used to analyse the data. The conformity of the data to the normal distribution was examined with the kurtosis-skewness values and histogram, and it was observed that they were normally distributed. Descriptive data were expressed in numbers and percentages. Pearson chisquare was used to compare categorical data, and one-way ANOVA test and T Test were used to compare numerical data. Games-Howell analysis was used in the post hoc analysis since the variances were not homogeneous. The value of p<0.05 was considered significant in statistical analysis.

RESULTS

Of the students, 30.1% were medical students, 60.2% were women, 97.3% were single, 76.4% had spent most of their lives in the city centre, and 50.6% were living with their

families (Table 1). 53.8% of the students expressed their economic status as medium. While 29.5% of the students' mothers were primary school graduates, 22.9% were high school graduates, 22.7% higher education graduates, and 43.1% of the students' fathers were higher education graduates (Table 1). 70.6% of the students' mothers were housewives.

The mean of the students' GRAS scores was 147.7±27.7 (min= 43, max= 190), and it can be said that the students were closer to the egalitarian attitude in general.

Characteristics (n=1080)	n	%	Mean ±SD	
Gender				
Male	430	39.8	137.3±26.8	0 001
Female	650	60.2	154.5±26.2	— p<0.001
Marital status				
Not married	1051	97.3	147.8±27.9	
Married	29	2.7	140.8±19.4	— <i>p=0.066</i>
Longest lived place				
Urban	825	76.4	147.7±28.6	
Rural	255	23.6	147.7±24.9	— <i>p=0.996</i>
Economic status of the family				
Good	459	42.5	148.1±29.1	
Moderate	581	53.8	148.1±26.2	p=0.013
Bad	40	3.7	135.0±31.1	_
Mother's educational status				
Less than high school	588	54.4	144.7±27.3	0 001
High school and more	492	45.6	151.2±27.8	— p<0.001
Father's educational status				
Less than high school	343	31.7	146.2±24.9	
High school and more	737	68.3	148.3±28.9	 p=0.214
Family type				
Nuclear	977	90.5	148.2±27.6	
Not nuclear	91	8.4	141.0±27.1	 p=0.016
The person who makes the decisions in the family				
Only mother or only father	314	29.1	138.8±28.5	
Together	766	70.9	151.3±26.6	 p<0.001
Ŭ				P .01001

Table 1. (countinued) Comparison of students' sociodemographic characteristics and GRAS scores						
Faculty *	n	%				
Medicine ^a	325	30.0	153.1±27.6			
Law ^b	157	15.0	145.4±25.6			
Theology ^c	120	11.0	137.5±20.0			
Communication ^{ab}	162	15.0	148.3±25.1	 p<0.001		
Education ^b	316	29.0	146.7±31.3			
Total	108	0	147.7 ±27.7	_		
T-test was used for dual comparisons, one-way Anovawas used for triple and more comparisons.						

*Different letters indicate significant difference between groups. Games-Howell analysis was used in the post hoc analysis.

Among the socio-economic characteristics, being female,mother's higher education level, and having a nuclear family were associated with higher scale scores,while low economic status and having only the mother or the father as the decision-maker in the family were associated with lower scale scores (Table 1).

There was a significant difference between the students' faculties and GRAS scores. In post hoc tests; it was observed that the students studying in the faculty of theology got lower scale scores than the other students (Table 1).

Although the GRAS scores of the students who answered 'male' to the question 'Which gender would you like your children to have?' were found to be lower, the difference was not significant.While female students stated more often than male students that 'they are afraid of gender inequality', 'they were exposed to gender inequality' and 'there is no gender equality in education in Türkiye', male students stated more often than female students that 'gender is important in career planning'(Table 2).

Table 2. Comparison of the students' answers to genderism questions with their g	enders				
	Gender				
Question	Male* Fe		Fem	emale*	
	n	%	n	%	
		68.6	415	63.8	
Do you think there is gender equality in your own family?		p=0	.107		
Have you received any gender related education? -		30.9	161	24.8	
		p=0.026			
		49.1	263	40.5	
Do you think there is gender equality in education institutions in Türkiye?		p=0.005			
	152	35.3	371	57.1	
Have you been exposed to gender inequality at any point in your life?	p<0.001				
	156	36.3	452	69.5	
Are you afraid of facing gender inequality in your career?		p<0.001			
Do you think gender is important in choosing a career?		61.4	295	45.4	
		p<0.001			
*: 'Yes' answers are shown as numbers and percentages, Chi-square test was used for the analysis					

DISCUSSION

In this study, gender-role attitudes and related factors of first year students studying

in five different faculties of a university were evaluated.

Students' mean GRAS score of was found to be

147.7±27.7 at the study. When compared with similar studies in the literature conducted on university students, it is noteworthy that the students' mean GRAS score was higher^{5, 8,9}. Zeyneloğlu et al. claimed that getting a score of 95 or higher on the scale can be interpreted as an egalitarian attitude⁷. Accordingly, it can be said that the students who receive higher education have egalitarian gender role attitudes.

In the study, female students' GRAS scores were found to be higher than those of male students'. Many studies in the literature support that women's gender perceptions gender-role and attitudes are more egalitarian^{2,8}. The reasons for the difference between gender perceptions and attitudes of women and men may stem from the fact that the roles assigned to men provide them with advantages. Situations such as violence, to which women are exposed, may reactively lead them towards an egalitarian attitude.

No relationship was found between the place where the students lived for the longest time and their gender attitudes in the study (Table 1). There are also studies that reported no relationship between the students' GRAS scores and their place of residence as supported by this very research⁵. The development status and socio-cultural structure of the place where they live are undoubtedly effective on individuals. In this study, because the places students live were not analysed in detail,there might not have been any relationship between the place the students live and their GRAS scores.

In the study, while it was found that the GRAS scores of the students whose mothers had higher education levels were higher, no relationship was found between their fathers'

education level and their GRAS scores (Table 1). Although there were different claims in the literature between the individuals' fathers' education level and their gender-role attitudes, individuals' mothers' having higher education and being employed were usually associated with a more egalitarian gender role attitude^{3,6}. It can be stated that increasing women's education levels and employment rates will contribute to the development of egalitarian gender-role attitudes of individuals.

It has been observed that students with nuclear family structure have a more egalitarian gender role attitude (Table 1). Different results were obtained in different studies comparing family structure and gender role attitudes^{3,6}. The differences of individuals in nuclear family and extended family structures may explain this effect. For example, there are higher rates of employed mothers in nuclear families. Therefore, as mentioned above, mothers' being employed were usually associated with a more egalitarian gender role attitude^{3,6}. In extended families, however, the number of elderly individuals is higher, and as age progresses, the perception of gender attitudes may change. In a study conducted with healthcare professionals, it was observed that those over 35 got higher scores from GRAS, but it should be noted that this study did not include the elderly as it was conducted only on active workers⁸.

In the literature, gender related education has been found to be effective in the development of gender-role attitudes contrary to ours⁶. Ergin et al. found that medical school students who participated in gender related education had more egalitarian gender-role attitudes than those who did not⁶. The fact that gender education was not questioned in terms of content, trainers, methods, etc. in the study may have caused the education to appear ineffective.

In the study, it was observed that the mean GRAS scores of the students with low economic status were lower. However, different results have been reported on this subject in the literature. In addition to studies reporting that middle-income people have the highest mean GRAS scores³, there are also studies reporting that those with lower economic status have higher mean GRAS scores⁵.

It was observed that the mean GRAS scoresof the students who grew up in families where family members made decisions together was higher than thoseof the students who grew up in families where decisions were made by a single parent. This result suggests that family relations and parental behavior models are effective in the development of young people's gender role attitudes.

The mean GRAS score of students studying in medical school was higher than other students (153.1±27.6) (Table 1). In the study by Ergin et al.6 on medical students, the mean GRAS score of the students was 158.7±21.7, similar to our study. Uçar et al.³ found that the GRAS scores of undergraduate students in the field of health were higher than other faculties. It can, therefore, be stated that the gender-role attitudes of those educated in the field of health are more egalitarian. In the study, the mean GRAS score of theology students were found to be significantly lower than those of other faculties (Table 1). As in many areas of social life, the teachings of religion have also taken a great place in the production and reinforcement of the roles of gender. Belonging to different religious belief systems, different interpretations and applications of religious

rules are held responsible for individuals' different perspectives on gender¹⁰. The reinforcing effect of religion on traditional gender stereotypes is controversial in the literature. There are also studies showing that tradition is more effective than religion in maintaining existing gender norms⁹. In addition, there are studies indicating that female students of Theology Faculty are inconsistent and undecided on many issues related to gender and have both traditional and modern approaches¹⁰.

Limitations

The study was conducted in only one university and its results cannot be reflected to all university students. However, the study was conducted on 1080 students from five different faculties and provided the opportunity to compare the gender-role attitudes of university students studying in different faculties.

CONCLUSION

University students had generally egalitarian gender-role attitudes, but the GRAS scores of theology faculty students were lower than the others. Being awoman, having a mother with higher education level and being a member of a nuclear family were associated with a more egalitarian attitudes; nevertheless, low economic level and having a family with only one decision maker (mother or father) were associated with less egalitarian attitudes. Increasing women's education levels and employment rates will contribute to the development of egalitarian gender-role attitudes of individuals. In order to reveal the effect of religion on gender roles more clearly, there is a need for new studies that will enable more detailed analyses to be made.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Financial Support: The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship,and/or publication of this article.

Ethical Declaration: This study is epproved by Erciyes University, Faculty of Medicine, Clinical Researches Ethical Committee(Date: 12.02.2020, Decision no 2020/124).

Author Contribution: Concept: LK, EB, AB, HD, Design: LK, EB, AB, HD, Supervising: LK, EB, AB, HD, Data collection and entry: LK, EB, Analysis and interpretation: LK, EB, AB, HD, Literature search: LK, EB, AB, HD, Writing: LK, AB, HD, Critical review: LK, EB, AB, HD.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bussey K. Gender identity development. Handbook of identity theory and research: Springer; 2011. p. 603-28.
- 2. Öngen B, Aytaç S. Attitudes of university students regarding to gender roles and relationship with life values. Istanbul Journal of Sociological Studies. 2013(48):1-18.

- 3. Uçar T, Derya YA, Karaaslan T, Tunç ÖA. The attitudes of university students regarding gender roles and violent behaviours. Journal of Continuing Medical Education. 2017; 26(3), 96-103
- Anić JR, Spahić Šiljak Z. Secularisation of Religion as the Source of Religious Gender Stereotypes. Feminist Theology. 2020;28(3):264-81.
- Aydın M, Bekar EÖ, Gören ŞY, Sungur M. Attitudes of nursing students regarding to gender roles. Abant İzzet Baysal University Journal of Social Sciences. 2016;16(1):223-42.
- Ergin A, Bekar T, Aydemir A. Attitudes of students of medical faculty to gender roles and affecting factors. Fırat Medical Journal. 2019;24(3):122-8.
- Zeyneloğlu S, Terzioğlu F. Development and psychometric properties gender roles attitude scale. Hacettepe University Journal of Education. 2011;40(40):409-20.
- Esen E, Soylu Y, Siyez DM, Demirgürz G. Investigation of gender perception in university students according to gender role and gender variables. e-International Journal of Educational Research. 2017;8(1):43-63.
- 9. Turan SÜ, Bilgin V. Religion and intra-family roles in the axis of gender. Uludağ University the Review of the Faculty of Theology. 2020;29(2):459-93.
- Kaya A. The understandings of religion and gender of female students of teology faculty (case of Dicle University). Cumhuriyet Theology Journal. 2019;23(3):1349-69.

TECHNICAL NOTE

Future perspectives for strengthening the tobacco industry fight indicators

🝺 Tuğçe Mehlika Şanver 😰 🔟 Dilek Aslan 2

¹MD., Public Health Specialist, Hacettepe University Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye

²MD.,Prof. of Public Health, Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye

Received: 23.08.2023, Accepted: 05.03.2024

Abstract

The tobacco industry, as a "commercial" determinant of health, uses various tactics to increase the number of smokers at the global level. Governments, with the support of the tobacco control community, should focus on reversing the tobacco endgame. Watching out for industry manipulations with objective and well-known tools might be helpful. Although WHO-MPOWER is a frequently used assessment tool to define the tobacco control capacity of the countries, it may not give "objective" messages to assess the situation of tobacco industry interference. On the other hand, the Global Tobacco Industry Interference Index (GTIII) is a better indicator to understand and emphasize the tobacco industry interference. Comparing these two assessment tools might be helpful in deciding which one to use. In this regard, we aimed to compare selected countries' tobacco control status using MPOWER and GTIII indicators. Data from twenty-four countries were included in the study. We found that a country that fully covers the MPOWER criteria can be open to industry interference based on the GTIII values. This discrepancy highlights the need for more comprehensive tools to assess the status of tobacco interference. Besides the current ones, the development of new indicators with a transdisciplinary approach might also be helpful in the tobacco endgame.

Keywords: Tobacco Industry, Tobacco Control, Tobacco, MPOWER, Global Tobacco Industry Interference Index (GTIII), Age-standardized Estimates of Tobacco Use

Correspondence: MD., Public Health Specialist, Tuğçe Mehlika Şanver Hacettepe University Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye. **E-mail:** drtugcesanver@gmail.com, **Phone**: +90 312 305 10 90

Cite This Article: Şanver TM, Aslan D. Future perspectives for strengthening the tobacco industry fight indicators. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1): 120-124

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing*.

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

INTRODUCTION

As a global health threat, the tobacco industry (TI) is known to be a commercial determinant of health¹. The global tobacco control community and the governments have crucial roles in taking preventive actions against TI.

As the World Health Organization (WHO) Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) Article 5.3. targets to eliminate the harms of the TI, watching TI might be helpful to be proactively responsive to the threats. In this regard, we have practical tools which we can use to watch TI. As a strategy tool, the MPOWER document pointed out the importance of TI struggle when developed in 2008.² A more recent tool is the Global Tobacco Industry Interference Index (GTIII).³ It is used to assess the interference level of the TI in tobacco control activities in a country. Somehow, it gives an idea to understand the implementation of the WHO FCTC Article 5.3 capacity of the country. Despite the availability of these tools, various missing points in assessing the TI interference still exist. In this paper, we aimed to discuss the missing points of the current TI interference indicators and to emphasize the need for the development of new indicators for a stronger tobacco industry fight.

METHODS

Items of the MPOWER strategies linked with TI interference and the GTIII values have been used for the selected countries in this study. MPOWER values were included for the years 2007, 2019 and 2020. GTIII ranking was included for 2021 (Table 1). The GTIII was obtained from the "Global Tobacco Industry Interference Index 2021", and the MPOWER scores were obtained from "The Tobacco Atlas" and "World Health Organization, The Global Health Observatory". Also, tobacco consumption values were obtained from "Agestandardized estimates of current tobacco use, tobacco smoking and cigarette smoking data, The Global Health Observatory, World Health Organization .^{3,4,5,6}

MPOWER measures aim to assist in the country-level implementation of effective interventions to reduce tobacco demand contained in the WHO FCTC. The MPOWER measures include six steps: "M"- Monitor tobacco use and prevention policies, "P"-Protect people from tobacco smoke, "O"-Offer help to quit tobacco use, "W"- Warn about dangers of tobacco, "E"- Enforce bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship, and "R"- Raise taxes on tobacco.² Among the six, step "E" is thought to have a strong link with the tobacco industry.

The GTIII shows the interference level of the industry in tobacco control activities. In other words, the indicator is believed to show how a government is "realistic" in the implementation of WHO FCTC Article 5.3. The GTIII 2021 is based on publicly available information on tobacco industry interference in 80 countries and their respective governments' responses to this interference. The lower the index score, the lower the tobacco industry interference level.³

The comparisons have been done by using the data of the countries with the lowest (n=10) and the highest (n=10) GTIII scores in 2021. In addition, data for Brazil and Türkiye, which WHO stated as the only two countries to fully implement all the MPOWER measures at the highest level of success, were also examined. Countries with four big tobacco companies (USA, UK, Japan and China) were included

in the list. In conclusion, 24 countries were evaluated.

FINDINGS

As seen in Table 1, the indicators do not define a clear position for the country to reflect the 'current' situation against TI. For example, Brunei Darussalam (BD) seems to be the best at blocking TI. Nevertheless, the consumption frequency in BD is not the lowest on the list. In France, although the level of industry interference is low and the percentage of compliance with advertising bans is high, the frequency of tobacco consumption is high. The TI interference level is high in both Brazil and Türkiye, which are seen as the most successful countries to implement MPOWER strategies. The Dominican Republic, which has a high level of TI interference and is insufficient to implement the bans on tobacco advertising, promotion, and sponsorship, has one of the lowest frequency of tobacco consumption. Uganda and Palau increased their MPOWER scores. Although MPOWER scores in Türkiye, Argentina, and Georgia increased, three countries still had low GTIII scores.

Table 1. GTIII ranking, compliance with three dimensions of MPOWER including compliance with adv bans, enforce bans on tobacco adv, and tobacco consumption in selected countries.

Country name and	MPOWER components						
GTIII ranking of the country (2021) ³	Compliance with advertising bans (%) ^{4*}	Enforce bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship, 2020 ^{5**}	Enforce bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship, 2007 ^{5**}	Tobacco consumption (%) (WHO, 2019) ⁶			
1.Brunei Darussalam	High	4	4	16.2			
2.New Zealand	High	4	4	14.2			
3.UK	Not available	4	4	16.1			
4.France	High	4	4	33.6			
5.Uganda	Medium	5	2	8.9			
6.Netherlands	High	4	4	22.6			
7.Mongolia	High	5	4	29.6			
8.Kenya	High	5	5	11.5			
9.Iran	High	5	5	14.0			
10. Palau	High	4	2	17.9			
43. Brazil	High	5	4	13.2			
62. Türkiye	Medium	5	2	30.9			
68. China	High	4	4	25.7			
68. USA	Not available	2	2	23.4			
71. Argentina	High	4	2	24.9			
72. Zambia	Not applicable	2	2	14.6			
72. Jordan	Moderate	5	4	34.6			
74. Romania	High	4	4	28.4			
74. Italy	High	4	4	23.3			

countries.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	····, ·	r	
76. Georgia	High	4	2	31.7
77. Indonesia	Not applicable	2	2	37.2
78. Japan	Not applicable	2	2	20.5
79. Switzerland	Medium	2	2	25.7
80. Dominican Republic	Not applicable	2	2	10.9

Table 1. (Continued) GTIII ranking, compliance with three dimensions of MPOWER including compliance with adv bans, enforce bans on tobacco adv, and tobacco consumption in selected countries.

* Data was taken before the site (https://tobaccoatlas.org) was updated.

** 1 = Data not reported, 2 = Complete absence of ban, or ban that does not cover national television (TV), radio and print media, 3 = Ban on national TV, radio and print media only, 4 = Ban on national TV, radio and print media as well as on some but not all other forms of direct and/or indirect advertising, 5 = Ban on all forms of direct and indirect advertising.

In brief, using only these indicators may not give us the opportunity to objectively assess the TI status.

COMMENT

The tobacco industry is almost the major obstacle in achieving tobacco control. Today, very close follow-up and proactive blowback interventions are needed to make the struggle against the TI 'realistic'. Monitoring the trends and invasion levels of the TI can be helpful in this regard. However, the WHO-MPOWER strategy document is basically assessing the tobacco demand side and is almost inefficient in assessing in a comprehensive and permanent approach.

Although WHO-MPOWER strategies have been used for many years to follow up and compare different aspects of tobacco control, it seems, they are not 100% sufficient to reveal the supply needs of tobacco control including interference of the TI. New indicators meeting these missing points are recommended to be developed with the aim of **#endgame**. The Global Tobacco Industry Interference Index is one of the recent tools which has been developed compatible with this aim; however, it does not represent the global situation as only a limited number of countries are included. In this sense, the analysis should be extended to all countries in the world to see the global situation in a more objective manner. Studies on similar subject give important messages. For example, the study of Yuri Lee et al. -which aims to investigate the impact of tobacco industry interference on the implementation and management of tobacco control and the tobacco epidemic using the TIII and MPOWER and adult daily smoking prevalence in 30 countriesemphasizes that national governments and global society should counter tobacco industry interference to protect public health and advance tobacco control policies.7 Additionally, transdisciplinary features⁸ of health (and disease) should be given priority in this long and challenging journey.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Conflict of Interest: None declared.

Financial Support: The authors received no financial support for the research, or authorship of this article.

Ethical Declaration: This study does not involve human participants.

Author Contribution: Concept: TMŞ, DA, Design: TMŞ, DA, Supervising: DA, Data collection and entry: TMŞ, Analysis and interpretation: DA, TMŞ, Literature search: TMŞ, DA, Writing: TMŞ, DA, Critical review: DA, TMŞ.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(1)

REFERENCES

- 1. WHO, Commercial determinants of health. [online] Available at: https://www.who.int/health-topics/ commercial-determinants-of-health#tab=tab_1 Accessed March 3, 2024.
- 2. MPOWER. WHO Report on The Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2008: The MPOWER package. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2008.
- 3. Global Tobacco Index, Global Tobacco Industry Interference Index 2021. Global Center for Good Governance in Tobacco Control [online]. Available at: https://globaltobaccoindex.org Accessed April 5, 2022.
- 4. The Tobacco Atlas [online]. Available at: https://tobaccoatlas.org Accessed April 5, 2022.
- Enforce bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship (Tobacco control). Global Health Observatory. World Heatlh Organization [online]. Available at: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/ indicators/indicator-details/GHO/gho-tobacco-

control-enforce-bans-on-tobacco-advertisingpromotion-and-sponsorship Accessed April 11, 2022.

- Age-standardized estimates of current tobacco use, tobacco smoking and cigarette smoking (Tobacco control: Monitor). Global Health Observatory. World Heatlh Organization [online]. Available at: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/ indicator-details/GHO/gho-tobacco-controlmonitor-current-tobaccouse-tobaccosmokingcigarrettesmoking-agestd-tobagestdcurr Accessed April 6, 2022.
- Lee Y, Kim S, Kim MK, Kawachi I, Oh J. Association between Tobacco Industry Interference Index (TIII) and MPOWER measures and adult daily smoking prevalence rate in 30 countries. Global Health. 2024 Jan 3;20(1):6.
- Aslan D. Can transdisciplinary approaches contribute to the COVID-19 fight? Glob Health Promot 2021 Jun;28(2):72-77. doi: 10.1177/17579759211002376. Epub 2021 Apr 28.